## UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-I	<b>(</b>
----------	----------

## **CURRENT REPORT**

## **PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(D)** OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

	Date	e of report (Date of earliest event reported): June 23, 20	22
		HighPeak Energy, Inc. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)	
	<b>Delaware</b> (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)	001-39464 (Commission File Number)	84-3533602 (IRS Employer Identification No.)
		421 W. 3rd St., Suite 1000 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 (address of principal executive offices) (zip code)	
		(817) 850-9200 (Registrant's telephone number, including area code)	
	ek the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K isions:	is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of	of the registrant under any of the following
	Written communication pursuant to Rule	425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425)	
	Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-1	2 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12)	
	Pre-commencement communications purs	suant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 24	40.14d-2(b))
	Pre-commencements communications pur	rsuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 2	40.13e-4(c))
Secu	rities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of	the Act:	
	Title of Each Class	Trading Symbol(s)	Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
	Common Stock Warrant	HPK HPKEW	The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
	eate by check mark whether the registrant is a ter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange	an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the e Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).	Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this
Eme	rging growth company ⊠		
		k mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended d pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. $\Box$	transition period for complying with any new

### Item 2.01 Completion of Acquisition or Disposition of Assets.

As previously disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on February 22, 2022, HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of HighPeak Energy, Inc. (the "Company" and, together with HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, the "HighPeak Parties") entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "February Purchase Agreement"), dated as of February 15, 2022, with the third party private sellers set forth in the agreements filed herewith (the "Alamo Parties") to acquire various oil and gas properties contiguous to its Flat Top operating area in Howard and Borden Counties, Texas (the "February Acquisition"). On March 25, 2022, the Company completed the February Acquisition, consisting of producing properties, undeveloped acreage, water system infrastructure and in-field fluid gathering pipelines (the "February Assets"), in exchange for a combined purchase price consisting of 6,960,000 shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), valued at closing at \$156.6 million, and \$141,000 in cash, which remains subject to final post-closing settlement between the Company and the Alamo Parties.

Concurrently with the entry into the February Purchase Agreement, the HighPeak Parties entered into that certain Put/Call Agreement with the Alamo Parties, pursuant to which certain members of the Alamo Parties were granted the option to become a party to a purchase and sale agreement and accordingly sell such member's interests in certain additional producing crude oil and natural gas properties in Borden County, Texas (the "Put/Call Agreement" and, together with the February Purchase Agreement, the "February Acquisition Agreements").

Pursuant to, and in connection with, the February Acquisition Agreements, on June 3, 2022, the HighPeak Parties and Alamo Borden County 1, LLC ("Alamo I") entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "June Purchase Agreement" and, together with the February Acquisition Agreements, the "Alamo Acquisition Agreements"), to acquire certain assets of Alamo I, or any affiliate of Alamo I, located in Borden County, Texas (the "June Assets" and, together with the February Assets, the "Alamo Assets") and closed the acquisition (the "June Acquisition" and, together with the February Acquisition, the "Alamo Acquisitions") on June 21, 2022. The consideration for this June Acquisition was 371,517 shares of the Company's Common Stock, valued at closing at \$11.2 million, which remains subject to final post-closing settlement between the Company and Alamo I.

Total consideration is based on the terms of the Alamo Acquisition Agreements, and the combined consideration paid by the Company at both closings consists of 7,331,517 shares of Common Stock with customary closing adjustments totaling \$1.3 million in cash paid to the Company, subject to the post-closing settlements described above.

As it relates to the February Acquisition, the Company determined that it was not required to file the financial statements of the Alamo Parties, under Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X ("Rule 3-05") or pro forma financial information relating to the February Acquisition under Article 11 of Regulation S-X. However, following the closing of the June Acquisition, based on the value of the consideration as of closing, the Company determined that in accordance with Rule 3-05, the Alamo Acquisitions, when taken together as a series of related acquisitions as contemplated by Section 2015.12 of the SEC Staff's Financial Reporting Manual (the "Manual"), constituted the acquisition of a business by the Company that is significant.

The information set forth under Item 9.01(a) and Item 9.01(b) and related exhibits in this Current Report on Form 8-K is incorporated herein by reference.

#### Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits.

## (a) Financial Statements of the Business Acquired.

The unaudited historical revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the three months ended March 31, 2022.

The audited historical consolidated statement of revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the year ended December 31, 2021.

#### (b) Pro Forma Financial Information.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of HighPeak Energy, Inc. as of March 31, 2022, prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on March 31, 2022, excluding the effects of the February Purchase Agreement which closed on March 25, 2022, other than an estimate of post-closing adjustments thereto, the effects of which are already included in HighPeak Energy Inc.'s unaudited historical financial statements as of March 31, 2022 included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations of HighPeak Energy, Inc. for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and for the year ended December 31, 2021, prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on January 1, 2021, and the notes related thereto are filed herewith as Exhibit 99.1 and incorporated by reference herein.

#### (d) Exhibits.

Evhibit

EXHIDIU	
Number	Description of Exhibit
2.1#	Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2022, by and among HighPeak Energy, Inc., HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, Alamo Borden County III, LLC and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC.
2.2#	Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of June 3, 2022, by and among HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC and Alamo Borden County 1, LLC.
2.3#	Put/Call Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2022, by and among HighPeak Energy, Inc. HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC, Alamo Exploration and Production, LLC, Crocket Operating LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, Alamo Borden County III, LLC, Alamo Borden County IV, LLC and the other parties signatory thereto.
23.1*	Consent of Weaver and Tidwell, L.L.P., independent auditors with respect to the audit of the Alamo Assets
99.1*	The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of HighPeak Energy, Inc. as of March 31, 2022, prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on March 31, 2022, excluding the effects of the February Purchase Agreement which closed on March 25, 2022, other than an estimate of post-closing adjustments thereto, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations of HighPeak Energy, Inc. for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and for the year ended December 31, 2021 prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on January 1, 2021, and the notes related thereto.
99.2*	The audited historical consolidated statement of revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the year ended December 31, 2021.
99.3*	The unaudited historical revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the three months ended March 31, 2022.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

<sup>\*</sup> Filed herewith.

# Pursuant to Regulation S-K, Item 601(b)(2), the Exhibits and Schedules to the Purchase Agreement referenced in Exhibit 2.1 above, as listed below, have not been filed. The Registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted Exhibit or Schedule to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Commission") upon request; provided, however, that the Registrant may request confidential treatment of omitted items.

Further, certain portions of these exhibits have been omitted and include a prominent statement on the first page that certain identified information has been excluded from the exhibit because it is both (i) not material and (ii) is the type that the registrant treats as private or confidential as required by Item 601(b)(2)(ii) of Regulation S-K. Information that was omitted has been noted in the exhibit with a placeholder identified by the mark "[\*\*\*]" and a prominent statement is included

# **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

# HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC.

Date: June 23, 2022

By: /s/ Steven W. Tholen Name: Steven W. Tholen Title: Chief Financial Officer

4

**Execution Version** 

SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND ARE THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. THESE REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT WITH THREE ASTERISKS [\*\*\*].

PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY II, LLC,

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC,

AND

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC,

collectively, as Seller

HIGHPEAK ENERGY ASSETS, LLC as Buyer

AND

HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. as HighPeak

Dated February 15, 2022

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		1 age
ARTICLE I	I. DEFINITIONS	1
1.1	Definitions	1
ARTICLE I	II. SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ASSETS	10
2.1		10
2.1 2.2	Acquired Assets	10
	Excluded Assets	12
2.3	Assumed and Retained Liabilities	13
2.4	"As Is, Where Is" Purchase	14
ARTICLE I	III. PURCHASE PRICE	14
3.1	Deposit	14
3.2	Purchase Price	15
3.3	Adjustments to the Base Purchase Price	15
3.4	Allocation	17
3.5	Tax Allocation	17
Article IV. (	CLOSING	17
4.1	Closing	17
4.2	Deliveries by Seller	18
4.3	Deliveries by Buyer	19
4.4	Further Cooperation	20
ARTICI E V	V. PURCHASE PRICE ADJUSTMENTS	20
THEFTELL	V. I OROHNOL I RICE ADJOUTHER TO	20
5.1	Closing Adjustments	20
5.2	Post-Closing Adjustments	20
5.3	Suspended Funds	21
5.4	Audit Adjustments	21
5.5	Asset Taxes and Tax Returns	21
5.6	Cooperation	23
5.7	Harmonia Assets	23
ARTICLE V	VI. DUE DILIGENCE; TITLE MATTERS	23
6.1	General Access	23
6.2	Seller's Title	23
6.3	Defensible Title	24
6.4	Defect Letters	24
6.5	Rights and Remedies for Title Defects	27
0.3	rights and remedies for thie Defects	21
	i	

ARTICLE	E VII. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT	29
		••
7.1	<b>y</b>	29
7.2		30
7.3		31
7.4	4 Rights and Remedies for Environmental Defects	33
A DTICL I	E VIII. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER	34
AKTICLI	E VIII. REFRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER	34
8.1	1 Status of Formation	34
8.2		34
8.3	•	34
8.4		35
8.5	•	35
8.6		36
8.7		36
8.8		36
8.9		37
8.1		37
8.1	-	37
8.1		37
8.1	*	37
8.1		37
8.1	, ,	37
8.1		38
8.1		38
8.1		38
8.1		38
8.2		38
8.2		39
8.2		39
8.2		39
8.2		39
8.2		39
8.2		40
8.2		41
ARTICLE	E IX. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER PARTIES	41
9.1		41
9.2		41
9.3	3 Validity of Obligations	42
9.4		42
9.5		42
9.6		42
9.7		42
9.8	8 Broker's Fees	42

9.9	Capitalization of HighPeak	42
9.10	Nasdaq Listing	43
9.11	SEC Filings	43
9.12	Securities Laws	44
9.13	Controls and Procedures	44
9.14	Absence of Certain Changes	45
9.15	Form S-3	45
ARTICLE X	. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER	45
10.1	Maintenance of Assets	45
10.2	Transfer Orders	46
10.3	Preferential Rights	46
10.4	Specified Operations	47
10.5	Leasing Operations	47
10.6	Records and Contracts	47
10.7	Delivery of Assets	47
10.8	Delivery of Lease Assignments	48
10.9	Reserved.	48
10.10		48
10.11	Successor Operator	48
10.12		48
10.13		48
10.14		49
10.15	Seller Agreements	49
ADTICLEV	I CEDTAIN ACDEEMENTS OF DUVED	50
ARTICLE X	I. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER	30
11.1	Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees	50
11.1	Seller's Logos	50
11.3	Transfer Orders	50
11.3	Delivery of Lease Assignments	50
11.5	Cooperation	50
11.6	Notification of Breaches	51
11.7	Buyer Note	51
11.,	2 u j v 1 1 1 0 v 2	
ARTICLE X	II. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER	51
12.1	Representations and Warranties; Covenants	51
12.2	No Litigation	52
12.3	Governmental Consents	52
12.4	Deliveries	52
12.5	Impairments	52
ARTICLE X	III. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER	52
13.1	Representations and Warranties; Covenants	52
13.2	No Litigation	52

13.3	Governmental Consents	53
13.4	Deliveries	53
13.5	Impairments	53
13.6	Nasdaq Listing	53
ARTICLE XIV	7. TERMINATION	53
14.1	Causes of Termination	53
14.2	Effect of Termination	54
ARTICLE XV.	INDEMNIFICATION	55
15.1	Indemnification by Seller	55
15.2	Limitations	55
15.3	Indemnification by Buyer	57
15.4	Physical Inspection	57
15.5	Notification	58
15.6	Post-Closing Escrow	58
ARTICLE XV	I. MISCELLANEOUS	59
16.1	Casualty Loss	59
16.2	Confidentiality	60
16.3	Notice	60
16.4	Press Releases and Public Announcements	61
16.5	Governing Law	61
16.6	Schedules and Exhibits	61
16.7	Financial Statement Information	62
16.8	Expenses, Taxes and Recording	63
16.9	HighPeak Change of Control	64
16.10	Assignment	64
16.11	Entire Agreement; No Reliance	64
16.12	Severability	64
16.13		
	Captions	64
16.14	Captions Disclaimers Conspicuous	64 64
16.14 16.15	Captions Disclaimers Conspicuous Certain Interpretive Matters	64 64 65
16.14 16.15 16.16	Captions Disclaimers Conspicuous Certain Interpretive Matters Counterpart Execution	64 64 65 65
16.14 16.15 16.16 16.17	Captions Disclaimers Conspicuous Certain Interpretive Matters Counterpart Execution Waiver of Certain Damages	64 64 65 65 65
16.14 16.15 16.16	Captions Disclaimers Conspicuous Certain Interpretive Matters Counterpart Execution	64 64 65 65

# INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

Affiliate	1
Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold	33
Aggregate Title Defect Threshold	26
Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment	60
Agreement	1
Allocated Value	17
Allocated Values	17
Allocation	17
Asset Tax	1
Assets	10
Assigned Area	2
Assignment and Bill of Sale	2
Assumed Environmental Liabilities	2
Assumed Liabilities	2
Base Purchase Price	15
Business Day	2
Buyer	1
Buyer Group	56
Buyer Note	53
Buyer Parties	43
Bylaws	44
Cash Purchase Price	15
Casualty Loss	61
Certificate of Incorporation	44
Certificate of Non-Foreign Status	2
Change of Control	66
Claim	2
Closing	17
Closing Adjustment Statement	20
Closing Date	17
Closing Escrow Agreement	9
Code	2
Common Stock	44
Confidential Information	62
Confidentiality Agreement	2
Contracts	11
Crockett	2
Defect Notice Deadline	26
Defensible Title	24
Deposit	14
Drop Dead Date	17
DSU	3
Effective Time	3

v

Environment	3
Environmental Assessment	31
Environmental Condition	3
Environmental Consultant	33
Environmental Defect	3
Environmental Defect Notice	32
Environmental Defect Property	32
Environmental Defect Value	32
Environmental Disputes	33
Environmental Laws	3
Equipment	11
Escrow Agent	9
Escrow Agreement	15
Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds	3
Exchange Act	45
Excluded Assets	12
Governmental Authority	4
Harmonia Assets	30
Hazardous Material	4
HighPeak	1
HighPeak Preferred Stock	44
Hydrocarbons	4
Imbalance	4
Income Taxes	4
Indemnified Party	59
Indemnifying Party	59
Indemnity Deductible	58
Individual Claim Threshold	58
Individual Environmental Defect Threshold	32
Individual Title Defect Threshold	26
Knowledge of Seller	4
Law	4
Leases	10
Leasing Operations	49
Leasing Operations Reimbursement	49
Liability	4
Loss	5
Lowest Cost Response	5
Material Adverse Effect	5
Material Contracts	36
Nasdaq	10
Net Acre	24
Net Revenue Interest	24

Non-Competition Agreement	5
NORM	31
Order	5
Over-Produced	39
Parties	1
Party	1
Paying Party	22
Permit	6
Permitted Encumbrances	6
Person	7
Post-Closing Adjustment Statement	20
Post-Closing Escrow	19
Preferential Rights	48
Proceeding Proceeding	7
Put/Call Option Agreement	7
Records	12
Reference Price	7
Registrable Securities	7
Registration Statement	8
Reimbursing Party	22
Related Agreements	14
Related Assets	11
Release	8
Remediate  Remediate	8
Requisite Financial Statement Information	64
Restriction	8
Retained Harmonia Liabilities  Pretries de la liabilities	8
Retained Liabilities	14
Rule 144	51
SEC STATE OF THE PROPERTY OF T	45
SEC Filings	45
Securities Act	19
Seller Designee	67
Seller Group	59
Seller Tax Liabilities	8
Seller's Environmental Response	33
Side Letter Agreement	8
Special Warranty Specified Environmental Liabilities	24 9
Stock Consideration	15
Straddle Period	22
Subject Formations	9
Survival Period	57
Suspense Funds	39
Target Closing Date	17
Tax	9
Tax Return	9
Taxes	9
Title Consultant	28
Title Defect	9
Title Defect Notice	26
Title Defect Property	27
Title Defect Value	29
Transfer Agent	15
Transfer Taxes	65
Under-Produced	39
Units	10
VWAP	9
Wells	10
Working Interest	25
HORRING INCOCOL	23

### **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A (Assignment and Bill of Sale)

Exhibit B (Certificate of Non-Foreign Status)

Exhibit C (Non-Competition Agreement)

Exhibit D (Assigned Area)

Exhibit E (Form of Buyer Note)

Exhibit F (Side Letter Agreement)

### **SCHEDULES**

Schedule 2.1(a)-1 (Leases)

Schedule 2.1(a)-2 (Wells)

Schedule 2.1(a)-3 (DSUs)

Schedule 2.1(c) (Contracts)

Schedule 2.1(j) (Geophysical and Seismic Data)

Schedule 2.2 (Excluded Assets)

Schedule 2.3 (Retained Liabilities)

Schedule 3.4 (Allocation)

Schedule 6.3 (Harmonia Assets)

Schedule 6.4 (Title Defects)

Schedule 8.4 (Authorization for Expenditures)

Schedule 8.6 (Litigation)

Schedule 8.7 (Permits)

Schedule 8.8 (Taxes)

Schedule 8.9 (Environmental Matters)

Schedule 8.10 (Preferential Purchase Rights)

Schedule 8.11 (Consents)

Schedule 8.15 (Compliance with Laws)

Schedule 8.16 (Production Imbalances)

Schedule 8.17 (Certain Financial Obligations)

Schedule 8.18 (Wells)

Schedule 8.19 (Bonds)

Schedule 10.1 (Maintenance of Assets)

Schedule 10.4 (Specified Operations)

Schedule 10.5 (Leasing Operations)

#### PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into this 15th day of February, 2022 (the "Execution Date"), by and among Alamo Borden County II, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo II"), Alamo Borden County III, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo IV," and together with Alamo II, Alamo III, collectively, "Seller"), HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), and HighPeak Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("HighPeak"). Buyer and Seller are together referred to herein as the "Parties" and sometimes individually referred to as a "Party."

#### RECITALS:

- A. Seller desires to sell to Buyer certain oil, gas and mineral properties and other assets on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
- B. Buyer desires to purchase from Seller such assets on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual agreements contained in this Agreement, Buyer and Seller agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE I.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

- 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere herein, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to them below when used herein with initial capital letters:
- (a) "Affiliate" means any Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, another Person. The term "control" and its derivatives with respect to any Person means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
  - (b) "Alamo I" means Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.
  - (c) "Alamo II" has the meaning set forth in the preamble of this Agreement.
  - (d) "Alamo III" has the meaning set forth in the preamble of this Agreement.
  - (e) "Alamo IV" has the meaning set forth in the preamble of this Agreement.
- (f) "Asset Tax" means ad valorem, property, excise, severance, production, sales, use, or similar Taxes based upon the operation or ownership of the Assets or the production of Hydrocarbons therefrom or the receipt of proceeds therefrom; but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Income Taxes and Transfer Taxes.

- (g) "Assigned Area" means the lands described on Exhibit D.
- (h) "Assignment and Bill of Sale" means the Assignment and Bill of Sale, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, effecting the sale, transfer, conveyance and assignment of the Assets to Buyer.
- (i) "Assumed Environmental Liabilities" means any and all Claims, Losses, and Liabilities (including any damage to, or destruction or loss or diminution in value of any property, and any costs and expenses for the modification, repair, or replacement of any facilities on the lands covered by the Leases), other than the Specified Environmental Liabilities and subject to Seller's indemnity obligations under Section 15.1 (further subject to the limitations and restrictions in Article XV), arising out of or relating to the Assets, the condition, ownership, maintenance, or use of the Assets, or operations on or with respect to the Assets, by any Person, whether before, on or after the Effective Time, to the extent: (i) arising under any past, present, or future Environmental Law or any Permit issued under any past, present, or future Environmental Law or other Law, including any violation, breach, or noncompliance with any Environmental Law or with any such Permit; (ii) arising out of or relating to the assessment, clean-up, removal, or other remediation of any Hazardous Material or other waste or materials of any kind that are subject to regulation under any Environmental Law; or (iii) arising out of or relating to any Release of Hazardous Materials or other contamination or pollution of the Environment.
- (j) "Assumed Liabilities" means all Claims, Losses, Proceedings and Liabilities (known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due) with regard to, in respect of, arising out of or attributable to the Assets, including those relating to the condition, ownership, operation, maintenance, or use of the Assets, or operations on or with respect to the Assets, whether before, on or after the Effective Time, including the Assumed Environmental Liabilities, but excluding in all cases the Retained Liabilities and subject to Seller's indemnity obligations under Section 15.1.
  - (k) "Business Day" means each calendar day except Saturdays, Sundays, and federal holidays.
- (1) "Certificate of Non-Foreign Status" means either (i) a certificate substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, or (ii) a validly executed IRS Form W-9.
- (m) "Claim" means any notice, claim, demand, allegation, cause of action, chose in action, or other communication alleging or asserting Liability or seeking contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, or compensation for Losses or injunctive or other equitable relief.
  - (n) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (o) "Confidentiality Agreement" means the Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement dated November 23, 2022 by and among Crockett, Alamo I, Alamo II, Alamo IV, Alamo Exploration & Production, LLC and HighPeak.
  - (p) "Crockett" means Crockett Operating, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.

- (q) "Deposit Escrow Agent" means UMB Bank, N.A., a national banking association.
- (r) "**DSU**" means a hypothetical drilling, spacing or pooled unit in the Subject Formations formed by combining the Leases and Units, or portions thereof, included within the lands described on <u>Schedule 2.1(a)-3</u> with respect to each DSU.
  - (s) "Effective Time" means 12:00 a.m. (Central Time) on January 1, 2022.
- (t) "Environment" means soil, land surface, or subsurface strata, surface waters, groundwaters, wetlands, stream sediments, ambient and other air, atmosphere, plant and animal life, or other environmental medium or natural resource.
- (u) "Environmental Condition" means any event occurring or condition existing with respect to the Assets that causes an Asset to be subject to remediation under, in violation of, or fail to meet objective requirements or standards under any applicable Environmental Law. For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that a Well is no longer capable of producing sufficient quantities of oil or gas to continue to be classified as a "producing" well or that such a Well should be temporarily abandoned or permanently plugged and abandoned shall not solely form the basis of an Environmental Condition unless such Well is not scheduled on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4.
- (v) "Environmental Defect" means an Environmental Condition discovered by Buyer or its representatives as a result of any environmental diligence conducted by or on behalf of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.
- (w) "Environmental Laws" means any applicable Law in effect at or prior to the Closing Date relating to: (i) protection of human or workplace health and safety (to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials); (ii) pollution or protection of the Environment; (iii) Remediation or prevention of Releases of Hazardous Materials; or (iv) the presence, use, manufacture, production, generation, handling, treatment, recycling, storage, disposal, transportation, distribution, importing, labeling, testing, processing, Release, cleanup or control of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act (to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials), the Oil Pollution Act, the Endangered Species Act, the National Environmental Policy Act, any analogous state or local Laws, and all regulations promulgated pursuant to any of the foregoing. The term "Environmental Law" does not include prudent, good or desirable operating practices, policies, statements or standards that may be voluntarily employed or adopted by other oil and gas well operators or recommended, but not required, by a Governmental Authority.
- (x) "Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds" means the proceeds in excess of \$[\*\*\*] from the sale for cash consideration by Seller or any of its Affiliates to any non-affiliated Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to either this Agreement or the Put/Call Agreement.

- (y) "Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local, tribal, or foreign government, court of competent jurisdiction, administrative or regulatory body, agency, bureau, commission, governing body of any national securities exchange, or other governmental authority or instrumentality in any domestic or foreign jurisdiction, and any appropriate division of any of the foregoing.
- (z) "Hazardous Material" means any: (i) petroleum or any fraction thereof, waste oil, crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, asbestos or asbestos-containing material, radon, toxic mold, urea formaldehyde, per- or polyfluoroalkyl substance, or polychlorinated biphenyls; (ii) substance, material or waste that is explosive or radioactive, or a "hazardous material," "hazardous substance," "pollutant," "contaminant," "solid waste," "hazardous waste," "regulated substance," "toxic waste," or "toxic substance" as designated, listed, or defined in any Environmental Law (including CERCLA and any other so called "superfund" or "superlien" Law and the respective regulations promulgated thereunder); or (iii) other substance, material or waste that is regulated by, or for which liability or standards of conduct may be imposed under, any Environmental Law.
- (aa) "Hydrocarbons" means crude oil, natural gas, casinghead gas, condensate, sulphur, natural gas liquids, plant products, and other liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons produced in association with the foregoing, including coalbed methane and gas and CO<sup>2</sup>.
- (bb) "Imbalance" means any Hydrocarbon production imbalance existing as of the Effective Time with respect to any of the Assets, together with any related rights or obligations as to future cash and/or gas or product balancing, as a result of, in the case of production imbalances, Seller having taken and sold for its account cumulative production which is greater or less than Seller's share in cumulative production.
  - (cc) "Income Taxes" means any income, franchise, capital gains and similar Taxes.
  - (dd) "Knowledge of Seller" means the actual knowledge of [\*\*\*], without any duty or obligation of investigation.
- (ee) "Law" means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, tribal, or other law, statute, legislation, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, proclamation, treaty, convention, rule, regulation, or Order, whether legislative, municipal, administrative, or judicial in nature, enacted, adopted, passed, promulgated, made, or put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority (including Environmental Laws).
- (ff) "Liability" means, with respect to any Person, any indebtedness or other liability or obligation of such Person of any kind, nature, character or description, whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, in contract, tort, strict liability, or otherwise, including all costs and expenses relating to the foregoing.

- (gg) "Loss" means, subject to Section 16.16, any actual loss, damage, injury, Liability, fine, sanction, penalty, charge, fee, cost (including costs incurred in settlement of any Proceeding), or expense (including any legal fees, expert fees, accounting fees, or advisory fees) of any kind or character.
- (hh) "Lowest Cost Response" means, with respect to an alleged Environmental Defect, the most cost-effective and reasonable Remediation (considered as a whole) required under Environmental Laws to cure such Environmental Defect. The Lowest Cost Response shall include taking no action, leaving the condition unaddressed, periodic monitoring or the recording of notices in lieu of remediation, if such responses are allowed under Environmental Laws and allow for the continued safe and prudent operation of the affected Assets. The Lowest Cost response shall not include (i) the costs of either Buyer's employees, (ii) overhead costs of Buyer incurred in the ordinary course of business, or (iii) any costs or expenses relating to the assessment, remediation, removal, abatement, transportation and disposal of any asbestos, asbestos-containing materials, or NORM, unless such actions are currently required to be taken under applicable Environmental Law.
- (ii) "Material Adverse Effect" means any change, effect or circumstance that, individually or when taken together with all other such changes, effects or circumstances is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the value of the Assets or the ownership or operation thereof; provided, however, that "Material Adverse Effect" shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, in and of itself, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or political conditions affecting the U.S. economy as a whole; (ii) any changes in financial, banking, securities or commodities markets in general, including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index or any change in prevailing interest rates; (iii) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism upon the United States, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (iv) any action expressly required by this Agreement or any action taken (or omitted to be taken) at the written request of Buyer; (v) any changes in applicable Laws or accounting rules or the enforcement, implementation or interpretation of such Laws or rules; (vi) any natural or man-made disaster or acts of God; (vii) any failure by Seller to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded); (viii) the announcement or other disclosure of the transactions to be consummated under, or as referenced in, this Agreement; or (ix) the outbreak or continuation of any disease or epidemic (including COVID-19); provided, further, however, that any change, effect or circumstance (excluding the foregoing clauses (i)-(ix)) that, individually or when taken together with all other changes, effects or circumstances is or is reasonably likely to result in Claims, Losses, Proceedings or Liabilities (or a reduction in value to Assets) in excess of [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purch
  - (jj) "Non-Competition Agreement" means the Non-Competition Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
- (kk) "Order" means any order, judgment, injunction, edict, decree, ruling, assessment, stipulation, pronouncement, determination, decision, opinion, verdict, sentence, subpoena, writ or award issued, made, entered, rendered, or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any court or other Governmental Authority or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

- (ll) "Permit" means any permit, license, certificate of authority, franchise, concession, registration, or similar qualification or authorization issued, granted, or given by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority.
- (mm) "Permitted Encumbrances" means any one or more of the following described below or created or described in documents described below:
- (i) any Preferential Rights, consents to assignment and similar agreements and which are set forth on <u>Schedule 8.10</u> or <u>Schedule 8.11</u>, as applicable; <u>provided</u> that Seller shall have complied with <u>Section 8.10</u> and <u>Section 8.11</u>;
- (ii) Materialman's, mechanic's, repairman's, employee's, contractor's, operator's and other similar liens or charges arising in the ordinary course of business for obligations that are not delinquent or that will be paid and discharged in the ordinary course of business or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith by appropriate action;
- (iii) All rights to consent by, required notices to, filings with, or other actions by any Governmental Authority in connection with the sale or conveyance of oil and gas leases or interests therein, if the same are customarily sought and received after the Closing;
- (iv) Easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, Permits, surface leases and other similar rights in respect of surface operations that do not materially interfere with the oil and gas operations currently conducted on any Lease;
- (v) Liens arising under the Leases, Units, Contracts, operating agreements, unitization and pooling agreements and production sales contracts securing amounts not yet due or delinquent;
- (vi) Conventional rights of reassignment upon the cessation of Hydrocarbon production in paying quantities or operations that have not been triggered;
- (vii) Delay or failure of any Governmental Authority to approve any assignment or transfer of any Lease to Seller or any predecessor in title to Seller, unless such approval has been expressly denied or rejected in writing by such Governmental Authority;
- (viii) Liens and encumbrances for Asset Taxes and other Taxes not yet due or not yet delinquent, or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith in the ordinary course of business and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP;
- (ix) All rights reserved to or vested in any Governmental Authority to control or regulate any of the Assets in any manner, and all applicable laws, rules and orders of any Governmental Authority;
  - (x) Any defects, burdens or irregularities which are based solely on a lack of information in Seller's files;
  - (xi) Imbalances;

- (xii) Royalties and any overriding royalties, net profits interests, free gas arrangements, production payments, reversionary interests, and other similar burdens on production to the extent that the net cumulative effect of such burdens does not reduce Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to the Subject Formation for any Lease or Well below that shown in Schedule 2.1(a)-1 for such Lease or Schedule 2.1(a)-2 for such Well, as applicable, or increase Seller's Net Acres (due to an increased Working Interest) with respect to the Subject Formation in any Lease or Working Interest in any Well above that shown in Schedule 2.1(a)-1 for such Lease or Schedule 2.1(a)-2 for such Well, as applicable, without, in each case, a proportionate increase in the Net Revenue Interest of Seller with respect to the Subject Formation of the applicable Lease or Well;
  - (xiii) Minor defects in title [\*\*\*]; and
- (xiv) Defects based solely on a gap in Seller's chain of title in the state's records as to state leases, or in the county records as to other leases, unless such gap is affirmatively shown to exist in such records by an abstract of title, title opinion, or landman's title chain or runsheet, which documents shall be included in a Title Defect Notice.
- (nn) "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity.
- (oo) "Proceeding" means any action, proceeding, litigation, suit, or arbitration (whether civil, criminal, administrative, or judicial in nature) commenced, brought, conducted, or heard before any Governmental Authority, arbitrator or arbitration panel.
- (pp) "Put/Call Agreement" means the Put/Call Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, by and among the Parties, Alamo I, Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, Alamo Exploration and Production, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, Crockett Operating LLC, a Texas limited liability company, Roger J. Sikes, Joe McKie, and Jeffrey E. Hansen.
  - (qq) "Reference Price" means \$[\*\*\*] per share of Common Stock.
- (rr) "Registrable Securities" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration and any other equity security of HighPeak issued or issuable with respect to the such shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration by way of share split, dividend, distribution, recapitalization, merger, exchange, replacement or similar event or otherwise, *less* any shares of Common Stock included in the Post-Closing Escrow. As to any particular Registrable Securities, once issued, such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when (A) a Registration Statement with respect to the sale of such securities shall have become effective under the Securities Act and such securities shall have been sold, transferred, disposed of or exchanged in accordance with such Registration Statement; (B) such securities shall have been otherwise transferred, new certificates for such securities not bearing a legend restricting further transfer shall have been delivered by HighPeak and subsequent public distribution of such securities shall not require registration under the Securities Act; (C) such securities shall have ceased to be outstanding; (D) such securities may be sold without registration pursuant to Rule 144 (and without limitation on the amount of securities sold or the manner of sale and without the requirement for HighPeak to be in compliance with the current public information required under Rule 144(c)(1) or Rule 144(i)(2), if applicable); or (E) such securities have been sold to, or through, a broker, dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or other public securities transaction.

- (ss) "Registration Statement" means any registration statement of HighPeak filed or to be filed with the SEC under the Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.
- (tt) "Release" means any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, dumping, emptying, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, escaping, leaching, or migration on or into the Environment.
- (uu) "Remediate" (and its derivatives) means, with respect to any Environmental Condition, the implementation and completion of any remedial, removal or other corrective actions to control, correct or resolve such Environmental Condition to the degree sufficient that such Environmental Condition no longer constitutes an Environmental Defect.
- (vv) "Restriction" means, with respect to an instrument constituting or binding upon an Asset that contains a third-party right to consent to the conveyance of the applicable Asset or otherwise to the transactions contemplated hereby, (i) a provision within such instrument expressly stating that such consent may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the holder; or (ii) a provision within such instrument expressly stating that an assignment in violation of such consent right (a) is void, voidable, invalid, or unenforceable, (b) triggers (or provides the holder the right to impose with respect to the assignment) the payment of money, the posting of collateral security, or the performance of other obligations by the assignee that would not be required in the absence of such assignment, or (c) causes termination of (or a right of the consent holder to terminate) the applicable Assets to be assigned. For the avoidance of doubt, "Restriction" does not include any consent right, which by its express terms, cannot be unreasonably withheld, provided, however, that such consent is not withheld by the holder of such consent right.
- (ww) "Retained Harmonia Liabilities" means, solely with respect to any part of the Harmonia Assets that are not conveyed to Buyer at the initial Closing pursuant to the terms hereof, for the period beginning on [\*\*\*] and ending on [\*\*\*].
- (xx) "Seller Tax Liabilities" means (i) Income Taxes of Seller, and of its Affiliates or any of its direct or indirect owners; (ii) Liabilities for Asset Taxes allocated to Seller pursuant to Section 5.5 (taking into account, and without duplication of, such Asset Taxes effectively borne by Seller as a result of (A) the adjustments to the Base Purchase Price made pursuant to Section 3.3, as applicable, and (B) any payments made from one Party to the other in respect of Asset Taxes pursuant to Section 5.5(b); (iii) Transfer Taxes, if any; and (iv) Taxes attributable to the Excluded Assets.
  - (yy) "Side Letter Agreement" means the Side Letter Agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F.

- (zz) "Specified Environmental Liabilities" means any fines or penalties or criminal sanctions under applicable Environmental Law(s) assessed by any Governmental Authority against Seller or its Affiliates and attributable to Seller's ownership or operation of the Assets prior to the Closing.
  - (aaa) "Stock Escrow Agent" means Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation.
- (bbb) "Stock Escrow Agreement" means an escrow agreement to be executed at Closing pertaining to the Post-Closing Escrow by and among Seller, Buyer, HighPeak, and the Stock Escrow Agent.

#### (ccc) "Subject Formations" means:

- (i) For each Well, the currently producing formation of such Well; and
- (ii) For each Lease and/or DSU, the depths and formations specifically from the stratigraphic equivalent [\*\*\*] in the Boedecker #6 well (API No. 42033006430000) at [\*\*\*] TVD through the stratigraphic equivalent of the [\*\*\*] TVD, as shown on the Gamma Ray/Resistivity log.
- (ddd) "Tax" or "Taxes" means any federal, state, local or tribal, income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Section 59A of the Code), custom duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar excises), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.
- (eee) "Tax Return" means any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule, notice, form, election, estimated Tax filing, claim for refund, or other document (including any attachments thereto and amendments thereof) filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Authority with respect to any Tax.
- (fff) "Title Defect" means any lien, charge, encumbrance, obligation, defect, or other similar matter that, if not cured, causes Seller not to have Defensible Title in and to the Leases, Wells and DSUs, as applicable, as of the Closing Date.
- (ggg) "VWAP" means the volume weighted average share price of shares of Common Stock traded on the Nasdaq Global Market (the "Nasdaq") (as reported by Bloomberg L.P. under the function "VWAP"), or any other national securities exchange on which the shares of Common Stock are then traded, for the [\*\*\*] consecutive trading Business Days ending on and including the first trading Business Day immediately preceding the date of the applicable determination of value.

#### ARTICLE II.

#### SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ASSETS

- 2.1 <u>Acquired Assets</u>. On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, upon and subject to the Closing, Seller agrees to sell, convey and deliver to Buyer, and to cause any Affiliate of Seller to sell, convey and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer agrees to purchase and acquire from Seller or any Affiliate of Seller, all of Seller's or Seller's Affiliate's (expressly excluding Alamo I and Cogburn Holdings, LLC) right, title and interest in and to the following (less and except the Excluded Assets, collectively, the "Assets"):
- (a) (i) All of the oil and gas leases, top leases, and lease option agreements listed on Schedule 2.1(a) or otherwise located in the Assigned Area, together with any other oil and gas leases, top leases, and lease option agreements located, in whole or in part, within any DSU, whether producing or non-producing, together with all leasehold estates created thereby (the "Leases"); (ii) any and all Hydrocarbon, water, CO2, disposal, injection or other wells located on or attributable to the Leases including those set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4 (the "Wells"); (iii) all easements, rights of way, and other rights, privileges, benefits and powers with respect to the use and occupation of the surface of, and the subsurface depths under, the land covered by the Leases or the lands used in the operation thereof; and (iv) all rights and interests in respect of any pooled or unitized acreage located in whole or in part within each Lease (including the hypothetical pooled units comprised of the lands described on Schedule 2.1(a)-3), including all Hydrocarbon production from the pool or unit allocated to any such Lease at and after the Effective Time and all interests in any wells within the unit or pool associated with such Lease (the "Units"), regardless of whether such unit or pool production comes from wells or DSUs located within or without the Leases;
- (b) All of the Hydrocarbons in and under the Leases and the Units or produced from the Wells or that is otherwise attributable thereto, in each case, at and after the Effective Time;
- (c) All licenses, servitudes, gas purchase and sale contracts (including interests and rights, if any, with respect to any prepayments, take-or-pay, buydown and buyout agreements) to the extent that the same pertain or relate to periods after the Effective Time, production sales contracts, farmin agreements, farmout agreements, bottom hole agreements, acreage contribution agreements, operating agreements, unit agreements, processing agreements, salt water disposal agreements, water injection agreements, water use agreements, well service agreements, gas balancing agreements, transportation agreements, rights-of-way and other contracts, agreements and rights which are owned or held by Seller or to which Seller is a party, in whole or in part, and are appurtenant or relate to any Lease, Well or Unit (collectively, the "Contracts"), including but not limited to those set forth on Schedule 2.1(c);
- (d) Except to the extent described on Schedule 2.2, all of the real, personal and mixed property and facilities located in or on the Leases which is owned by Seller, in whole or in part, including surface and subsurface well equipment; casing; tanks; tank batteries; dehydration facilities; crude oil, natural gas, condensate or products in storage severed after the Effective Time; tubing; compressors; pumps; motors; valves; meters; separators; fixtures; machinery and other equipment, including field maintenance and communications systems related to the Leases and owned by Seller; SCADA system assets; temporary office buildings and the contents thereof; pipelines; gathering lines; field processing equipment; inventory and all other improvements used in the operation thereof (the "Related Assets");

- (e) To the extent assignable, transferrable or re-issuable by Seller (with consent, if applicable, but without the payment of any fee unless Buyer agrees in writing to pay such fee), all Permits, as well as any applications for the same, related to the Assets or the use or operation thereof;
- (f) All water rights including but not limited to water systems, wells, springs, lakes, streams, ponds, rivers, ditches, ditch rights and the like, if any, related to the Assets or the use of operation thereof;
- (g) All surface fee interests, easements, permits, licenses, servitudes, rights of way, surface leases, surface and subsurface use agreements, and other rights to use the surface estate, in each case to the extent appurtenant to and used or held primarily for use in connection with the ownership or operation of the Leases, Wells, or Units;
- (h) all equipment, machinery, fixtures, and other tangible personal property and improvements located on, or used or held for use in connection with, the Assets except the Excluded Assets (the "**Equipment**");
- (i) Except to the extent described on <u>Schedule 2.2</u>, all inventory, vehicles, office leases, buildings, warehouses, yards, radio towers, radio licenses, radio equipment, furniture, office equipment, computers and related peripheral equipment located in such facilities, in each case to the extent appurtenant to and used or held primarily for use in connection with the ownership or operation of the Leases, Wells, or Units;
- (j) Copies of all of Seller's files, records, data and electronically stored information relating to the items described in subsections (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (g), and (i) above or the Leasing Operations, including title records (title opinions, division order title opinions and any title curative documents); surveys, maps and drawings; contracts; correspondence; geological records and information; production records, electric logs, core data, pressure data, decline curves, prospect files and related information; reserve reports; graphical production curves and all related matters and construction documents; environmental reports, assessments and studies; all geophysical and seismic records, data and information, including that identified on Schedule 2.1(j) (except (i) to the extent the transfer, delivery or copying of such records are restricted by contract with a third party and such third party has not consented to the transfer, delivery or copying of such documents); (ii) all documents and instruments of Seller that may be protected by the attorney work-product or attorney-client privilege; (iii) all accounting and Tax files, books, records, Tax Returns and Tax work papers related to such items; (iv) records relating to the disposition, and copies of records relating to the acquisition, by Seller (or proposed disposition) of the Assets, including proposals received from or made to, and records of negotiation with, any Person, and any economic analyses associated therewith) (collectively, the "Records");
- (k) All non-present and/or non-possessory interests in oil and gas leases, mineral interests, royalty interests, overriding royalty interests, payments out of production, net profits interests, reversionary rights, contractual rights to development and/or production, and all other rights and interests relating to any of the same to the extent relating to lands covered by the Leases or lands pooled, communitized or unitized therewith; and

- (l) All rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, audit rights, guarantees, warranties and indemnities (i) arising from acts, omissions or events occurring from and after the Effective Time to the extent covering, related or attributable to any of the other Assets, or (ii) covering, related or attributable to the Assumed Liabilities.
- 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Assets shall not include, and there is excepted, reserved and excluded from the purchase and sale contemplated herein, the following (collectively, the "**Excluded Assets**"):
- (a) except to the extent relating to any Assumed Liabilities and except for which an adjustment has been made to the Base Purchase Price, all accounts receivable or rights to payment accruing or attributable to any period before the Effective Time, including the right to any payments with respect to any royalties or net profits, the full benefit of all liens and security for such accounts or rights to payment, and all rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, or choses in action relating to the foregoing, except in each case with respect to Asset Taxes, which shall be governed as provided in Section 5.5;
- (b) except to the extent related to the Assumed Liabilities, all rights to any refund costs or expenses borne by Seller or Seller's predecessors in interest attributable to periods prior to the Effective Time, including amounts recoverable through audits with respect to periods prior to the Effective Time, except with respect to Asset Taxes, which shall be governed as provided in <u>Section 5.5</u>;
- (c) all rights or interest of Seller in any intellectual property, industrial property, and other proprietary rights (or portion thereof), including any trademarks and trade names, other than the Records;
- (d) all information entitled to legal privilege, including attorney work product and attorney-client communications (excluding title opinions), and information relating to the Excluded Assets;
  - (e) except for reserve reports, all studies related to reserve assessments and economic estimates and analyses;
- (f) all records relating to the disposition, and copies of records relating to the acquisition, by Seller (or proposed disposition) of the Assets, including proposals received from or made to, and records of negotiation with, any Person, and any economic analyses associated therewith;
- (g) all rights and interests in respect of any (i) futures trade, put option, synthetic put option, call option, or other arrangement relating to commodities entered into by a Person on any commodities exchange to hedge such Person's exposure to or to speculate on commodity prices; and (ii) swap, collar, floor or other derivative transaction or hedging arrangement of any type or nature whatsoever in the over-the-counter derivatives market;

- (h) all deposits, surety bonds, rights under any letters of credit, and collateral pledged to secure any Liability or obligation of Seller in respect of the Assets;
  - (i) debt instruments of Seller and its Affiliates;
  - (j) hedge instruments of Seller and its Affiliates;
- (k) all rights under policies of insurance held by Seller or any of its Affiliates and claims under such policies, and all policies of insurance issued by Seller and its Affiliates;
- (l) except to the extent relating to the Assumed Liabilities, all guarantees, warranties and indemnities (other than the warranties and indemnities set forth in this Agreement) issued by or for the benefit of Seller or any of its Affiliates;
- (m) except to the extent relating to any Assumed Liabilities, audit rights under operating agreements or other contracts or agreements with respect to periods before the Effective Time or in connection with any other Excluded Assets or Retained Liabilities (and Buyer will cooperate with Seller to facilitate Seller's exercise of such rights);
- (n) all rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, or choses in action of Seller under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument entered into or delivered in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or arising out of or relating to any of the other Excluded Assets;
- (o) to the extent relating to the other Excluded Assets or any matter for which Seller owes indemnity to Buyer hereunder, all warranties and rights to indemnification recoverable from any third party;
- (p) all proceeds from the settlement or disposition of any Claims, Proceedings, or disputes to the extent such proceeds relate to any other Excluded Assets; and
  - (q) those items listed on Schedule 2.2.

### 2.3 Assumed and Retained Liabilities.

(a) On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, upon and subject to the Closing, Buyer hereby assumes and agrees to timely and fully pay, perform and otherwise discharge, without recourse to Seller or its Affiliates, all of the Assumed Liabilities, in each case, without limiting Seller's indemnity obligations under <u>Section 15.1</u> (subject to the limitations and restrictions in <u>Article XV</u>).

- (b) Provided that the Closing occurs, Seller shall retain the following: (i) for the period beginning at Closing and ending on the date that is [\*\*\*] after Closing, and only for such period, all damages, Liabilities, and obligations arising out of or attributable to (A) the obligations to pay royalties or other interest owners revenues and for claims of improper calculation or payment of royalties, overriding royalties, and other burdens on production, and (B) the disposal, arrangement for disposal, or transportation prior to Closing of any Hazardous Materials generated or used by or on behalf of Seller and taken from any Asset to any location that is not part of the same Asset; and (ii) from an after Closing and continuing indefinitely, all Liabilities to the extent arising out of or attributable to (A) any civil or administrative fines or penalties and criminal sanctions imposed on Seller or its Affiliates in connection with any pre-Closing violation of, or failure to comply with, Law, including Environmental Laws, (B) personal injury (including death) claims attributable to the operation of the Assets prior to the Closing, (C) any claim made by or on behalf of an employee of Seller or any Affiliate of Seller to the extent arising from an employment relationship with Seller or any Affiliate of Seller prior to Closing, (D) the Excluded Assets, (E) the Specified Environmental Liabilities; (F) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Seller prior to the Closing Date, (G) matters set forth on Schedule 8.6, (H) those liabilities set forth on Schedule 2.3, and (I) subject to the limitations set forth in such definition, the Retained Harmonia Liabilities (if any) (collectively, the "Retained Liabilities"). From and after the date set out above for each item, such item shall be an Assumed Liability.
- 2.4 "As Is, Where Is" Purchase. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, BUYER SHALL ACQUIRE THE ASSETS AND ASSUME THE ASSUMED LIABILITIES ON AN "AS IS, WHERE IS" AND "WITH ALL FAULTS" BASIS. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, BUYER HAS INSPECTED, OR WAIVED (AND UPON CLOSING SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE WAIVED) ITS RIGHT TO INSPECT, THE ASSETS FOR ALL PURPOSES AND SATISFIED ITSELF AS TO THEIR PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION, BOTH SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE, AND SHALL ASSUME ALL RISKS AND LIABILITIES THAT THERE MAY BE NORM, HAZARDOUS MATERIALS OR OTHER WASTE, TOXIC, HAZARDOUS, EXTREMELY HAZARDOUS, OR OTHER MATERIALS OR SUBSTANCES IN, ON OR UNDER THE ASSETS, OR THAT THE ASSETS HAVE ANY OTHER ADVERSE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS, INCLUDING THE PRESENCE OF UNKNOWN ABANDONED OIL AND GAS WELLS, WATER WELLS, SUMPS, PITS, PIPELINES, OR OTHER WASTE OR SPILL SITES THAT MAY NOT HAVE BEEN REVEALED BY BUYER'S INVESTIGATION. TO THE EXTENT INCLUDED IN THE ASSUMED ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES AND NOT OTHERWISE SUBJECT TO SECTIONS 7.3(c)(iii)(B), OR 15.1, FROM AND AFTER THE CLOSING, ALL RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY RELATING TO ALL SUCH CONDITIONS, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, FIXED OR CONTINGENT, SHALL BE TRANSFERRED FROM SELLER TO BUYER, REGARDLESS OF WHEN THE LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY AROSE.

#### ARTICLE III.

#### PURCHASE PRICE

3.1 <u>Deposit</u>. Within two Business Days following the Execution Date, Buyer will fund by wire transfer in same day funds to the Deposit Escrow Agent an amount equal to \$5,220,000 (the "**Deposit**") to be held, invested, and disbursed in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and an escrow agreement (the "**Deposit Escrow Agreement**," and together with each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the "**Related Agreements**") to be executed by and among Buyer, Seller and Deposit Escrow Agent. If Closing occurs, on or before the Closing Date, the Parties shall execute and deliver to the Deposit Escrow Agent a joint instruction letter directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer at Closing. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Buyer and Seller have executed and delivered, and caused their applicable Affiliates to execute and deliver, to each other the Put/Call Agreement.

- 3.2 <u>Purchase Price</u>. The base purchase price for the Assets (the "Base Purchase Price"), as adjusted pursuant to <u>Section 3.3</u>, consists of (a) \$0 in cash or other immediately available funds (the "Cash Purchase Price"), and (b) 6,960,000 fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock (as defined below) of HighPeak, which shall be issued in book-entry form on the books and records of Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation, the transfer agent and registrar (the "Transfer Agent") for Common Stock ("Stock Consideration").
- 3.3 <u>Adjustments to the Base Purchase Price</u>. At the Closing, adjustments to the Base Purchase Price shall be made, without duplication, as follows in accordance with <u>Section 5.1</u>.
  - (a) The Cash Purchase Price shall be adjusted upward by:
- (i) an amount equal to the amount of proceeds derived from the sale of Hydrocarbons net to Seller's interest, net of royalties from the Assets, received by Buyer which are attributable to time periods prior to the Effective Time;
- (ii) Asset Taxes in respect of periods (or portions thereof) beginning on or after the Effective Time and ending on or before the Closing Date allocable to Buyer in accordance with Section 5.5 but paid or otherwise economically borne by Seller;
- (iii) subject to Section 16.1, an amount equal to the costs, expenses and other expenditures relating to the Assets (whether capitalized or expensed), including (i) royalties, overriding royalties, and similar burdens on production; (ii) rentals, shut-in well payments, and other lease maintenance payments; and (iii) COPAS overhead paid by Seller consistent with the practices of a reasonable and prudent operator of oil and gas properties in the areas where the Assets are located and in accordance with this Agreement, for the period from the Effective Time to the Closing Date;
- (iv) all amounts owed to Seller by third parties as of the Effective Time under the Contracts with respect to any Imbalances existing at the Effective Time, such amounts to be determined for Imbalances by multiplying the Imbalance volume by the average price per MMBtu realized by Seller for natural gas produced during the calendar month prior to the month in which the Closing Date falls;
- (v) an amount equal to (A) Seller's Net Revenue Interest share of all Hydrocarbons attributable to the Assets that, at the Effective Time, were in storage, in tanks, or above the load level connection, *multiplied by* (B) the applicable price for which the applicable production from the Assets was sold most recently after the Effective Time;
- (vi) an amount equal to all actual payments made by Seller prior to the Closing Date pursuant to any of the authorizations for expenditure listed on Schedule 8.4;

- (vii) subject to <u>Section 10.4</u>, an amount equal to the actual costs and expenses incurred by Seller in connection with the Specified Operations, not to exceed the Specified Operations Cap;
  - (viii) [\*\*\*];
  - (ix) any other amount agreed upon in writing by Seller and Buyer.
- (b) The Stock Consideration shall be adjusted downward by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to, in each case of the following, (x) the positive dollar value of such amount, *divided* by (y) the Reference Price:
- (i) an amount equal to Seller's Net Revenue Interest share of the amount of proceeds derived from the sale of Hydrocarbons received by Seller which are attributable to time periods after the Effective Time;
- (ii) Asset Taxes in respect of periods (or portions thereof) prior to the Effective Time allocable to Seller in accordance with <u>Section</u> <u>5.5</u> but paid or otherwise economically borne by Buyer;
- (iii) an amount equal to the costs, expenses and other expenditures relating to the Assets that are unpaid as of the Closing Date and assessed for or attributable to periods of time prior to the Effective Time, <u>provided</u> that to the extent the actual amounts cannot be determined prior to the agreement of Buyer and Seller with respect to the Closing Adjustment Statement, a reasonable estimate of such costs, expenses and other expenditures shall be used;
- (iv) all amounts owed by Seller to third parties as of the Effective Time under the Contracts with respect to any Imbalances existing as of the Effective Time, such amounts to be determined for Imbalances by multiplying the Imbalance volume by the average price per MMBtu realized by Seller for natural gas produced during the calendar month prior to the month in which the Closing Date falls;
- (v) all undisputed amounts related to Title Defects as determined pursuant to <u>Article VI</u>, Environmental Defects as determined pursuant to <u>Article VII</u>, Assets excluded from the transaction due to unobtained Consents as determined pursuant to <u>Section 10.12</u> or Preferential Rights as determined pursuant to <u>Section 10.3</u>; and
  - (vi) any other amount provided for in this Agreement or agreed upon in writing by Seller and Buyer.
- (c) Seller shall have the right to collect any receivable, refund or other amounts associated with periods and derived from events occurring prior to the Effective Time. To the extent that Buyer collects any such receivable, refund or other amounts which do not adjust upward the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 3.3(a), Buyer shall promptly remit any such amounts to Seller.
- (d) Buyer shall have the right to collect any receivable, refund or other amounts associated with periods and derived from events occurring from and after the Effective Time. To the extent that Seller collects any such receivable, refund or other amounts which do not adjust downward the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 3.3(b), Seller shall promptly remit any such amounts to Buyer.

- (e) For all purposes under this Agreement, the determination of whether any amounts, monies, proceeds, receipts, credits, income, expenditures, costs, expenses, disbursements, obligations, liabilities and other matters are attributable to the period before, on or after the Effective Time shall be made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, <u>provided</u> that, to the extent applicable, the date of the performance of any service or delivery of the goods as reflected on the vendor's invoice for such costs shall be controlling for purposes of allocating same.
- 3.4 <u>Allocation</u>. The Base Purchase Price shall be allocated to the Assets as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u>. Seller and Buyer agree that the values allocated to various portions of the Assets, which are set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u> (singularly with respect to each item, the "**Allocated Value**," and, collectively, the "**Allocated Values**"), are for the purposes of calculating any adjustments to the Base Purchase Price under this Agreement.
- 3.5 Tax Allocation. Buyer and Seller shall agree to an allocation of the Base Purchase Price and any other items properly treated as consideration for U.S. federal Income Tax purposes among the Assets in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and, to the extent allowed under applicable federal income Laws relating to Taxes, in a manner consistent with the Allocated Values, within 30 days after the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement is finally determined (the "Allocation"). If Seller and Buyer cannot reach an agreement with respect to the Allocation, any disputed items shall be resolved by a nationally-recognized accounting firm to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties pursuant to procedures comparable to the procedures applicable under Section 5.2(c), which resolution shall be final and binding on the Parties. After Seller and Buyer reach final agreement with respect to the Allocation, (a) Buyer and Seller shall update the Allocation in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code following any adjustment to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement, and (b) Buyer and Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, report consistently with the Allocation, as adjusted, for financial accounting purposes and on all Tax Returns, including Internal Revenue Service Form 8594, and neither Seller nor Buyer shall take any position on any Tax Return that is inconsistent with the Allocation, as adjusted, unless required to do so by a "final determination" within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code; provided, however, that neither Party shall be unreasonably impeded in its ability and discretion to negotiate, compromise and/or settle any Tax audit, claim or similar proceedings in connection with such allocation.

#### ARTICLE IV.

#### **CLOSING**

4.1 <u>Closing</u>. Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in <u>Article XII</u> and <u>XIII</u> and any termination pursuant to <u>Article XIV</u>, the sale and purchase transaction as contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Buyer and Seller, take place at the offices of Seller at 10:00 a.m., Central Time, on April 1, 2022 (the "Target Closing Date"), or if all conditions in <u>Article XIII</u> and <u>Article XIII</u> to be satisfied prior to Closing have not yet been satisfied or waived on the Target Closing Date, within 5 Business Days of such conditions having been satisfied or waived (except for any such conditions that by their nature may only be satisfied at or in connection with the occurrence of Closing); provided, however, the Closing shall occur prior to May 2, 2022 (the "**Drop Dead Date**"). The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the "Closing Date." The Closing will take place at the offices of Seller. The Closing shall be effective for all purposes as of the Effective Time.

- 4.2 <u>Deliveries by Seller</u>. At Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer:
  - (a) a certificate of an officer of Seller evidencing compliance with the conditions set forth in Section 12.1;
- (b) the Assignment and Bill of Sale duly executed by Seller, including duly executed recordable counterparts for filing in the relevant individual counties where the Assets are located;
- (c) the Non-Competition Agreement duly executed by each of Seller, Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC, Alamo Exploration and Production, LLC, Crockett, Alamo II, Alamo II, Alamo IV, Roger J. Sikes, Joe McKie, Jeffery E. Hansen, Shu Rau, and Reggie Hart;
  - (d) a Certificate of Non-Foreign Status duly executed by Seller;
- (e) such documents as Buyer or counsel for Buyer may reasonably request, including the transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) to be executed by Seller pursuant to <u>Section 10.2</u>;
- (f) to the extent obtained, copies of any waivers of Restrictions obtained pursuant to Section 10.12 or Preferential Rights obtained by Seller pursuant to Section 10.3;
- (g) change of operator forms as to those Wells currently operated by Seller, if any, executed by Seller and reasonably suitable for filing with applicable Governmental Authority;
  - (h) assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority duly executed by Seller;
  - (i) Records, Contracts, Permits and governmental authorizations in accordance with Section 10.7;
  - (j) a listing of suspended funds as required by Section 5.3;
- (k) fully recordable releases of all liens, security interests and other encumbrances securing money borrowed by Seller or any of its Affiliates affecting the Assets;
- (l) to the Deposit Escrow Agent, a joint instruction letter, duly executed by Seller, directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer;
  - (m) the Stock Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Seller; and

- (n) the Side Letter Agreement, duly executed by Seller.
- 4.3 <u>Deliveries by Buyer</u>. At Closing, Buyer and/or HighPeak shall deliver to Seller or Seller's designee, as indicated:
- (a) Buyer shall deliver the Cash Purchase Price, if any, set forth in the Closing Adjustment Statement, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Seller;
- (b) HighPeak shall deposit with the Stock Escrow Agent, also serving as the Transfer Agent, the number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) \$10,440,000, divided by (ii) the Reference Price, subject to any adjustments set forth in Section 6.5 (such aggregate amount, the "Post-Closing Escrow"), as a holdback in accordance with Section 15.6, which Post-Closing Escrow shall be issued by HighPeak in book-entry form on the books and records of the Transfer Agent and annotated with the restrictive legends indicating that the Post-Closing Escrow is subject to (x) the terms and conditions of the Stock Escrow Agreement and this Agreement and (y) the restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in each case substantially in the form set forth in Section 10.13, and upon such issuance, the Post-Closing Escrow shall be deemed deposited with the Stock Escrow Agent;
- (c) HighPeak shall deliver to Seller Designee in book-entry form on the books and records of the Transfer Agent, the Stock Consideration less the Post-Closing Escrow, free and clear of all liens and restrictions, other than restrictions imposed by this Agreement and applicable securities laws;
- (d) Buyer shall deliver the Assignment and Bill of Sale duly executed by Buyer, including duly executed recordable counterparts for filing in the relevant individual counties where the Assets are located;
  - (e) Buyer shall deliver a certificate of an officer of Buyer evidencing compliance with the conditions set forth in Section 13.1;
- (f) Buyer shall deliver change of operator forms as to those Wells currently operated by Seller, if any, executed by Buyer and reasonably suitable for filing with applicable Governmental Authority;
- (g) Buyer shall deliver evidence, reasonably satisfactory to Seller, of Buyer's compliance with <u>Section 11.1</u>, including copies of all bonds or letters of credit posted by Buyer;
  - (h) Buyer shall deliver the transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) to be executed by Buyer pursuant to Section 11.3;
  - (i) Buyer shall deliver assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority duly executed by Buyer;
  - (j) HighPeak and Buyer shall deliver the Stock Escrow Agreement, duly executed by HighPeak and Buyer;

- (k) Buyer shall execute and deliver to the Deposit Escrow Agent a joint instruction letter directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer; and
  - (1) HighPeak and Buyer shall deliver the Side Letter Agreement.
- 4.4 <u>Further Cooperation</u>. At the Closing and thereafter as may be necessary, Seller and Buyer shall execute and deliver such other instruments and documents and take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary to evidence and effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE V.

#### PURCHASE PRICE ADJUSTMENTS

Closing Adjustments. With respect to matters that can be determined as of the Closing, Seller shall prepare, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.1, a statement (the "Closing Adjustment Statement") with relevant supporting information setting forth each adjustment to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration contemplated by Sections 3.3(a) and 3.3(b), respectively. Seller shall submit the Closing Adjustment Statement to Buyer, together with appropriate data supporting the calculation of amounts presented on the Closing Adjustment Statement, no later than 3 Business Days prior to the scheduled Closing Date. When available, actual figures will be used for the adjustments at Closing. To the extent actual figures are not available, estimates shall be used subject to final adjustments as described in Section 5.2 below. Prior to the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall review the adjustments proposed by Seller in the Closing Adjustment Statement. Agreed upon adjustments shall be taken into account in computing adjustments to be made to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration at the Closing. If Buyer and Seller do not agree upon any given proposed adjustments, then subject to the procedures set forth in Section 6.4(d) and Section 7.3(c)(ii) and any disputes to be handled in accordance with such procedures pursuant to the terms hereof, the amounts in dispute shall be deferred to the final adjustments as described in Section 5.2, and the amount of any such adjustments as proposed by Buyer shall be used for purposes of computing adjustments to be made to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration at the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the Stock Consideration ever be increased hereunder, it being understood and agreed that any upward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price shall be solely accounted for through an increase to the Cash Purchase Price

#### 5.2 Post-Closing Adjustments.

(a) A post-closing adjustment statement (the "Post-Closing Adjustment Statement") based on the actual figures and reflecting the adjustments to the Cash Purchase Price contemplated in Sections 3.3(a) and 3.3(b) shall be prepared and delivered by Seller to Buyer within 180 days after the Closing, proposing final adjustments to the calculation of the Base Purchase Price based on the information then available. Seller or Buyer, as the case may be, shall be given reasonable access to and shall be entitled to a review and audit during normal business hours of the other Party's records pertaining to the computation of amounts claimed in the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement. In the preparation of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, Seller shall take into account Section 5.6.

- (b) Within 60 days after receipt of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a written statement describing in reasonable detail its objections (if any) to any amounts or items set forth on or omitted from the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement. If Buyer does not raise any objections within such period, then the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall become final and binding upon the Parties at the end of such period.
- (c) If Buyer raises any objections to the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any such objections. If the Parties are unable to resolve any disputed item, then within 30 days after Seller's receipt of Buyer's written objections to the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, any such disputed item shall be submitted to an nationally-recognized accounting firm to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties. The resolution of disputes by the accounting firm so selected shall be set forth in writing and shall be conclusive, binding and non-appealable upon the Parties and the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall become final and binding upon the Parties on the date of such resolution. The fees and expenses of such accounting firm shall be paid one-half by Buyer and one-half by Seller.
- (d) Within 5 days after the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement has become final and binding on the Parties, Seller or Buyer, as the case may be, shall pay to the other such sums as are due to settle accounts between the Parties due to differences between the estimated Cash Purchase Price paid at the Closing pursuant to the Closing Adjustment Statement and the actual Cash Purchase Price set forth on the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement.
- 5.3 <u>Suspended Funds</u>. At the Closing, Seller shall provide to Buyer a listing showing all Suspense Funds attributable to the Assets which are then held in suspense, if any, and, to the extent Seller is able to identify the reasons therefor, a statement of such reasons and the applicable records pertaining thereto, and shall transfer to Buyer all Suspense Funds, to the extent (and only to the extent) such Suspense Funds are not negative amounts. Based on such information received from Seller, Buyer shall properly distribute all Suspense Funds that it receives from Seller.
- 5.4 <u>Audit Adjustments</u>. Seller retains all rights to adjustments resulting from any operating agreement and other audit claims asserted against third-party operators on transactions occurring prior to the Effective Time (which includes Buyer, if applicable). Any credit received by Buyer pertaining to such an audit claim shall be paid to Seller within 30 days after receipt at no cost or expense to Buyer.

#### 5.5 Asset Taxes and Tax Returns.

(a) Proration. All Asset Taxes with respect to the Assets shall be allocated between Seller and Buyer as of the Effective Time on the Closing Adjustment Statement and on the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement; provided, however, that Seller (not Buyer) shall be allocated and bear the portion, if any, of such Asset Taxes that consist of penalties, interests or additions to Tax to the extent attributable to a breach by Seller of the representations or warranties set forth in Section 8.8. On such settlement statements, Seller will be responsible for Asset Taxes attributable to time periods prior to the Effective Time and Buyer will be responsible for Asset Taxes for time periods on and after the Effective Time. In the case of any taxable period that includes the Effective Time (a "Straddle Period"), the amount of Asset Taxes for such Straddle Period that relates to time periods prior to the Effective Time shall (i) for Asset Taxes that are ad valorem, property or other Asset Taxes imposed on a periodic basis that are assessed against the Assets with respect to a Tax period (or portion thereof) beginning at or after the Effective Time, but excluding any such Taxes that are based on the severance or production of Hydrocarbons, shall be allocated entirely to Buyer, and such Asset Taxes assessed against the Assets with respect to a Tax period (or portion thereof) ending prior to the Effective Time, shall be allocated entirely to Sellers, (ii) Asset Taxes that are imposed on the severance or production of Hydrocarbons shall be allocated between the Parties based on the number of units or value of production actually produced, as applicable, before, and at or after, the Effective Time, as applicable and (iii) Asset Taxes based upon sales or receipts or resulting from specific transactions such as the sale or other transfer of property, shall be allocated to the period in which the transaction giving rise to such Asset Taxes occurred (i.e., prior to the Effective Time).

- (b) To the extent the actual amount of an Asset Tax is not known at the time of Closing (for purposes of the Closing Adjustment Statement) or as of the date of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement (for purposes of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement), the Parties shall utilize the most recent information available in estimating the amount of such Asset Tax for purposes of such applicable statement. At any time the Party (the "Paying Party") receiving an Asset Tax bill or notice applicable to the Assets for a Straddle Period shall promptly notify the other Party or Parties that may be responsible for a portion of such Asset Taxes pursuant to this Section 5.5(b) (the "Reimbursing Party") in writing, and the Paying Party shall pay such Asset Tax bill prior to the last day such Asset Taxes may be paid without penalty or interest. Upon receipt of the written notice from the Paying Party, which shall include appropriate supporting documentation, the Reimbursing Party shall promptly pay the Paying Party any amount equal to the portion of the Asset Taxes for which the Reimbursing Party is liable under this Section 5.5. The Parties shall reasonably cooperate with each other after Closing with respect to any Asset Tax assessment or valuation (or protest in connection therewith) by any Governmental Authority with respect to a Straddle Period. To the extent the actual amount of an Asset Tax (or the amount thereof paid or otherwise economically borne by a Party) is ultimately determined to be different than the amount (if any) that was taken into account in the Base Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3, payments will be made from one Party to the other in a commercially reasonable amount of time to the extent necessary to cause each Party to bear the amount of such Asset Tax that is allocable to such Party under Section 5.5(a).
- (c) Refunds of Asset Taxes paid (or to the extent payable but not paid due to offset against other Taxes) with respect to or attributable to the Assets shall be diligently pursued and promptly paid by the Party receiving the benefit of the payment or offset as follows: (a) to Seller if attributable to Asset Taxes allocable to Seller pursuant to this Section 5.5; and (b) to Buyer if attributable to Asset Taxes allocable to Buyer pursuant to this Section 5.5.
- (d) Subject to Buyer's indemnification rights under Section 15.1, after the Closing Date, Buyer shall (i) be responsible for paying any Asset Taxes relating to any Tax period that ends before or includes the Effective Time that become due and payable after the Closing Date and shall file with the appropriate Governmental Authority any and all Tax Returns required to be filed after the Closing Date with respect to such Asset Taxes, (ii) submit each such Tax Return to Seller for its review and comment reasonably in advance of and in any event no later than 10 days before the due date therefor, and (iii) timely file any such Tax Return, incorporating any reasonable comments received from Seller prior to the due date therefor. The Parties agree that (x) this Section 5.5(d) is intended to solely address the timing and manner in which certain Tax Returns relating to Asset Taxes are filed and the Asset Taxes shown thereon are paid to the applicable Governmental Authority, and (y) nothing in this Section 5.5(d) shall be interpreted as altering the manner in which Asset Taxes are allocated to and economically borne by the Parties.

5.6 <u>Cooperation</u>. Each Party covenants and agrees to cooperate in all reasonable respects in the pursuit and payment of amounts referred to in <u>Sections 5.2, 5.4</u> and <u>5.5</u>.

### 5.7 Harmonia Assets.

- (a) If Seller does not have Defensible Title to the Harmonia Assets on the date that is fifteen (15) days prior to the Defect Notice Deadline [\*\*\*].
  - (b) [\*\*\*].

#### ARTICLE VI.

#### **DUE DILIGENCE; TITLE MATTERS**

## 6.1 General Access.

- (a) Prior to Closing, Seller shall:
- (i) give Buyer and its representatives, employees, consultants, independent contractors, attorneys and other advisors reasonable access to all Records and appropriate personnel;
- (ii) furnish to Buyer all other relevant information with respect to the Assets or the Leasing Operations as Buyer may from time to time reasonably request, unless Seller is prohibited therefrom by any agreement, contract, obligation or duty by which it is bound or by the necessity of any third party approval (and upon Buyer's request, Seller shall use reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of third party operators to give Buyer and its representatives reasonable access to the Assets and similar information with respect to Assets not operated by Seller or its Affiliates); and
- (iii) promptly furnisher Buyer and its representatives with such additional financial, operating, and other data and information as Buyer may reasonably request.
- (b) Seller makes no warranty or representation of any kind as to the accuracy, completeness, or materiality of any Records, and Buyer agrees that any conclusions drawn from the Records or any such other information shall be the result of its own independent review and judgment.

- 6.2 <u>Seller's Title</u>. Seller hereby warrants and shall defend that it has Defensible Title (as defined below) to the Leases and the Wells unto Buyer against every Person lawfully claiming the Leases or Assets or any part thereof by, through or under Seller but not otherwise, subject, however, to the Permitted Encumbrances and the terms and conditions of this Agreement (the "**Special Warranty**"). The Special Warranty constitutes a special warranty of title by, through and under Seller under the applicable laws of the State of Texas. No later than 5:00 p.m. Central Time on the date that is [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, Buyer may furnish Seller a notice of breach setting forth any matters which Buyer asserts as a breach of the Special Warranty. Seller shall have a reasonable opportunity, but not the obligation, to cure any alleged breach prior to the date that is 90 days after Buyer provides written notice of such alleged breach to Seller. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (i) Buyer shall be deemed to have waived all breaches of Seller's Special Warranty for which Seller has not received on or before the date 5 years after the Closing Date a notice of such breach, and (ii) any Special Warranty claim made pursuant to this Agreement shall not be subject to the Individual Title Defect Threshold or the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold.
- 6.3 <u>Defensible Title</u>. As used herein the term "**Defensible Title**" shall mean that title of Seller to each DSU, Lease and Well (as applicable) that, as of the Closing Date, and in each case except for and subject to the Permitted Encumbrances, is (i) deducible of record or (ii) obtained by non-consent elections, in each case, made or delivered pursuant to joint operating agreements, pooling agreements or unitization agreements, or any similar agreement or order, and:
  - (a) is free and clear of any defects, liens or similar encumbrances and irregularities, in each case, other than Permitted Encumbrances;
- (b) as to the Subject Formations for each Lease, Well or DSU, as applicable, entitles Seller to receive not less than the Net Revenue Interest set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such Lease, Well or DSU, as applicable, except for (i) decreases in connection with those operations in which Seller may be a nonconsenting co-owner, (ii) decreases resulting from the reversion of interests to co-owners with operations in which such co-owners elected not to consent after the Execution Date, (iii) decreases resulting from the establishment or amendment of pools or units from and after the Effective Time, (iv) decreases required to allow other working interest owners to make up past underproduction or pipelines to make up past under-deliveries, and (v) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Net Revenue Interest" shall mean (A) with respect to a Lease or Well, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such Lease or Well, after giving effect to all burdens on such Lease borne by Seller, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (B) with respect to a DSU located entirely within an unpooled Lease, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such Lease, after giving effect to all burdens on such Lease borne by Seller, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (C) with respect to a DSU located within a pooled unit, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such pooled unit, after giving effect to all burdens on such pooled unit borne by Seller, throughout the productive life thereof; and (D) with respect to any DSU for an allocation well, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the pro rata portion of the DSU located within the applicable Lease, in each case, limited to the Subject Formations; and
- (c) as to the Subject Formations for each Lease or DSU, as applicable, entitles Seller to not less than the number of Net Acres set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such DSU or Lease, except for (a) increases that are accompanied by at least a proportionate increase in Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to Subject Formations of the affected Lease or DSU, (b) increases resulting from contribution requirements with respect to defaults by co-owners under the applicable operating agreement, and (c) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Net Acre" shall mean, as calculated separately with respect to each Lease or DSU (or portions thereof), (x) the number of gross acres in the lands covered by such DSU, multiplied by (y) the lessor's undivided percentage interest in the oil, gas and mineral estate in the Subject Formation in the lands covered by such Lease or DSU (or portions thereof), multiplied by (z) Seller's Working Interest in such Lease or DSU; provided that if items (x) and/or (y) vary as to different areas in a Lease, a separate calculation in accordance herewith shall be performed for each such area as if it were a separate Lease;

- (d) as to the Subject Formation of each Well, requires Seller to bear no more than the Working Interest set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such Well, except for (i) increases that are accompanied by at least a proportionate increase in Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to the Subject Formation of the affected Well, (ii) increases resulting from contribution requirements with respect to defaults by co-owners under the applicable operating agreement, and (iii) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Working Interest" shall mean (A) with respect to a Well, the interest in such Well that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such Well (in each case, limited to the Subject Formation for such Well, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such Well; (B) with respect to any DSU located entirely within an unpooled Lease, the interest in such Lease that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such Lease (limited to the Subject Formation for such Lease, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-1 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (C) with respect to any DSU located within a pooled unit, the interest in such pooled unit that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such pooled unit (limited to the Subject Formation for such DSU, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-3 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such pooled unit; (D) with respect to any allocation well, the interest in the pro rata portion of the DSU located within the applicable Lease that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such DSU (limited to the currently producing formation of the allocation well, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such allocation well;
- (e) as to each Lease, (i) expressly permits Seller to drill allocation wells, (ii) in the absence of permitting Seller to drill allocation wells, permits Seller to pool such Lease into a pooled unit without any minimum acreage requirements of such Lease to be included within such pooled unit, (iii) permits the use of the surface for drilling operations in the event such Lease covers more than 10 gross surface acres, and (iv) in the absence of being currently held by production, has a minimum of [\*\*\*], or contains a continuous drilling clause that provides for [\*\*\*] between the spudding of one well and the spudding of the next well and, as of the Target Closing Date, has a minimum of [\*\*\*] before the spudding of a well on either the expiration of the primary term or the continuous drilling clause (as applicable), is required; and

(f) with respect to the Harmonia Assets, [\*\*\*].

## 6.4 Defect Letters.

- (a) If Buyer becomes aware of a Title Defect, then, in order to apprise itself of the rights and remedies provided in this Article VI with respect to such alleged Title Defect, Buyer must deliver a written notice thereof (a "Title Defect Notice") to Seller no later than 5:00 p.m. Central Time on March 17, 2022 (the "Defect Notice Deadline"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event shall there be any adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies available in respect of Title Defects unless (i) the Title Defect Value for any individual Title Defect Property exceeds \$25,000 (the "Individual Title Defect Threshold"), after which point, the entire Title Defect Value for such Title Defect shall be taken into account for the purposes of determining the reduction to the Base Purchase Price hereunder (if any), and (ii) the amount of all such Title Defect Values (provided that each such Title Defect Value exceeds the applicable Individual Title Defect Threshold) in the aggregate (excluding any Title Defect Values with respect to Title Defects cured or indemnified by Seller) exceeds 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Aggregate Title Defect Threshold"), after which point, subject to the Individual Title Defect Threshold, Buyer shall be entitled to adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies elected by Seller in accordance with Section 6.5 with respect to the full amount of all such Title Defect Values (i.e., "dollar-one" recovery).
- (b) In each Title Defect Notice, Buyer must describe with reasonable detail (i) each alleged Title Defect it has discovered that is reasonably sufficient for Seller to determine the basis of the alleged Title Defect, (ii) the Lease or Well adversely affected by the Title Defect (a "Title Defect Property"), (iii) Buyer's reasonable estimate of the Title Defect Value attributable to each such Title Defect and the computations and information upon which Buyer's belief is based, including any analysis by any title attorney or examiner hired by Buyer, along with the Allocated Value of the Title Defect Property, and (iv) all documents upon which Buyer relies for its assertion, including, at a minimum, supporting data, documents and information reasonably necessary for Seller to verify the existence and understand the nature of each Title Defect being asserted.
- (c) Except with respect to Buyer's rights under Section 6.2, Article VIII, Article XV and the special warranty of title in the Assignment and Bill of Sale, any matter that would constitute a Title Defect shall be and is hereby conclusively waived by Buyer if Buyer fails to provide timely written notice to Seller of such Title Defect in accordance with Section 6.4(a). For the avoidance of doubt, if any Title Defect affects multiple Assets, the Title Defect Value for such Title Defect shall be aggregated for the purposes of determining whether the Individual Title Defect Threshold has been satisfied.

- (d) If the Parties cannot reach agreement concerning the existence of a Title Defect, Seller's proposed cure of a Title Defect, or a Title Defect Value prior to Closing or, with respect to Title Defects that Seller has elected to cure post-Closing, within [\*\*\*], as applicable, upon either Party's request and by mutual agreement, an attorney mutually acceptable to the Parties having at least 20 years of experience in mineral and land title matters (the "Title Consultant") shall resolve all points of disagreement relating to Title Defects, proposed and actual cures and Title Defect Values. Each Party shall present a written statement of its position on the Title Defect, proposed cure and/or Title Defect Value in question to the Title Consultant promptly, and the Title Consultant shall make a determination of all points of disagreement in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement within 5 days of receipt of such position statements. The determination by the Title Consultant shall be conclusive and binding on the Parties solely with respect to disputes between the Parties, and shall be enforceable against any Party in any court of competent jurisdiction. The cost of any such Title Consultant shall be paid one-half by Seller and one-half by Buyer.
- (e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 6.4, for the limited purposes of this Agreement and regardless of Seller's position as to the validity of the defects subject to this Section 6.4(e) to the contrary, Seller acknowledges that if Seller fails to cure to Buyer's reasonable satisfaction those items identified on Schedule 6.4, which Buyer asserts constitute Title Defects, prior to the Defect Notice Deadline, Buyer shall be entitled to a Base Purchase Price reduction equal to the Allocated Values set forth on Schedule 3.4 for the Assets described on Schedule 6.4, subject to the adjustments set forth in this Section 6.4, provided, however, Seller waives its rights pursuant to Section 6.4(d) of this Agreement with respect thereto.

## 6.5 Rights and Remedies for Title Defects.

- (a) If there are undisputed Title Defects (as to both the existence thereof or amount of the applicable Title Defect Value) timely identified by Buyer and not cured (or otherwise resolved) by Closing, Seller shall elect, at its sole discretion on an Asset by Asset basis and subject to the applicable Individual Title Defect Threshold and the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold, to:
- (i) convey the affected Assets to Buyer at Closing and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller Designee at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Title Defect Value for such Title Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price;
- (ii) convey the affected Assets to Buyer and cure, within a reasonable time in the circumstances, and at least within [\*\*\*], the Title Defect and Buyer shall deposit into escrow with the Stock Escrow Agent a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Title Defect Value for such Title Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price; [\*\*\*]; or
- (iii) if Buyer's asserted Title Defect Value for an asserted Title Defect equals or exceeds 100% of the Allocated Value of the applicable Title Defect Property, exclude at Closing such Title Defect Property (together with any associated facilities, infrastructure, and equipment that are reasonably necessary to produce, save, transport, and market Hydrocarbons from any Wells that are so excluded to the extent (and only to the extent) such facilities, infrastructure, and equipment are utilized by Seller solely in relation to such Title Defect Property, which together with the applicable Title Defect Property, will become Excluded Assets) and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller Designee at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the Allocated Value(s) of such Excluded Asset(s), divided by (B) the Reference Price.

- (b) Except with respect to Title Defects that Seller has elected to cure in accordance with <u>Section 6.5(a)(ii)</u>, subject to <u>Section 12.5</u> and <u>Section 13.5</u>, concurrently with the Closing, any such Title Defects as to which there is a dispute that has not been resolved shall be submitted to the Title Consultant who shall resolve each Title Defect as provided in <u>Section 6.4</u>.
- (c) If Seller does not cure a Title Defect before the Closing or there are disputes between the Parties with respect to such Title Defect or the Title Defect Value thereof, Seller shall convey the affected Asset to Buyer and Buyer's good faith estimate of the Title Defect Value for such Assets shall be used for the purposes of calculating the reduction to the Base Purchase Price at Closing (if any). Subject to Section 12.5 and Section 13.5, Closing shall proceed as to all of the Assets (other than any such that Seller and Buyer have agreed shall be retained by Seller). If Seller fails to cure a Title Defect within [\*\*\*], then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration attributable to the affected Assets to HighPeak. If Seller cures a Title Defect within [\*\*\*], then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration (valued at the Reference Price) attributable to the affected Assets to Seller. If Buyer and Seller do not agree on whether or not any such Title Defect has been cured or the Title Defect Value with respect thereto, such unresolved matters shall be submitted to the Title Consultant who shall resolve each such matter as provided in Section 6.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, [\*\*\*].
- (d) The diminution in value of a Lease, Well, or DSU attributable to a valid Title Defect (the "Title Defect Value") notified in a Title Defect Notice shall be determined as follows:
- (i) if the valid Title Defect asserted is that the actual Net Revenue Interest attributable to any Well, Lease or DSU, as applicable, is less than the amount specified therefor in <u>Schedule 3.4</u>, then the Title Defect Value is the product of the Allocated Value attributed to the applicable Subject Formations for such Well, Lease or DSU, as applicable, *multiplied by* a fraction, the numerator of which is the difference between the Net Revenue Interest specified in <u>Schedule 3.4</u> and the actual Net Revenue Interest, and the denominator of which is the Net Revenue Interest specified in <u>Schedule 3.4</u>;
- (ii) if the valid Title Defect asserted is that the actual Net Acres attributable to any Lease or DSU is less than the amount specified therefor in <u>Schedule 3.4</u>, and the Net Revenue Interest with respect to such Lease or DSU is unchanged, then the Title Defect Value is the product of the Allocated Value attributed to the applicable Subject Formations in such Lease or DSU *multiplied by* a fraction, the numerator of which is the difference between the Net Acres set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u> and the actual Net Acres, and the denominator of which is the Net Acres stated on <u>Schedule 3.4</u>; or

- (iii) if the valid Title Defect asserted is not of the type described in  $\underbrace{Section 6.5(\underline{d})(\underline{i})}_{\text{Constant}}$  or  $\underbrace{Section 6.5(\underline{d})(\underline{i})}_{\text{Constant}}$  above, the Title Defect Value shall be determined by taking into account the Allocated Value of the affected Title Defect Property, the portion of the Title Defect Property (including the depths) adversely affected by the Title Defect, the legal effect of the Title Defect, the potential economic effect of the Title Defect over the life of the Title Defect Property, and such other reasonable factors as are necessary to make a proper evaluation.
- (e) Notwithstanding the above, in no event shall the Title Defect Values related to a particular Asset exceed the Allocated Value of such Asset. The Title Defect Value with respect to a Title Defect shall be determined without any duplication of any costs or losses included in any other Title Defect Value under this Agreement, or for which Buyer otherwise received credit in the calculation of the Base Purchase Price.
- (f) Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, the Parties acknowledge that, as of the date hereof, Seller does not have Defensible Title to the Assets identified on Schedule 6.3. [\*\*\*].

## ARTICLE VII.

### ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

7.1 <u>Physical Condition of the Assets</u>. The Assets have been used for oil and gas drilling and production operations and possibly for the storage and disposal of waste materials or hazardous substances related to standard oil field operations. Physical changes in or under the Assets or adjacent lands may have occurred as a result of such uses. The Assets also may contain buried pipelines and other equipment, whether or not of a similar nature, the locations of which may not now be known by Seller or be readily apparent by a physical inspection of the Assets.

In addition, Buyer acknowledges that some oil field production equipment located on the Assets may contain asbestos and/or naturally occurring radioactive material ("NORM"). In this regard, Buyer expressly understands that NORM may affix or attach itself to the inside of wells, material and equipment as scale or in other forms, and that wells, materials and equipment located on the Assets described herein may contain NORM and that NORM containing materials may be buried or have been otherwise disposed of on the Assets. Buyer also expressly understands that special procedures may be required for the removal and disposal of asbestos and NORM from the Assets where they may be found.

### 7.2 <u>Inspection and Testing</u>.

- Seller shall allow (or, if Seller is not the operator of the applicable Asset, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain permission from the relevant operator to allow) Buyer to conduct, at Buyer's sole risk, Liability, and expense, an on-site, visual inspection, including a Phase I environmental site assessment (as defined in the applicable ASTM International standards), a limited environmental compliance review, and any other review of environmental matters or conditions that Buyer deems necessary, of the Assets (an "Environmental Assessment"); provided, however, that: (i) Buyer shall provide Seller with prior written notice of any activities with respect to any such Environmental Assessment, and shall provide Seller the opportunity to participate in all such activities; (ii) any contractor engaged to perform all or any portion of such Environmental Assessment shall execute and deliver to Seller a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to Seller; (iii) Buyer shall not conduct, authorize, or permit any test drilling, sampling, or other invasive on-site activities without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent may be withheld in Seller's sole discretion; and (iv) Buyer shall provide to Seller promptly (and in any event, prior to the Defect Notice Deadline) after receipt, at no cost to Seller, all written, final Environmental Assessments prepared by or on behalf of Buyer. If following the conduct of the Phase I environmental site assessment or other visual environmental assessment, such Phase I reasonably recommends any sampling, boring, drilling or other invasive investigation activities on or with respect to any of the Assets as necessary to determine the existence or magnitude of an Environmental Defect, Buyer shall advise Seller in writing of such recommendation and furnish to Seller for its review a proposed scope of such sampling, boring, drilling or other invasive investigation activities that are reasonably necessary to make such determination. Following the receipt and review of such proposal by Seller, Seller shall elect, in its sole discretion, to permit or refuse to permit the conduct of any such activities by Buyer; provided, however, that if Seller refuses to permit the conduct of such activities (or Seller does not have the authority to grant access for such due diligence and cannot obtain permission from the relevant operator using commercially reasonable efforts), then the Assets with respect to which Buyer requested permission to conduct such activities may, at Buyer's sole option, be excluded from the Assets to be conveyed to Buyer at Closing (which shall be deemed to be Excluded Assets) and the Base Purchase Price shall be adjusted downward by the Allocated Values thereof. In connection with any such Environmental Assessment, Buyer shall not interfere with the normal operations of any Assets in any material respect and shall comply with all requirements and safety policies and procedures of Seller and/or the operator of such Assets. If Buyer or any contractor or agent of Buyer prepares a written Environmental Assessment of any Assets, upon Seller's written request, Buyer shall furnish copies of the final report thereof to Seller. If requested by Seller, the Parties shall enter into a letter agreement memorializing the privileged and protected status of the Environmental Assessment and protecting the confidentiality of any such Environmental Assessment.
- (b) EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY SELLER'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, BUYER WAIVES AND RELEASES, AND AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND SAVE AND HOLD HARMLESS THE SELLER GROUP FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS OF ANY PERSON FOR INJURY TO, OR DEATH OF, ANY NATURAL PERSON OR FOR LOSSES INCURRED BY ANY PERSON TO THE EXTENT ARISING FROM ANY ACCESS AFFORDED TO BUYER, OR ANY OF ITS AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS IN CONNECTION WITH BUYER'S DUE DILIGENCE REVIEW, OR ANY ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ANY ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT, OF BUYER OR ANY SUCH AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. This Section 7.2(b) shall survive the Closing and any termination of this Agreement.

# 7.3 Notice of Environmental Defects.

As soon as reasonably possible after becoming aware of or making its determination of any Environmental Defect, but in no event later than the Defect Notice Deadline, Buyer shall notify Seller in writing of any Environmental Defect with respect to the Assets (an "Environmental Defect Notice"). To give Seller an opportunity to commence reviewing and curing alleged Environmental Defects asserted by Buyer, Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to give Seller, on or before the end of each calendar week prior to the Defect Notice Deadline, written notice of all alleged Environmental Defects discovered by Buyer during such calendar week, which notice may be preliminary in nature and supplemented prior to the Defect Notice Deadline (provided that failure to deliver any such preliminary notice shall not be deemed to waive Buyer's right to assert an Environmental Defect on or before the Defect Notice Deadline). To be effective, the Environmental Defect Notice shall be in writing and must include (i) a reasonably detailed description of the Environmental Defect (including the applicable Environmental Law violated or implicated thereby), (ii) identification of the Asset(s) affected by the alleged Environmental Defect (a "Environmental Defect Property"), (iii) the curative actions Buyer reasonably anticipates are required to remediate or resolve such Environmental Defect, (iv) the estimated Environmental Defect Value attributable thereto, and (v) appropriate documentation reasonably necessary and available for Seller to substantiate Buyer's claim and calculation of the Environmental Defect Value. The "Environmental Defect Value" means, with respect to each Environmental Defect, the amount of the Lowest Cost Response for such Environmental Defect (net to Seller's collective interests in the Assets). Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall there be any adjustment to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies available in respect of Environmental Defects unless (x) the Environmental Defect Value for any individual Environmental Defect Property exceeds \$25,000 (the "Individual Environmental Defect Threshold") provided, however, that the Environmental Defect Value shall be deemed to meet the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold in either of the following cases: (i) if a single Environmental Defect affects more than one asset, the aggregate sum of the Environmental Defect Values for all assets affected by such Environmental Defect meets or exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, or (ii) in the case of multiple instances of violation of the same Environmental Law (such as lack of required air permits or proof of air Permit-by-Rule qualification with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality), the aggregate sum of the Environmental Defect Values for all such common Environmental Defects meets or exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, and (y) the amount of all such Environmental Defect Values in the aggregate (excluding any Environmental Defect Values with respect to Environmental Defects cured by Seller) exceeds 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold"), after which point, Buyer shall be entitled to adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies elected by Seller in accordance with Section 7.4 with respect to the full amount of all such Environmental Defect Values (i.e., "dollarone" recovery). For the avoidance of doubt, if the Environmental Defect Value for an Environmental Defect exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, the entire Environmental Defect shall be taken into account for purposes of determining the reduction to the Base Purchase Price.

(b) Any matter that could be, but was not, asserted as an Environmental Defect by Buyer in accordance with Section 7.3(a) at or prior to the Defect Notice Deadline shall be and is hereby conclusively waived by Buyer, and Buyer shall not be entitled to any adjustment pursuant to Section 3.3 for such Environmental Defect or to exclude the Asset affected by such Environmental Defect. Except with respect to Buyer's rights under Article XV, Buyer shall have no recourse with respect to any Environmental Defect if: (i) Buyer fails to provide written notice to Seller of such Environmental Defect in accordance with Section 7.3(a) on or before the Defect Notice Deadline; or (ii) the Environmental Defect Value with respect to such Environmental Defect is less than the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold.

- (c) Upon timely delivery of an Environmental Defect Notice by Buyer:
- (i) within 5 days after Seller's receipt of an Environmental Defect Notice, Seller shall notify Buyer whether Seller agrees with Buyer's claimed Environmental Defect and/or the proposed Environmental Defect Value therefor ("Seller's Environmental Response"). If Seller does not agree with any claimed Environmental Defect and/or the proposed Environmental Defect Value therefor, then the Parties shall enter into good faith negotiations and shall attempt to agree on such matters; and
- (ii) if the Parties cannot reach agreement concerning the existence of an Environmental Defect, an Environmental Defect Value or whether or not an Environmental Defect has been Remediated (any dispute with respect to the foregoing matters, collectively "Environmental Disputes"), upon either Party's request, the Environmental Disputes shall be submitted to an attorney with at least 10 years' experience in environmental matters involving oil and gas properties in Texas (the "Environmental Consultant") to exclusively and finally resolve all points of disagreement relating to Environmental Defects, Environmental Defect Values and Remediation, applying standards customarily applied by reasonable and prudent operators of oil and gas properties in the areas where the Assets are located. If the Parties are unable to agree on the selection of the Environmental Consultant within 10 Business Days of the Parties agreeing to submit an Environmental Dispute to the Environmental Consultant for determination or, in the case where the Parties have not so agreed, the Parties shall request the AAA make the necessary appointment within 10 Business Days (which Environmental Consultant shall not have worked as an employee, outside counsel or as a consultant for any Party or its Affiliates during the 5 year period preceding the arbitration or have any financial interest in the dispute). Each Party shall present a written statement of its position on the Environmental Defect and/or Environmental Defect Value in question to the Environmental Consultant within 2 days after the Environmental Consultant is selected, and the Environmental Consultant shall make a determination of all points of disagreement in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement within 10 days of receipt of such position statements. Each Party shall bear its own legal fees and other costs of presenting its case to the Environmental Consultant. In making its determination, the Environmental Consultant shall be bound by the terms of this Article VII and, subject to the foregoing, may consider such other matters as in the opinion of the Environmental Consultant are necessary to make a proper determination. The Environmental Consultant shall act for the limited purpose of determining the specific Environmental Disputes submitted by either Party and may not award damages, interest or penalties to either Party with respect to any Environmental Dispute. The determination by the Environmental Consultant shall be conclusive and binding on the Parties, and shall be enforceable against any Party in any court of competent jurisdiction. Once the Environmental Consultant's determination has been expressed to both Parties, Seller shall advise Buyer in writing as soon as reasonably practicable before the Closing which of the options available to Seller under Section 7.4 that Seller elects regarding each of the Assets as to which the Environmental Consultant has made a determination. The cost of any Environmental Consultant shall be paid one-half by Seller and one-half by Buyer. If at any time the Environmental Consultant fails or refuses to perform hereunder, a new Environmental Consultant shall be chosen by the Parties in accordance with this Section 7.3(c)(ii).

- (iii) Seller shall have the right, but not the obligation, to Remediate or cure an Environmental Defect prior to the Closing by giving written notice to Buyer to that effect within 5 days after Seller's receipt of an Environmental Defect Notice. If Seller elects to pursue Remediation or cure as set forth in this clause (iii), Seller shall implement such Remediation or cure in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and in a manner that is consistent with the Lowest Cost Response. If Seller elects to pursue Remediation or cure and:
  - (A) completes the Remediation or cure of an Environmental Defect prior to the Closing, the affected Assets shall be conveyed at Closing, and no Base Purchase Price adjustment will be made for such Environmental Defect;
  - (B) does not complete the Remediation or cure prior to the Closing, unless Seller elects to exclude such Asset(s) in accordance with this Section 7.4(a)(ii), then Seller shall convey the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and the Base Purchase Price shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Environmental Defect Value for such Asset(s); provided, however, that if Seller requests, and Buyer agrees (in its sole and absolute discretion), to allow Seller to complete the Remediation of the affected Asset(s) within [\*\*\*] after Closing, Seller shall convey the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and at the Closing, Buyer shall deposit into escrow with the Stock Escrow Agent the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the Environmental Defect Value for such Environmental Defect. If Seller is unable to complete the Remediation of the Environmental Defect within [\*\*\*] after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration attributable to the affected Assets to HighPeak. If Seller is able to complete the Remediation of the Environmental Defect within [\*\*\*] after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the shares of Common Stock equivalent to the Environmental Defect Value of the affected Assets to Seller. Seller shall remain liable for all Claims, Losses, Proceedings and Liabilities arising out of or in connection with such Environmental Defect until such time as such Remediation or cure is complete.

# 7.4 Rights and Remedies for Environmental Defects.

- (a) Subject to Section 7.3(a)-7.3(b), if there are Environmental Defects identified by Buyer in timely Environmental Defect Notices and Seller elects not to Remediate or cure by Closing, Seller shall (or in the case of Section 7.4(a)(ii), Buyer may) elect, at its sole discretion and subject to the applicable Individual Environmental Defect Threshold and the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold, to:
- (i) convey the entirety of the Assets subject to the Environmental Defect to Buyer at Closing, together with all associated Assets, and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller Designee at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Environmental Defect Value for such Environmental Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price; or

- (ii) if the aggregate amount of Environmental Defect Values (based on the amount(s) thereof asserted in good faith by Buyer) of all Environmental Defects affecting the same Asset exceed the Allocated Value of such Asset, at the option of either Seller or Buyer, Seller shall retain the affected Asset and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller Designee at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the Allocated Value of the applicable Environmental Defect Property, *divided by* (B) Reference Price (in which case, such Asset(s) shall become Excluded Asset(s)).
- (b) Seller and Buyer may, by mutual agreement, on an Asset by Asset basis agree that Seller will indemnify Buyer for the Environmental Defect affecting the Asset and convey the entirety of the Asset, together with all associated Assets, to Buyer at Closing.
- (c) Subject to Section 12.5 and Section 13.5, Closing shall proceed as to all of the Assets other than any such Assets to be retained by Seller. Buyer waives its right to assert any Environmental Defect for which Buyer has received an adjustment to the Base Purchase Price, or other remedy or resolution, in accordance with Section 7.4(a)-(b).

## ARTICLE VIII.

### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Seller represents and warrants as follows:

- 8.1 <u>Status of Formation</u>. Seller is comprised of limited liability companies duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of Texas.
- 8.2 <u>Authority.</u> Seller has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements, to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to transfer the Assets in the manner contemplated by this Agreement, and to undertake all of the obligations of Seller set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements by Seller, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not (a) violate any provision of Seller's certificate of incorporation or bylaws; (b) conflict with, breach or result in a material default (with due notice or lapse of time or both) or the creation of any lien or encumbrance or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any of the terms, conditions or provisions or any material note, bond, mortgage, indenture or agreement to which Seller is a party or by which Seller or any of the Assets are bound; (c) violate any judgment, order, ruling or decree applicable to Seller; or (d) violate any Law.
- 8.3 <u>Validity of Obligations</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Seller. This Agreement and the Related Agreements have each been duly executed and delivered by Seller, and any documents or instruments to be executed and delivered by Seller at Closing will be duly executed and delivered by Seller. This Agreement, the Related Agreements and any documents or instruments delivered by Seller at the Closing shall constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable in accordance with their terms.

8.4 <u>Authorizations for Expenditures</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.4</u>, there are no outstanding authorities for expenditure or other capital commitments to third parties that are binding on the Assets or Seller and could reasonably be expected to require expenditures by Seller after the Effective Time in excess of \$100,000, net to the interests of Seller.

## 8.5 Material Contracts.

- (a) <u>Schedule 2.1(c)</u> sets forth all Contracts of the type described below, in each case, which will be binding on the Assets or Buyer after the Closing (collectively, the "**Material Contracts**"):
- (i) any Contract that can reasonably be expected to result in aggregate payments by Seller of more than \$100,000, net to Seller's interest, during the current or any subsequent calendar year;
- (ii) any Contract that can reasonably be expected to result in aggregate revenues to Seller of more than \$100,000, net to Seller's interest, during the current or any subsequent calendar year;
- (iii) any Hydrocarbon purchase and sale, storage, marketing, transportation, processing, gathering, treatment, separation, compression, or similar Contract, except for any Contract that terminates or can be terminated by Seller on not greater than 30 days' notice;
- (iv) any Contract that is an indenture, mortgage, loan, credit agreement, sale-leaseback, guaranty of any obligation, bond, letter of credit or similar Contract;
- (v) any Contract that constitutes a lease under which Seller is the lessor or the lessee of real or personal property which lease involves an annual base rental of more than \$100,000, except for any Contract that terminates or can be terminated by Seller on not greater than 30 days' notice;
- (vi) any farmout or farmin agreement, participation agreement, partnership agreement, joint venture agreement, exploration agreement, development agreement, joint operating agreement, unit agreement, or similar Contract;
- (vii) any Contract that (A) contains or constitutes an area of mutual interest agreement or (B) includes non-competition restrictions or other similar restrictions on doing business;
- (viii) any Contract of Seller to sell, lease, exchange, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the Assets (other than with respect to production of Hydrocarbons in the ordinary course) from and after the Effective Time;
  - (ix) any Contract between Seller and any Affiliate of Seller that will not be terminated prior to Closing;

- (x) any Contract that contains calls upon or options to purchase production, or is a dedication of production or otherwise requires production to be transported processed or sold in a particular fashion or requires the payment of deficiency payments if specified production volume levels are not achieved;
- (xi) any Contract that would obligate Buyer to drill additional wells or conduct other material development operations after the Closing;
  - (xii) any Contract that provides for the maintenance of credit support by Seller;
  - (xiii) any Contract that is a seismic or other geophysical acquisition agreement;
- (xiv) any Contract relating to the pending acquisition (direct or indirect) by Seller of any material properties or any operating business or the capital stock of any other Person; and
  - (xv) any Contract related to the acquisition (direct or indirect) by Seller of the [\*\*\*].
- (b) The Material Contracts are in full force and effect as to Seller and, to Knowledge of Seller, each counterparty. There exists no default in any material respect under any Material Contract by Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, by any other Person that is a party to such Material Contract and no event has occurred that with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute any material default under any such Material Contract by Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other Person who is a party to such Material Contract. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, Seller has made available to Buyer complete copies of each Material Contract and all amendments thereto.
- 8.6 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.6</u>, there is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, that (a) relates to or may affect any of the Assets, or (b) challenges, or may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 8.7 <u>Permits</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.7</u>, Seller (a) has acquired all Permits from appropriate Governmental Authorities to conduct operations on the Assets in material compliance with applicable Laws, (b) all such Permits are in full force and effect and no Proceeding is pending or threatened to suspend, revoke or terminate any such Permit or declare any such Permit invalid, and (c) is in compliance in all material respects with all such Permits
- 8.8 Taxes. Except as set forth on Schedule 8.8, with respect to the Assets, (a) Seller has duly and timely filed all Tax Returns with respect to the Assets and such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects, (b) all material Asset Taxes (whether or not shown to be due on such returns) have been paid, (c) there is no dispute or Claim concerning any material amount of Tax or material item with respect to any Tax Return with respect to the Assets claimed or raised by any Tax authority, (d) there are no liens (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the Assets that arose in connection with any failure to pay any Tax, (e) none of the Assets is held in an arrangement that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income Tax purposes, and (f) there are no agreements or waivers currently in effect that provide for an extension of time with respect to the filing of any Tax Return of Seller or the assessment or collection of any Tax from Seller, in each case, with respect to the Assets.

- 8.9 Environmental Laws. Except as set forth on Schedule 8.9, (a) to the Knowledge of Seller, the Assets are being operated in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws, (b) there are no actions, suits or Proceedings pending, or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, by or before any Governmental Authority with respect to the Assets alleging material violations of, or material liabilities under, Environmental Laws, (c) Seller has received no written notice from any Person of any alleged or actual material violation or non-compliance with, or material liability under, any Environmental Law or of material non-compliance with the terms or conditions of any environmental Permits, related to the Assets, (d) to the Knowledge of Seller, none of the Assets are subject to any unfulfilled Orders, consent decrees, or agreements with any Governmental Authority related to Environmental Laws, and (e) to the Knowledge of Seller, there have been no Releases of Hazardous Materials on, from, under, or to the Assets that could reasonably be expected to give rise to material Liabilities, under Environmental Law. Seller has made available to Buyer all material Records in its possession or control related to environmental matters concerning the Assets.
- 8.10 <u>Preferential Purchase Rights</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.10</u>, none of the Assets, or any portion thereof, is subject to any Preferential Rights.
- 8.11 <u>Consents</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.11</u>, there are no approvals, consents, ratifications, waivers, or other authorizations (including by any Governmental Authority) from any person that is applicable to the transfer of the Assets by Seller to Buyer or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Agreements.
- 8.12 <u>Payments for Production and Non-Consent Operations</u>. Seller is not obligated by virtue of any take-or-pay payment, advance payment, or other similar payment to deliver Hydrocarbons, or proceeds from the sale thereof, attributable to the Leases, Wells or Units at some future time without receiving payment therefor at or after the time of delivery. No operations are being conducted or have been conducted on the Assets with respect to which Seller has elected to be a non-consenting party under the applicable operating agreement.
- 8.13 <u>Broker's Fees</u>. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Agreements based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller.
- 8.14 <u>Bankruptcy Proceedings</u>. There are no bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or receivership actions pending, being contemplated by, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller.
- 8.15 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 8.15</u>, Seller has not received of any written notice from any third party alleging a violation of Laws relating to the Assets. The Assets are in compliance in all material respects with all Laws.

- 8.16 <u>Production Imbalances</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.16</u>, neither Seller nor any of its predecessors in title have collectively taken more ("**Over-Produced**") or less ("**Under-Produced**") production from the Wells located on such property (or on the Units in which such property participates) than the ownership of Seller and such predecessors in such property would entitle Seller and such predecessors (absent any gas balancing agreement or arrangement) to receive. For each property listed on <u>Schedule 8.16</u>, such Schedule reflects (a) whether Seller is in an Over-Produced or Under-Produced position, and (b) the amount of such Over-Production or Under-Production.
- 8.17 <u>Suspense Funds; Royalties; Expenses.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.17</u>, Seller does not hold any third party funds in suspense with respect to production of Hydrocarbons from any of the Assets (collectively, "Suspense Funds") other than amounts less than the statutory minimum amount that Seller is permitted to accumulate prior to payment. Except for Suspense Funds, Seller has properly and timely paid all royalties, overriding royalties, and other burdens upon, measured by, or payable out of production and other interest owners' revenues or proceeds attributable to sales of Hydrocarbons produced from or attributable to the Assets in accordance with applicable Leases and Laws, in each case, due by Seller. Subject to the foregoing, no material expenses (including bills for labor, materials and supplies used or furnished for use in connection with the Assets) are owed and delinquent in payment by Seller that relate to the ownership or operation of the Assets.
- 8.18 Wells. There is no Well included in the Assets drilled by Seller or its Affiliates that has been drilled and completed in a manner that is not within the limits permitted by all applicable Laws, Leases and Contracts. No Well operated by Seller or its Affiliates, and to the Knowledge of Seller no other Well, is subject to material penalties on allowable production because of any overproduction or any other violation of applicable Laws that would prevent any Well from being entitled to its full legal and regular allowable production from and after the Effective Time. Schedule 8.18 contains a list of the status as of the date(s) set forth in such Schedule, of any "payout" balance for the Wells that are subject to a reversion or other adjustment at some level of cost recovery or payout (or passage of time or other event other than termination of a Lease by its terms). Seller has not received written notice from any Governmental Authority or other third parties to plug or abandon any Wells. To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no Wells that the operator thereof is currently obligated by applicable Law to plug and abandon that have not been plugged and abandoned in accordance in all material respects with applicable Law. To the Knowledge of Seller, the Wells that are neither in use for purposes of production or injection, nor temporarily suspended or temporarily abandoned in accordance with applicable Law, have been plugged and abandoned to the extent required by, and in accordance in all material respects with, applicable Law.
- 8.19 <u>Bonds. Schedule 8.19 lists all bonds, letters of credit, guarantees, cash deposits and other similar credit support instruments currently maintained by Seller or any of its Affiliates with respect to the Assets, true and complete copies of which have been made available to Buyer.</u>
- 8.20 <u>Leases</u>. There is no material default under any of the Leases, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates has received written notice from a lessor of any requirements or demands to drill additional wells on any of the Leases, which requirements or demands have not been resolved in writing, and no party to any Lease or any successor to the interest of such party has filed or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened to file any action to terminate, cancel, rescind or procure judicial reformation of any Lease.

- 8.21 <u>Related Assets</u>. To the Knowledge of Seller, each material Related Asset is in reasonable operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and is adequate for its current use. The Assets constitute and include all of the assets necessary for the conduct of Seller's ownership and operation of the Assets, as currently conducted, with respect to the ownership and operation of the Leases, Wells or Units.
- 8.22 Investor Status. Seller is an "accredited investor" as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act. Seller has such knowledge, skills and experience in business, financial and investment matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Common Stock. Seller is not acquiring Common Stock as a nominee or agent or otherwise for any other person and was not formed for the purpose of acquiring the Common Stock. Seller understands and accepts that the acquisition of the Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration involves various risks and uncertainties, many of which are summarized in HighPeak's filings with the SEC. Seller represents that it is able to bear any loss associated with an investment in the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration.
- 8.23 <u>Independent Evaluation of Investment</u>. With the assistance of Seller's own professional advisors, to the extent that Seller has deemed appropriate, Seller has made its own legal, tax, accounting and financial evaluation of the merits and risks of an investment in the Common Stock. Seller confirms that it is not relying on any communication (written or oral) of HighPeak or any of its affiliates, as investment or tax advice or as a recommendation to acquire the Common Stock. It is understood that information and explanations related to the terms and conditions of the securities provided in this Agreement or otherwise by HighPeak or any of its affiliates will not be considered investment or tax advice or a recommendation to acquire HighPeak's securities, and that neither HighPeak nor any of its affiliates is acting or has acted as an advisor to Seller in deciding to invest in HighPeak's securities. In accepting the Common Stock, Seller has made its own independent decision that an investment in the Common Stock is suitable and appropriate for Seller. Seller has had access to such information concerning HighPeak, Buyer and the Common Stock and confirms it has been offered the opportunity to ask questions of HighPeak and Buyer and receive answers thereto as it deems necessary to enable it to make an informed investment decision concerning the acquisition of the Common Stock.
- 8.24 <u>No Review.</u> Seller understands that no federal or state agency has passed upon the merits of an investment in the Common Stock or made any finding or determination concerning the fairness or advisability of such an investment.
- 8.25 Ownership of the Assets. No Affiliate of Seller nor any employee of Seller or any such Affiliates owns any right, title, or interest in and to any assets which, if owned by Seller, would constitute an Asset which to which value has been allocated on Schedule 3.4. Alamo I is the sole owner of the assets subject to the Put/Call Agreement.

Scope of Representations of Seller. EXCEPT AS AND TO THE EXTENT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE VIII OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY, SELLER DOES NOT MAKE, SELLER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS, AND PURCHASER WAIVES AND REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT PURCHASER HAS NOT RELIED UPON, ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, STATEMENTS OR COMMUNICATIONS (ORALLY OR IN WRITING), EXPRESS, STATUTORY, OR IMPLIED, IN THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE RELATED AGREEMENTS OR IN ANY DOCUMENT OR INSTRUMENT DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH, INCLUDING ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR OTHER STATEMENT, ORAL OR WRITTEN, AS TO (i) TITLE TO ANY OF THE ASSETS; (ii) THE PRESENCE, QUALITY AND QUANTITY OF HYDROCARBON RESERVES (IF ANY) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ASSETS, INCLUDING SEISMIC DATA AND SELLER'S INTERPRETATION AND OTHER ANALYSIS THEREOF; (iii) THE ABILITY OF THE ASSETS TO PRODUCE HYDROCARBONS, INCLUDING PRODUCTION RATES, DECLINE RATES AND RECOMPLETION OPPORTUNITIES; (iv) PAYOUT ACCOUNT INFORMATION, ALLOWABLES, OR OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS; (v) THE PRESENT OR FUTURE VALUE OF THE ANTICIPATED INCOME, COSTS OR PROFITS, IF ANY, TO BE DERIVED FROM THE ASSETS; (vi) ANY PROJECTIONS AS TO EVENTS THAT COULD OR COULD NOT OCCUR; (vii) THE TAX ATTRIBUTES OF ANY ASSET; OR (viii) INFORMATION CONTAINED IN ANY OPINION, INFORMATION OR ADVICE THAT MAY HAVE BEEN PROVIDED TO BUYER BY ANY EMPLOYEE, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, AGENT, CONSULTANT, ENGINEER OR ENGINEERING FIRM, TRUSTEE, REPRESENTATIVE, PARTNER, MEMBER, BENEFICIARY, STOCKHOLDER, AFFILIATE OR CONTRACTOR OF SELLER WHEREVER AND HOWEVER MADE, INCLUDING THOSE MADE IN ANY DATA ROOM OR INTERNET SITE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTS OR AMENDMENTS THERETO OR DURING ANY NEGOTIATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RELATED AGREEMENTS; AND SELLER FURTHER DISCLAIMS, AND PURCHASER WAIVES, ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR OTHER STATEMENT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR CONFORMITY TO MODELS OR SAMPLES OF MATERIALS OR ANY EQUIPMENT, IT BEING EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY THE PARTIES HERETO THAT, EXCEPT AS AND TO THE EXTENT EXPRESSLY REPRESENTED OTHERWISE IN THIS ARTICLE VIII OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY, THE ASSETS ARE BEING TRANSFERRED "AS IS, WHERE IS," WITH ALL FAULTS AND DEFECTS, AND THAT PURCHASER HAS MADE OR CAUSED TO BE MADE SUCH INSPECTIONS AS PURCHASER DEEMS APPROPRIATE. PURCHASER SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR DUTY BY SELLER OR ANY OF SELLER'S AFFILIATES TO MAKE ANY DISCLOSURES OF FACT NOT REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED PURSUANT TO THE EXPRESS REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE ASSIGNMENT AND BILL OF SALE, AND PURCHASER EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES AND COVENANTS THAT PURCHASER DOES NOT HAVE, WILL NOT HAVE, AND WILL NOT ASSERT ANY CLAIM, DAMAGES, OR EQUITABLE REMEDIES WHATSOEVER AGAINST SELLER OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES EXCEPT FOR BREACH OF AN EXPRESS REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR COVENANT OF SELLER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY. ANY AND ALL DATA, RECORDS, REPORTS, PROJECTIONS, INFORMATION, AND OTHER MATERIALS (WRITTEN OR ORAL) FURNISHED BY SELLER OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE OR DISCLOSED TO BUYER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE RELATED AGREEMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND THEREBY ARE PROVIDED TO BUYER AS A CONVENIENCE AND SHALL NOT CREATE OR GIVE RISE TO ANY LIABILITY OF OR AGAINST SELLER, AND ANY RELIANCE ON OR USE OF THE SAME SHALL BE AT BUYER'S SOLE RISK TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW.

8.27 Physical Condition of Assets. THE ASSETS HAVE BEEN USED FOR OIL AND GAS DRILLING AND PRODUCTION OPERATIONS AND POSSIBLY FOR THE STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF WASTE MATERIALS OR HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES RELATED TO STANDARD OIL FIELD OPERATIONS. PHYSICAL CHANGES IN OR UNDER THE ASSETS OR ADJACENT LANDS MAY HAVE OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SUCH USES. THE ASSETS ALSO MAY CONTAIN BURIED PIPELINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT, WHETHER OR NOT OF A SIMILAR NATURE, THE LOCATIONS OF WHICH MAY NOT NOW BE KNOWN BY SELLER OR BE READILY APPARENT BY A PHYSICAL INSPECTION OF THE ASSETS. IN ADDITION, BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SOME OIL FIELD PRODUCTION EQUIPMENT LOCATED ON THE ASSETS MAY CONTAIN NORM. IN THIS REGARD, BUYER EXPRESSLY UNDERSTANDS THAT NORM MAY AFFIX OR ATTACH ITSELF TO THE INSIDE OF WELLS, MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT AS SCALE OR IN OTHER FORMS, AND THAT WELLS, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT LOCATED ON THE ASSETS DESCRIBED HEREIN MAY CONTAIN NORM AND THAT NORM CONTAINING MATERIALS MAY BE BURIED OR HAVE BEEN OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF ON THE ASSETS. BUYER ALSO EXPRESSLY UNDERSTANDS THAT SPECIAL PROCEDURES MAY BE REQUIRED FOR THE REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ASBESTOS AND NORM FROM THE ASSETS WHERE THEY MAY BE FOUND.

## ARTICLE IX.

## REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER PARTIES

Buyer, with respect to itself only, and HighPeak, with respect to itself only, as applicable, represent and warrant as follows:

- 9.1 <u>Status of Formation</u>. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do business in the State of Texas. HighPeak is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do business in the State of Texas.
- 9.2 <u>Authority</u>. Each of Buyer and HighPeak (collectively, the "**Buyer Parties**") have the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements, to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby and to undertake all of their respective obligations set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements by each of Buyer and HighPeak, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not (a) violate any provision of the certificate of formation or incorporation, limited liability company agreement, bylaws, or other organizational documents of the Buyer Parties, as applicable, (b) conflict with, breach or result in a material default (with due notice or lapse of time or both) or the creation of any lien or encumbrance or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any of the terms, conditions or provisions or any material note, bond, mortgage, indenture or agreement to which Buyer or HighPeak is a party or by which Buyer or HighPeak is bound; (c) violate any judgment, order, ruling or decree applicable to Buyer or HighPeak; or (d) violate any Law.

- 9.3 <u>Validity of Obligations</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Buyer and HighPeak. This Agreement and the Related Agreements have each been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and HighPeak, and any documents or instruments to be executed and delivered by Buyer or HighPeak at Closing will be duly executed and delivered by such Person. This Agreement, the Related Agreements and any documents or instruments delivered by Buyer or HighPeak at the Closing shall constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Person, enforceable in accordance with their terms.
- 9.4 <u>Qualification and Bonding</u>. Buyer is in compliance with the bonding and liability insurance requirements in accordance with all applicable Laws. Buyer is and henceforth will continue to be qualified to own any federal, Indian or state oil and gas leases that constitute part of the Assets.
- 9.5 <u>Non-Security Acquisition</u>. Buyer intends to acquire the Assets for its own benefit and account and is not acquiring said Assets with the intent of distributing fractional undivided interests thereof such as would be subject to regulation by federal or state securities Laws, and that if, in the future, it should sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of said Assets or fractional undivided interests therein, it will do so in compliance with any applicable federal and state securities Laws.
- 9.6 Evaluation. Buyer has, or by Closing will have, made its own independent investigation, analysis and evaluation of the Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements (including Buyer's own estimate and appraisal of the extent and value of Seller's Hydrocarbon reserves attributable to the Assets and an independent assessment and appraisal of the environmental risks and liabilities associated with the acquisition of the Assets). In entering into this Agreement and the Related Agreements and consummating the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, Buyer has relied, and will rely, solely upon its own independent investigation, verification, analysis and evaluation of the Assets and has not relied on any representations or warranties by Seller other than those expressly set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 9.7 <u>Financing.</u> Buyer will have sufficient shares of Common Stock or other sources of immediately available funds to enable it to pay the Base Purchase Price to Seller at the Closing.
- 9.8 <u>Broker's Fees.</u> No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer or HighPeak.

# 9.9 <u>Capitalization of HighPeak</u>

(a) The authorized capital stock of HighPeak consists of 600,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "HighPeak Preferred Stock"). All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued in accordance with HighPeak's Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation"), HighPeak's Bylaws (the "Bylaws"), or under the laws of the State of Delaware, are fully paid and nonassessable.

- (b) As of the Closing, the Stock Consideration will be duly authorized in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, and, when issued and delivered pursuant to this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will be issued free and clear of any lien or claim and will not have been issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or first offer or similar rights created under the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or under the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (c) HighPeak has all requisite power and authority to issue and deliver the Stock Consideration to Seller in accordance with and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. As of the Effective Time, all corporate action for the authorization, issuance, transfer and delivery of the Stock Consideration to Seller Designee shall have been validly taken, and no other authorization by any Person is required therefor.
- 9.10 <u>Nasdaq Listing</u>. HighPeak has not received any notice from Nasdaq of delisting or noncompliance with the applicable listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the Nasdaq, except as disclosed in the SEC Filings. The issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "**Exchange Act**"), and are listed for trading on the Nasdaq. HighPeak is in compliance with all applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq. No judgment, order, ruling, decree, injunction or award of any securities commission or similar securities regulatory authority or any other Governmental Authority, or of the Nasdaq, preventing or suspending trading in any shares of Common Stock has been issued. There is no suit, action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of HighPeak, contemplated or threatened against HighPeak by any securities commission or similar securities regulatory authority or any other Governmental Authority, or of the Nasdaq, with respect to any intention by such entity to deregister the shares of Common Stock or prohibit, prevent, suspend or terminate the listing of the shares of Common Stock on the Nasdaq. HighPeak has taken no action that is designed to terminate the registration of the Common Stock under the Exchange Act.

# 9.11 SEC Filings

(a) HighPeak has timely filed or furnished with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") all forms, reports, certifications, prospectuses, proxy statements, registration statements, schedules, statements, and other documents required to be filed or furnished by it since January 1, 2021 under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and all other federal securities laws. All such forms, reports, certifications, prospectuses, proxy statements, registration statements, schedules, statements, and other documents are herein collectively referred to as the "SEC Filings". The SEC Filings, at the time filed or furnished, (i) complied in all material respects with applicable requirements of federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder and (ii) did not, at the time they were filed (except to the extent corrected or superseded by a subsequent SEC Filing), include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of the Effective Time, there are no outstanding or unresolved comments received from the SEC staff with respect to the SEC Filings. HighPeak has not received any notification that any of the SEC Filings is the subject of ongoing SEC review or investigation.

- (b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes and schedules thereto) contained in or incorporated by reference into the SEC Filings: (i) complied in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as of their respective dates; (ii) was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, as may be permitted by the SEC for quarterly reports on Form 10-Q); and (iii) fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial position and the results of operations, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows of HighPeak and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the respective dates of and for the periods referred to in such financial statements, subject, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, to normal and year-end audit adjustments as permitted by the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.
- (c) Neither HighPeak nor any of its consolidated subsidiaries has any liabilities of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent, absolute or otherwise, that would be required to be set forth or reserved for on a balance sheet of HighPeak prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for liabilities (i) as and to the extent specifically disclosed, reflected or reserved against in HighPeak's consolidated balance sheet (or the notes thereto) as of December 31, 2020, included in the SEC Filing filed or furnished prior to the date hereof, (ii) incurred in the ordinary course of business since December 31, 2020, (iii) incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, or (iv) that are immaterial to HighPeak and its consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- 9.12 <u>Securities Laws</u>. Assuming Seller's representations contained in this Agreement are true and correct, the offer and sale of the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration will be issued pursuant to an exemption from securities registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D as promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

# 9.13 Controls and Procedures.

- (a) HighPeak maintains "internal control over financial reporting" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) which is effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of HighPeak's financial reporting and the preparation of its financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.
- (b) HighPeak maintains "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HighPeak in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. HighPeak has carried out evaluations of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as required by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act and such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of HighPeak's most recently completed fiscal quarter.

- 9.14 <u>Absence of Certain Changes</u>. Since January 1, 2021, except as set forth in the SEC Filings filed as of the Effective Time, there has not occurred any material adverse effect or any event, occurrence, change, discovery or development of a state of circumstances or facts which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect.
- 9.15 Form S-3. As of the Execution Date, HighPeak is eligible to register the resale of the Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration by Seller Designee under Form S-3 promulgated under the Securities Act.

## ARTICLE X.

## CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER

Seller agrees and covenants that, unless Buyer shall have otherwise agreed in writing, the following provisions shall apply:

- Maintenance of Assets. Except (w) as set forth on Schedule 10.1, (x) for operations and activities contemplated by the Specified Operations, the Authorization for Expenditures set forth on Schedule 8.4, or pursuant to any Lease, Contract, or applicable Law, (y) as required in the event of an emergency to protect life, property or the environment, or (z) as permitted or contemplated by this Agreement, or otherwise consented to in writing by Buyer, Seller shall, from the Execution Date until the Closing Date:
- (a) Operate its business with respect to its ownership and operation of the Assets (if and as applicable) in the ordinary course of business consistent with Seller's recent practices with respect to the Assets, and in accordance with the applicable operating agreements and prudent industry practice, and fulfill all material contractual obligations and conditions imposed upon Seller with respect to the Assets, including payment of royalties, delay rentals, shut-in gas royalties and any and all material payments;
  - (b) Not introduce any new methods of management, operation or accounting with respect to any or all of the Assets;
  - (c) Not knowingly and voluntarily waive any material rights under, amend or terminate any material Contract;
- (d) Except to the extent necessary or advisable to avoid forfeiture or penalties, not enter into agreements to drill new wells or to rework, plug back, deepen, plug or abandon any Well, nor commence any drilling, reworking or completing or other operations on the Leases which requires expenditures exceeding \$100,000 net to Seller's interest for each operation; provided that the terms of this Section 10.1(d) shall not apply to any expenditures of Seller which will not be charged to Buyer;

- (e) Not voluntarily abandon any of the Wells other than as commercially reasonable or as required pursuant to the terms of a Lease or by regulation;
- (f) Not (i) enter into any agreement or arrangement transferring, selling or encumbering any of the Assets (other than in the ordinary course of business, including ordinary course sales of production or pursuant to any agreements existing on the date hereof); (ii) grant any Preferential Right or other right to purchase or agree to require the consent of any party not otherwise required to consent to the transfer and assignment of the Assets to Buyer; (iii) enter into any new sales contracts or supply contracts which cannot be cancelled upon 60 days prior notice; (iv) incur or agree to incur any contractual obligation or liability (absolute or contingent) with respect to the Assets except as otherwise provided herein (including ordinary course sales of production, inventory or salvage or with respect to any Assets with a value less than \$100,000 net to Seller's interest or pursuant to any disclosed authorizations for expenditures covering the Assets); or (v) remove any of the Related Assets from any Lease (except to move such Related Asset to another Lease); and
- (g) To the extent within the Knowledge of Seller, promptly provide Buyer with written notice of (i) any Claims, Proceedings or other occurrences which affect the Assets in any material respect; or (ii) any proposal from a third party to engage in any material transaction (e.g., a farmout) with respect to the Assets.
- 10.2 <u>Transfer Orders</u>. Seller shall execute as of the Closing Date all necessary or appropriate transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) relating to the Assets designating Buyer as the appropriate party for payment from and after the Closing.

# 10.3 Preferential Rights.

- (a) Without limiting the representation contained in <u>Section 8.10</u>, Seller agrees that it will (i) use reasonable efforts to identify all preferential rights to purchase, rights of first refusal, tag-along rights, drag-along rights and other similar rights (collectively, "**Preferential Rights**") applicable to the transaction contemplated hereby, and the names and addresses of such parties holding the same, and (ii) promptly following the date hereof offer to the parties so identified (and in accordance with the documents creating such rights) the opportunity to exercise such Preferential Rights.
- (b) If the holder of a Preferential Right properly exercises such right prior to Closing, Seller shall tender to such party the required interest in the affected Asset at a price equal to the Allocated Value (reduced appropriately, as determined by mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller, if less than the entire Asset must be tendered), and to the extent that such Preferential Right is exercised and such interest in such Asset is actually sold to the party so exercising such right, such interest in the Asset will be deemed an Excluded Asset and shall be excluded from the transaction contemplated hereby and the Base Purchase Price will be adjusted downward by the Allocated Value of the Asset affected by the Preferential Right.

- (c) If, on the Closing Date, the holder of a Preferential Right has not indicated whether or not it will exercise such Preferential Right and the time period within which the holder of the Preferential Right must exercise its right has not lapsed, then the affected Asset(s) subject to such Preferential Right shall be retained by Seller at Closing, the Stock Consideration shall be reduced by an amount equal to (i) the aggregate Allocated Value of the affected Assets, *divided by* (ii) the Reference Price, and the Closing shall occur on the remainder of the Assets. If, after the Closing, any Preferential Right is waived, or if the time period otherwise set forth for exercising such Preferential Right expires without exercise by the holder thereof, or any holder of a Preferential Right that elected to exercise such Preferential Right prior to Closing, fails or refuses to consummate the purchase of the affected Asset(s), in each case within [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, then Seller shall promptly thereafter delivery conveyances of the Asset(s) subject to such Preferential Rights to Buyer and Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount in cash equal to the Allocated Value of such Asset(s) in accordance with wire transfer instructions provided by Seller (subject to the adjustments set forth in Section 3.3).
- 10.4 <u>Specified Operations</u>. Prior to Closing, Seller shall conduct and complete the operations as set forth on "Part A" of <u>Schedule 10.4</u> in a good and workmanlike manner to Buyer's reasonable satisfaction, including appropriate data supporting the calculation of amounts presented for reimbursement (the "**Specified Operations**"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Buyer shall bear all costs of the Specified Operations (the "**Specified Operations Caps**") not to exceed \$[\*\*\*] (the "**Specified Operations Cap**"). From and after the point that Seller has incurred or exceeded the Specified Operations Cap, Seller shall be required to pay or bear any costs, expenses, or other obligations relating to the Specified Operations in excess of the Specified Operations Cap. If Seller fully complies with the terms and provisions of this <u>Section 10.4</u>, Buyer shall, at Closing, release Seller from its obligations to pay \$[\*\*\*] associated with Seller's share of the costs and expenses for operations conducted by Buyer described on "Part B" of <u>Schedule 10.4</u>, reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by the amount of Specified Operations Costs incurred by Seller exceeding \$[\*\*\*] but below the Specified Operations Cap, if any.
- 10.5 <u>Leasing Operations</u>. Prior to Closing, Seller shall have the right to conduct additional leasing efforts, as more particularly described on <u>Schedule 10.5</u> (the "**Leasing Operations**"). [\*\*\*]. Between signing and Closing, except as set forth in this <u>Section 10.5</u>, neither Seller nor its affiliates or representatives may conduct additional leasing efforts within the Assigned Area without the prior written consent of Buyer (which may be withheld in Buyer's sole discretion).
- 10.6 Records and Contracts. Seller shall have the right, at its sole cost and risk, to make and retain copies of the Records and Contracts as Seller may desire prior to the delivery of the Records and Contracts to Buyer. Buyer, for a period of 5 years after the Closing Date (or for such longer period as corresponds to an applicable statute of limitations, as may have been extended by a relevant Governmental Authority), shall make available to Seller (at the location of such Records and Contracts in Buyer's organization and during normal business hours) access to the Records and Contracts upon written request of Seller. In the event there are Records and Contracts that apply to both Assets and Excluded Assets, Seller may retain the originals of such Records and Contracts and provide copies thereof to Buyer.
- 10.7 <u>Delivery of Assets</u>. All tangible personal property included in the Assets, including Records, Contracts and Permits (or completed applications therefor, if applicable), shall be made available by Seller on the Closing Date at their existing locations, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties.

10.8 <u>Delivery of Lease Assignments</u>. Seller shall at the Closing execute and deliver to Buyer all assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority relating to or included in the Assets.

### 10.9 Reserved.

- 10.10 <u>Cooperation</u>. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) assist Buyer in carrying out the obligations of Buyer pursuant to <u>Article XI</u> and (b) satisfy the conditions to Closing set forth in <u>Article XII</u>.
- 10.11 <u>Successor Operator</u>. From and after the date hereof, Seller will, for the account and at the expense of Buyer, exercise commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer to become operator of the Assets, but not the Excluded Assets; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Seller does not warrant or guarantee that Buyer will become the operator of all or any portion of the Assets.
- 10.12 <u>Consents</u>. Seller shall initiate all procedures required to comply with or obtain all consents necessary or required for the transfer of the Assets, including sending written notices requesting such consents promptly following the date hereof in compliance with the contractual provisions thereto. If the Asset is subject to a Restriction, then notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary the transfer of title to, or interest in, such portion of the Assets shall not become effective unless and until such Restriction is satisfied or waived by the Parties and the parties to such instrument, or becomes otherwise inoperable or unenforceable. If Seller fails to obtain any consent necessary or required for the transfer of any Asset to Buyer prior to Closing, then Seller's failure shall be handled as follows:
- (a) If a consent does not contain a Restriction, then the affected Assets shall nevertheless be conveyed at the Closing to Buyer as part of the Assets, and no adjustments shall be made to the Base Purchase Price in respect thereof.
- (b) If the consent contains a Restriction, then the affected Assets shall, at Buyer's election, be retained by Seller or conveyed to Buyer at Closing. If such Assets are retained by Seller, then subject to Section 10.12(c), the Stock Consideration shall be adjusted downward by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the Allocated Value of such affected Assets, divided by (ii) the Reference Price, and the affected Assets shall be treated as Excluded Assets.
- (c) If, within [\*\*\*] after the Closing, Seller obtains a consent subject to Restrictions or Buyer otherwise elects to receive the affected Assets, then Seller shall promptly delivery conveyances of the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and Buyer shall pay Seller an amount in cash equal to the Allocated Value of the affected Asset(s) in accordance with wire transfer instructions provided by Seller (subject to the adjustments set forth in Section 3.3).
- 10.13 <u>Legends</u>. Seller understands that the Common Stock Consideration, including the Post-Closing Escrow, will be annotated with a legend (the "33 Act Legend") as required by the "blue sky" laws of any state and a restrictive legend in substantially the following form (and a stop-transfer order may be placed against transfer of such securities):

THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW. SUCH SECURITIES MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNLESS A REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT IS IN EFFECT AS TO SUCH TRANSFER OR IN THE OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO HIGHPEAK, SUCH TRANSFER MAY BE MADE PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OR REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT IS OTHERWISE UNNECESSARY IN ORDER FOR SUCH TRANSFER TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT.".

The 33 Act Legend shall be removed if (i) such Common Stock are registered for resale under the Securities Act (in which case an alternate prospectus delivery legend may apply), (ii) the initial Registration Statement (and any amendments thereto) prepared and filed with the SEC under the Securities Act has become or been declared effective under the Securities Act, (iii) in connection with a sale, assignment or other transfer, such holder provides the transfer agent for the Common Stock an opinion of counsel, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such transfer agent, to the effect that such sale, assignment or transfer of the Common Stock may be made without registration under the applicable requirements of the Securities Act, or (iv) the Common Stock can be sold, assigned or transferred pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act ("Rule 144"). HighPeak shall cooperate with the applicable holder of Common Stock to effect removal of the 33 Act Legend on such shares pursuant to this Section 10.13 as soon as reasonably practicable after delivery of notice from such holder that the conditions to removal are satisfied. HighPeak shall bear all direct costs and expenses associated with the removal of a 33 Act Legend pursuant to this Section 10.13.

In addition, the Post-Closing Escrow shall be annotated with a restrictive legend in substantially the following form (the "Escrow Legend") (and a stop-transfer order may be placed against transfer of such securities):

"THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO THE STOCK ESCROW AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, WHICH STOCK ESCROW AGREEMENT RESTRICTS THE RELEASE OF THESE SECURITIES FROM ESCROW. COPIES OF SUCH ESCROW AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST FROM THE SECRETARY OF HIGHPEAK."

HighPeak shall cooperate with the applicable holder of securities released from Post-Closing Escrow to effect the removal of the Escrow Legend as soon as reasonably practicable after the release of these securities from the Post-Closing Escrow under the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Stock Escrow Agreement.

# 10.14 Reserved.

10.15 <u>Seller Agreements</u>. For the duration of the Put/Call Agreement, Seller agrees that it shall not engage in any short sale, establish an open "put equivalent position" within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(h) under the Exchange Act, grant any option, right or warrant for the sale of, purchase any option or contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, any shares of Common Stock, enter into a transaction which would have the same effect, or enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Common Stock, whether any such aforementioned transaction is to be settled by delivery of the Common Stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, without, in each case, the prior written consent of HighPeak, which consent may be withheld in HighPeak's sole discretion.

### ARTICLE XI.

## CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER

Buyer agrees and covenants that, unless Seller shall have consented otherwise in writing, the following provisions shall apply:

- 11.1 <u>Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees</u>. The Parties understand that none of the insurance currently maintained by Seller or Seller's Affiliates covering the Assets, nor any of the bonds, letters of credit or guaranties, if any, posted by Seller or Seller's Affiliates with Governmental Authorities or co-owners and relating to the Assets will be transferred to Buyer. Buyer shall post, prior to Closing, the necessary bonds, or letters of credit and guarantees as required by any applicable Governmental Authorities or third parties, and provide Seller with a copy of same, and provide proof reasonably satisfactory to Seller that all applicable Governmental Authorities and third parties have accepted such bonds, letters of credit and/or guarantees as sufficient assurance to cover the plugging of all Wells and related matters. Should Buyer fail to obtain replacements for such bonds, letters of credit and guarantees in accordance with this Section 11.1, the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall be adjusted to reflect a credit to Seller in an amount equal to the total face value of any such obligations which are not cancelled or released to Seller.
- 11.2 <u>Seller's Logos</u>. Buyer shall promptly, but in no event later than the 30<sup>th</sup> day, after Closing, cover or cause to be covered by decals or new signage any names and marks used by Seller, and all variations and derivatives thereof and logos relating thereto, from the Assets and shall not thereafter make any use whatsoever of such names, marks and logos.
- 11.3 <u>Transfer Orders</u>. Buyer shall execute as of the Closing Date all necessary or appropriate transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) relating to the Assets designating Buyer as the appropriate party for payment from and after the Closing.
- 11.4 <u>Delivery of Lease Assignments</u>. Buyer shall at the Closing execute and deliver to Seller all assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority relating to or included in the Assets.
- 11.5 <u>Cooperation</u>. Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) assist Seller in carrying out the obligations of Seller pursuant to <u>Article X</u>, and (b) satisfy the conditions to Closing set forth in <u>Article XIII</u>.

## 11.6 Notification of Breaches.

- (a) Subject to, and without limitation of, the rights and remedies of the Parties set forth in this Agreement, between the Execution Date and the Closing Date, each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to notify the other Party promptly after such Party obtains actual knowledge that any representation or warranty of the other Party contained in this Agreement is untrue in any material respect or will be untrue in any material respect as of the Closing Date or that any covenant or agreement to be performed or observed by the other Party prior to or on the Closing Date has not been so performed or observed in any material respect. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall Buyer's failure to comply with this Section 11.6(a) modify, compromise or otherwise affect Buyer's rights under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 15.1 and Section 15.2). For the purposes of this Section 11.6(a), "actual knowledge" shall be limited (i) for Seller, to the Knowledge of Seller and (ii) for Buyer, to the actual knowledge of Kevin Smith, Ryan Hightower, Mike Hollis, Rodney Woodard, and Bruce Woodard, without any duty or obligation of investigation.
- (b) If any Party's representations or warranties are untrue or shall become untrue in any material respect between the Execution Date and the Closing Date, or if any Party's covenants or agreements to be performed or observed prior to or on the Closing Date shall not have been so performed or observed in any material respect, but if such breach of representation, warranty, covenant, or agreement shall (if curable) be cured by the Closing Date (or, if the Closing does not occur, by the Target Closing Date) to the reasonable satisfaction of the other Party, then such breach shall be considered not to have occurred for all purposes of this Agreement.
- 11.7 <u>Buyer Note</u>. On or before April 15, 2023, Buyer shall make a loan to Seller, upon not less than 30 days' advance notice from Seller, in an amount not to exceed \$25,000,000 ("**Buyer Note**"); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the maximum amount of the Buyer Note shall be reduced on a dollar-for-dollar basis by an amount equal to the Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds to the extent that Seller Group or any of their respective Affiliates has received Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds prior to the making of such Buyer Note. Buyer Note shall have the terms and conditions set forth in, and shall be in substantially the form of, <u>Exhibit E</u> hereto (or such other form as the parties may mutually agree).

### ARTICLE XII.

## CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER

The obligations of Buyer to consummate the Closing are subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Buyer) of each of the following conditions:

12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (a) All representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects, or, if any such representation or warranty is not expressly qualified by "materiality," then in all material respects, as of the Closing as if such representations and warranties were made as of the Closing Date (except for those representations or warranties that are expressly made only as of another specific date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects (or in all material respects, as applicable) as of such other date) except for such breaches or inaccuracies, if any, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Assets, as currently operated, taken as a whole; (b) Seller shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed by Seller at or prior to the Closing except for such breaches or failures to perform, if any, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Assets, as currently operated, taken as a whole; and (c) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate of an officer of Seller, dated the Closing Date, confirming the foregoing.

- 12.2 <u>No Litigation</u>. No third-party suit, action or other proceeding shall be pending before any court or Governmental Authority which attempts to prevent the occurrence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 12.3 <u>Governmental Consents</u>. All material consents and approvals of any Governmental Authority required for the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the Related Agreements, except consents and approvals by Governmental Authorities that are customarily obtained after closing, shall have been granted or received, or the necessary waiting period shall have expired, or early termination of the waiting period shall have been granted.
- 12.4 <u>Deliveries</u>. Seller shall deliver (or be ready, willing, and able to deliver at Closing) to Buyer duly executed counterparts of the documents and certificates to be delivered by Seller under <u>Section 4.2</u>.
- 12.5 <u>Impairments</u>. The sum of (without duplication of any amounts) (i) the aggregate amount of Title Defect Values for all Title Defects exceeding the Individual Title Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold), *plus* (ii) the aggregate amount of all Environmental Defect Values for all Environmental Defect sexceeding the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold), *plus* (iii) the aggregate downward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to <u>Section 10.3</u> and <u>Section 10.12</u>, *plus* (iv) the aggregate amount of Casualty Losses, does not equal or exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price.

## ARTICLE XIII.

# CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER

The obligations of Seller to consummate the Closing are subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Seller) of each of the following conditions:

- 13.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (a) All representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects, or, if any such representation or warranty is not expressly qualified by "materiality," then in all material respects, as of the Closing, as if such representations and warranties were made as of the Closing Date (except for those representations or warranties that are expressly made only as of another specific date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects (or in all material respects, as applicable) as of such other date); (b) Buyer shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed by Buyer at or prior to the Closing; and (c) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a certificate of an officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, confirming the foregoing.
- 13.2 <u>No Litigation</u>. No third-party suit, action or other proceeding shall be pending before any court or Governmental Authority which attempts to prevent the occurrence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.

- 13.3 <u>Governmental Consents</u>. All material consents and approvals of any Governmental Authority required for the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the Related Agreements, except consents and approvals by Governmental Authorities that are customarily obtained after closing, shall have been granted or received, or the necessary waiting period shall have expired, or early termination of the waiting period shall have been granted.
- 13.4 <u>Deliveries</u>. Buyer shall deliver (or be ready, willing, and able to deliver at Closing) to Seller duly executed counterparts of the documents and certificates to be delivered by Buyer under <u>Section 4.3</u>.
- 13.5 <u>Impairments</u>. The sum of (without duplication of any amounts) (i) the aggregate amount of Title Defect Values for all Title Defects exceeding the Individual Title Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold), *plus* (ii) the aggregate amount of all Environmental Defect Values for all Environmental Defects exceeding the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold), *plus* (iii) the aggregate downward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to <u>Section 10.3</u> and <u>Section 10.12</u>, *plus* (iv) the aggregate amount of Casualty Losses, does not equal or exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price.
- 13.6 <u>Nasdaq Listing</u>. The shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the Closing shall have been approved for listing on the Nasdaq subject to official notice of issuance.

## ARTICLE XIV.

## **TERMINATION**

- 14.1 <u>Causes of Termination</u>. This Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
  - (a) By the mutual written consent of the Parties;
  - (b) By Seller, if Buyer fails to timely pay the Deposit to the Deposit Escrow Agent pursuant to Section 3.1;
- (c) By either Party if the Closing shall not have occurred by the Drop Dead Date; <u>provided</u> that no Party may terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 14.1(c)</u> if such Party's breach of this Agreement has prevented the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; or
- (d) By either Party if there shall have been entered a final, nonappealable order or injunction of any court or Governmental Authority restraining or prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or any material part thereof.

14.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to or as contemplated by <u>Section 14.1</u>, this Agreement shall become void and have no further force and effect and neither Party shall have any further right, duty or liability to the other hereunder except (a) with respect to the indemnities provided for in Section 15.4, (b) under the confidentiality agreement between Seller and Buyer, (c) by reason of a breach of any covenant contained in this Agreement prior to such termination and (d) as otherwise provided in this Section 14.2. Upon termination, Buyer agrees to return to Seller or destroy all materials, documents and copies thereof provided, obtained or discovered in the course of any due diligence investigations. In the event this Agreement terminates under Section 14.1 and either Party has willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, then (i) if Buyer is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, including, without limitation, any breach by Buyer of Section 9.7 or Buyer's failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Drop Dead Date, Seller shall, as its sole and exclusive remedy at law or in equity, be entitled to the Deposit as liquidated damages, and (ii) if Seller is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, Buyer shall be entitled to, as its sole remedy at law or in equity, return of the Deposit except as otherwise provided in the immediately following sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, if Seller is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, including with respect to [\*\*\*], Buyer may elect not to terminate this Agreement and may enforce the terms of this Agreement through specific performance. If Buyer elects to seek specific performance of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 14.2, the Deposit shall remain in escrow until a nonappealable final judgment or award on Buyer's claim for specific performance is rendered, at which time the Deposit shall be distributed as provided in the judgment or award resolving the specific performance claim or shall be applied as provided in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. Seller hereby agrees not to raise any objections to the availability of the equitable remedy of specific performance to specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement or to enforce compliance with the covenants and agreements of Seller under this Agreement. Buyer shall not be required to provide any bond or other security or make a showing of irreparable injury in connection with seeking an injunction or injunctions to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement. The Parties further agree that (x) by seeking the remedies provided for in this paragraph, including by the institution of a court proceeding, Buyer shall not in any respect waive their right to seek any other form of relief that may be available to it under this Agreement (including those set forth in this Section 14.2) in the event that the remedies provided for in this paragraph are not available or otherwise are not granted, and (y) nothing set forth in this paragraph shall require Buyer to institute any Proceeding for (or limit Buyer's right to institute a Proceeding for) specific performance prior or as a condition to exercising any termination right under this Article XIV, nor shall the commencement of any Proceeding pursuant to this paragraph restrict or limit Buyer's right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with this Article XIV. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Buyer is not successful in seeking to specifically enforce this Agreement pursuant to this Section 14.2, Buyer shall be entitled to the Deposit in accordance with this Section 14.2. Notwithstanding the above terms of this Section 14.2, if this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than due to Buyer's breach or willful or negligent failure to perform or observe in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, agreements or covenants contained herein as described above in this Section 14.2, then, subject to Buyer's right to specific performance under this Section 14.2, Buyer shall be entitled to the Deposit free and clear of any claims thereon by Seller.

## ARTICLE XV.

## INDEMNIFICATION

- 15.1 <u>Indemnification by Seller</u>. From and after the Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Seller shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Buyer, its parent and subsidiary entities and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives (the "Buyer Group") from and against the following:
  - (a) Misrepresentations. All Losses arising from the breach by Seller of any of its representations or warranties set forth in Article VIII;
  - (b) Breach of Covenants. All Losses arising from the breach by Seller of any of its covenants set forth in this Agreement;
  - (c) Retained Liabilities. All Retained Liabilities; and
  - (d) Seller Tax Liabilities. All Seller Tax Liabilities.

EVEN IF SUCH LOSSES OR LIABILITIES ARE CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT, OR CONCURRENT), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER LEGAL FAULT OF ANY MEMBER OF BUYER GROUP; <u>PROVIDED</u>, <u>HOWEVER</u>, THAT IN NO EVENT WILL SELLER BE RESPONSIBLE FOR TAXES FOR ANY PERIOD (OR PORTION THEREOF) AFTER THE EFFECTIVE TIME, EXCEPT FOR PENALTIES AND INTEREST FOR SUCH PERIOD (OR PORTION THEREOF) ENDING ON THE CLOSING DATE AS A RESULT OF SELLER'S BREACH OF THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN <u>SECTION</u> 8.8.

- 15.2 Limitations. Notwithstanding Section 15.1, the following limitations shall apply to Seller's indemnification obligations:
- (a) Seller shall not be obligated to indemnify, defend or hold harmless Buyer for any Loss unless Buyer has delivered a written notice of such Loss within the Survival Period applicable to such Loss. Any Loss for which Seller does not receive written notice before the end of the Survival Period shall be deemed to be an Assumed Liability. The "Survival Period" applicable to Losses shall mean:
- (i) With regard to (A) a breach of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Section 8.8</u> (Taxes) and (B) any Seller Tax Liabilities, a period following the Closing ending 60 days after the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to the underlying Tax matter giving rise to that claim;
- (ii) With regard to a breach of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Sections 8.1</u> (Formation), <u>8.2</u> (Authority), and <u>8.3</u> (Validity of Obligations), an indefinite period following the Closing;
  - (iii) With regard to a breach of the Special Warranty, [\*\*\*];

- (iv) With regard to all of the representations and warranties of Seller in this Agreement other than those described in <u>clauses (i)-(iii)</u> above, a period of [\*\*\*] following the Closing;
- (v) With regard to a breach of any covenant contemplated to be performed prior to the Closing, a period of [\*\*\*] following the Closing;
- (vi) With regard to a breach of any covenant contemplated to be performed after the Closing, until such covenant is contemplated to have been performed; and
  - (vii) With respect to any Retained Liability, for the period of time set forth in the definition of Retained Liabilities.
- (b) Other than Seller's obligations and responsibilities with respect to (i) Retained Liabilities, (ii) breaches of Seller's covenants contained in this Agreement, (iii) the Special Warranty, and (iv) breaches of the representations and warranties contained in Sections 8.1 (Formation), 8.2 (Authority), 8.3 (Validity of Obligations) and 8.13 (Broker's Fees), Seller shall have no Liability (A) for any individual Loss that does not exceed \$25,000 (the "Individual Claim Threshold"), or (B) unless and until the aggregate Losses for which claim notices for claims meeting the Individual Claim Threshold are delivered by Buyer exceed 1% of the Base Purchase Price, and then only to the extent such Losses exceed 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Indemnity Deductible").
- (c) Other than Liabilities of Seller with respect to (i) Retained Liabilities, (ii) breaches of Seller's covenants contained in this Agreement, (iii) the Special Warranty, and (iv) breaches of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Sections 8.1</u> (Formation), <u>8.2</u> (Authority), <u>8.3</u> (Validity of Obligations) and <u>8.13</u> (Broker's Fees), Seller's aggregate liabilities and obligations under this <u>Article XV</u> shall not exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price:
- (d) The amount of Losses required to be paid by Seller to indemnify Buyer Group pursuant to this Agreement shall be reduced to the extent of any amounts actually received by Buyer Group pursuant to the terms of any insurance policies covering such claim to which Buyer Group may be entitled;
- (e) The rights of Buyer to indemnification or any other remedy under this Agreement shall not be impacted or limited by any knowledge that Buyer acquired, or could have acquired, whether before or after the Closing or Closing Date, nor by any investigation or due diligence inquiry conducted by Buyer. Buyer has entered this Agreement in express reliance upon the representations and warranties of Seller made in this Agreement. For purposes of the indemnity contained in this Article XV, all qualifications and limitations set forth in the parties' representations and warranties as to "materiality," "Material Adverse Effect" and words of similar import shall be disregarded in determining whether there shall have been any inaccuracy in or breach of any representations and warranties in this Agreement and the Losses arising therefrom; and

- (f) Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the termination rights in <u>Article XIV</u>, and from and after Closing, the indemnification provisions in this <u>Article XV</u>, shall be the exclusive remedies of Buyer with respect to the Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and Retained Liabilities, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and the representations, warranties and covenants made herein or any other document or instrument entered into pursuant hereto or in connection herewith. Further, subject to the preceding sentence, if the Closing occurs, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any right to contribution against Seller (including any contribution under any Environmental Law) and any and all other Claims and rights it may have against any Seller arising under or based on any Law or other legal theory (whether in contract, tort, equity, or otherwise).
- 15.3 <u>Indemnification by Buyer</u>. From and after the Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Buyer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Seller, its parent and subsidiary entities and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives (the "**Seller Group**") from and against the following:
- (a) <u>Misrepresentations</u>. All Losses arising from the breach by a Buyer Party of any of the representations or warranties set forth in <u>Article IX</u>;
  - (b) Breach of Covenants. All Losses arising from the breach by a Buyer Party of any of the covenants set forth in this Agreement; and
  - (c) Assumed Liabilities. All Assumed Liabilities, including the Assumed Environmental Liabilities;

EVEN IF SUCH LOSSES OR LIABILITIES ARE CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT, OR CONCURRENT), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER LEGAL FAULT OF ANY MEMBER OF SELLER GROUP.

15.4 Physical Inspection. BUYER INDEMNIFIES AND AGREES TO RELEASE, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE SELLER GROUP FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOSSES TO THE EXTENT ARISING FROM THE ACTIVITIES OF BUYER OR ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND CONTRACTORS WHILE INSPECTING OR OBSERVING THE ASSETS, INCLUDING (A) ANY AND ALL STATUTORY OR COMMON LAW LIENS OR OTHER ENCUMBRANCES FOR LABOR OR MATERIALS FURNISHED IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TESTING, SAMPLINGS, STUDIES OR SURVEYS AS BUYER MAY CONDUCT WITH RESPECT TO THE ASSETS, AND (B) CLAIMS FOR PERSONAL INJURIES TO OR DEATH OF EMPLOYEES OF BUYER, ITS CONTRACTORS, AGENTS, CONSULTANTS AND REPRESENTATIVES, AND DAMAGE TO THE PROPERTY OF SELLER OCCURRING IN, ON OR ABOUT THE ASSETS AS A RESULT OF SUCH EXERCISE OR ACTIVITIES, EXCEPT FOR ANY LOSSES THAT ARE THE RESULT OF SELLER'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.

15.5 Notification. As soon as reasonably practical after obtaining knowledge thereof, any Party seeking indemnification under this Agreement (the "Indemnified Party") shall notify the other Party (the "Indemnifying Party") of any Claim or Proceeding which the Indemnified Party has determined has given or could give rise to a claim for indemnification under this Article XV. Such notice shall specify the agreement, representation or warranty with respect to which the claim is made, the facts giving rise to the claim and the amount (to the extent then determinable) of liability for which indemnity is asserted. In the event any action, suit or proceeding is brought with respect to which a Party may be liable under this Article XV, the defense of the action, suit or proceeding (including all settlement negotiations and arbitration, trial, appeal or other proceeding) shall be at the discretion of and conducted by the Indemnifying Party. If an Indemnified Party shall settle any such action, suit or proceeding without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the right of the Indemnified Party to make any claim against the Indemnifying Party on account of such settlement shall be deemed conclusively denied. An Indemnified Party shall have the right to be represented by its own counsel at its own expense in any such action, suit or proceeding, and if an Indemnified Party is named as the defendant in any action, suit or proceeding, it shall be entitled to have its own counsel and defend such action, suit or proceeding with respect to itself at its own expense. Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Article XV, neither Party shall, without the other Party's written consent, settle, compromise, confess judgment or permit judgment by default in any action, suit or proceeding if such action would create or attach any liability or obligation to the other Party. The Parties agree to make available to each other, and to their respective counsel and accountants, all information and documents reasonably available to them which relate to any action, suit or proceeding, and the Parties agree to render to each other such assistance as they may reasonably require of each other in order to ensure the proper and adequate defense of any such action, suit or proceeding, including entering into a joint defense privilege agreement.

## 15.6 Post-Closing Escrow.

- (a) Seller's post-Closing obligations hereunder and under the documents to be delivered at Closing by Seller will be satisfied first from the Post-Closing Escrow. After depletion of the Post-Closing Escrow, Buyer may seek any amounts due to Buyer Group under <u>Section 15.1</u> by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by Buyer.
- (b) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement (including the limitations set forth in Section 15.2) and the Stock Escrow Agreement, upon the final determination of any claim made by Buyer (whether agreed upon with Seller or fully and finally resolved pursuant to the applicable dispute resolution procedures set forth herein), at Buyer's written election, Seller and Buyer shall provide written instructions to the Stock Escrow Agent in accordance with the Stock Escrow Agreement to disburse to Buyer a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the undisputed dollar value of such claim (taking into account the Individual Claim Threshold and the Indemnity Deductible), divided by (ii) the Reference Price.
- (c) On the date that is [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release to Seller the Post-Closing Escrow, save and except a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the aggregate dollar of all unsatisfied claims for indemnification that Buyer has made against Seller on or before such date pursuant to this <u>Section 15.6</u> and which are subject to satisfaction (in whole or in part) from the Post-Closing Escrow (in each case, taking into account the Individual Claim Threshold and the Indemnity Deductible), *divided by* (ii) the Reference Price.
- (d) Subject to the terms of the Stock Escrow Agreement, Seller shall be entitled to vote the Common Stock in the Post-Closing Escrow and shall be entitled to any dividends paid thereon.

(e) The Parties agree that the Common Stock comprising the Post-Closing Escrow will be treated as transferred to and owned by the Seller on the date of the Closing for U.S. federal and applicable state and local income tax purposes (the "Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment"), and that the terms of the Post-Closing Escrow are consistent with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment. Buyer and Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, report consistently with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment on all Tax Returns, and neither Seller nor Buyer shall take any position on any Tax Return that is inconsistent with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment, as adjusted, unless required to do so by a "final determination" within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code.

## ARTICLE XVI.

### MISCELLANEOUS

## 16.1 Casualty Loss.

- (a) A "Casualty Loss" means the damage, destruction, or making unavailable or unusable for the intended purpose of any portion of the Assets by way of acts of God having a direct impact on the Assets (including volcanic eruptions, lightning, earthquake, wind, storm, flood or drought), or fire, explosion, condemnation, or exercise of any right of eminent domain. A Casualty Loss does not include depletion due to normal production and depreciation, failure of equipment or casing, or loss of ability to profitably market Hydrocarbons.
- (b) If, after the Execution Date but prior to the Closing Date, any portion of the Assets is damaged, destroyed, or made unavailable or unusable for the intended purpose due to Casualty Loss, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and (i) there shall be no reduction to the Base Purchase Price in respect thereof, notwithstanding any such Casualty Loss, (ii) Buyer shall nevertheless be required to close the transactions contemplated hereby, and (iii) upon Closing, Seller shall assign, transfer and set over unto Buyer the Assets affected by such Casualty Loss and any insurance proceeds, awards or other payments arising out of such Casualty Loss received by Seller, and all of the right, title and interest of Seller in and to any unpaid insurance proceeds, awards or other payments arising out of such Casualty Loss, and all right, title, interest and claims against third parties for the recovery of Seller's costs and expenses incurred prior to Closing in repairing such Casualty Loss or pursuing or asserting any such insurance claims; provided, however, that Buyer may elect to exclude the affected Assets from the transactions contemplated hereby if Buyer's reasonable estimate of the cost to repair or replace the affected Assets exceeds the amount of insurance proceeds, awards or other payments Buyer reasonably expects to receive in connection with such Casualty Loss (in which case the Base Purchase Price shall be reduced by the Allocated Value of the affected Assets). Seller shall have no other liability or responsibility to Buyer with respect to a Casualty Loss, even if such Casualty Loss shall have resulted from or shall have arisen out of the sole or concurrent negligence, fault, or violation of Law of Seller or any of its Affiliates.

- 16.2 <u>Confidentiality.</u> For a period of one year following the Closing Date and subject to the provisions of <u>Section 16.4</u>, each Party shall not, and each Party shall cause its Affiliates and representatives to not, use for its or their own benefit or divulge or convey to any third party (other than its representatives), any Confidential Information; <u>provided, however</u>, that a Party or its Affiliate may furnish such portion, and only such portion, of the Confidential Information as such Party or its Affiliate reasonably determines it is legally obligated to disclose if: (i) it receives a request from any Governmental Authority to disclose all or any part of the Confidential Information; (ii) to the extent not inconsistent with such request or prohibited by applicable Law, it notifies the other Party of the existence, terms and circumstances surrounding such request and consults with the other Party on the advisability of taking steps available under applicable Law to resist or narrow such request; and (iii) it exercises its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an order or other reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to the disclosed Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential Information" consists of all information and data relating to: (i) the terms and contents of this Agreement and the Exhibits and Schedules hereto; (ii) the Parties and their respective subsidiaries which would reasonably be considered to be proprietary or confidential; or (iii) the transactions contemplated hereby, other than data or information that is or becomes available to the public other than as a result of a breach of this Section. The Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect whether or not the Closing occurs.
- 16.3 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, or consent required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and delivered in person or by certified letter, with return receipt requested, or by prepaid overnight delivery service, or by facsimile addressed to the Party for whom it is intended at the following addresses:

If to Seller, to:

Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC 1101 Little School Road Arlington, Texas 76017

Attn: Shu Rau Jeff Hansen

Email: Shu.rau@crockettoperating.com

jeff@hansenattorneys.com

With a copy to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 609 Main Street Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Rahul D. Vashi, P.C. Email: rahul.vashi@kirkland.com

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 1601 Elm Street Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Kevin T. Crews, P.C.

Courtney Jamison Roane kevin.crews@kirkland.com

Email: kevin.crews@kirkland.com

courtney.roane@kirkland.com

#### If to Buyer, to:

HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC 421 W. 3rd St., Ste 1000 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Attn: Kevin Smith, Land Manger Email: ksmith@highpeakenergy.com

With a copy to:

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld 201 Main St., Ste 1600 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Attn: Cole Bredthauer Email: cbredthauer@akingump.com

or at such other address as any of the above shall specify by like notice to the other.

- Press Releases and Public Announcements. Neither Party shall make any press release or other public announcement regarding the existence of this Agreement, the Related Agreements, the contents hereof or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided, however, the foregoing shall not restrict disclosures by a Party: (i) that are required by applicable securities or other laws or regulations or the applicable rules of any stock exchange having jurisdiction over Seller or its Affiliates, (ii) to Governmental Authorities and third Persons holding preferential rights to purchase or rights of consent that may be applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements, as reasonably necessary to obtain waivers of such right or such consents, or (iii) with respect to Buyer, that do not specifically identify the Seller; provided, however, that (x) the foregoing shall not prevent Seller or Buyer from recording any instruments of conveyance delivered at the Closing, and (y) prior to the initial press release or public announcement regarding this Agreement, the Related Agreements or the transactions contemplated hereby, each Party shall consult with the other Party regarding the contents of any such release or announcement prior to making such release or announcement.
- 16.5 <u>Governing Law.</u> This Agreement is governed by and will be construed according to the laws of the State of Texas, excluding any conflicts of-law rule or principle that might apply the law of another jurisdiction. All disputes related to this Agreement shall be submitted to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Texas and venue shall be in the civil district courts of Howard County, Texas. EACH PARTY HEREBY UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN ANY LAWSUIT, ACTION, OR PROCEEDING BETWEEN OR AMONG THE PARTIES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.
  - 16.6 Schedules and Exhibits. The Schedules and Exhibits attached to this Agreement are incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement.

## 16.7 <u>Financial Statement Information</u>.

- Seller acknowledges that Buyer, or its Affiliates (including its successors and assigns) may be required to include statements of revenues and direct operating expenses and other financial information relating to the Assets for one or more years or interim periods ending on or prior to, or including, the Closing (but not to exceed 2 fiscal years plus, on an unaudited basis, the interim period ending on or prior to the Closing Date), in documents filed by Buyer or its Affiliates or assignee with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act, or in materials relating to a securities offering under Rule 144A of the Securities Act, and that such financial statements may be required to be independently audited (together with any supplementary oil and gas information required by ASC 932-235, the "Requisite Financial Statement Information"). From and after the Closing Date and for 2 years after Closing, Seller shall maintain, and, at Buyer's request (and at Buyer's sole cost and expense), provide Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) and its auditor reasonable access during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to, any financial information and records (to the extent that such information is available) and personnel of Seller Group and use commercially reasonable efforts to, at Buyer's sole cost and expense, provide reasonable access during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to Seller Group's accounting firm, in each case, as Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) may reasonably request for the sole purpose of Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) and its auditor, and its representatives, creating and, to the extent required by Law, auditing, the Requisite Financial Statement Information; provided that Seller's commercially reasonable efforts shall be without the obligation to expend any monies or undertake any obligations (other than the obligation to request access). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, (i) Seller shall in no event be required to create new records or financial statements relating to the Assets or otherwise and (ii) the access to be provided to Buyer shall not interfere with Seller's ability to prepare its own financial statements or its regular conduct of business. Seller and its Affiliates shall not be required to (A) deliver or cause the delivery of any legal opinions or make any representations in connection with such cooperation described herein, (B) take any action that Seller reasonably believes could result in a violation of applicable Law or regulations of any Governmental Authority, Seller's, or its Affiliate's, organizational documents, any contractual obligation or any confidentiality arrangement or the waiver of any legal or other applicable privilege (including attorney-client privilege and attorney work product), (C) agree to pay any fees, reimburse any expenses, incur any costs or Liabilities (unless Buyer has advanced the funds necessary to cover such expenses, costs or Liabilities) or give any indemnities; provided, however, nothing in this clause (C) shall be construed to limit Seller's express obligations set forth in this Section 16.7 or (D) be a party to any agreement, certificate, instrument or other document with respect to the Buyer's debt or equity financings.
- (b) Upon request of Buyer, Seller shall request the external audit firm that audits the Requisite Financial Statement Information to consent to the inclusion or incorporation by reference of its audit opinion with respect to the audited financial statements included in the Requisite Financial Statement Information in any such registration statement, report or other document. Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to, at Buyer's sole cost and expense, provide Buyer and Buyer's independent accountants with reasonable access to (i) audit work papers of the Seller Group's independent accountants in connection with this Section 16.7 and (ii) management representation letters delivered by any member of the Seller Group, as applicable, or on behalf of Seller Group to the Seller Group's independent accountants; provided, however, that Seller's commercially reasonable efforts shall not include the obligation to expend any monies or undertake any obligations (other than the obligation to request access).

- (c) Buyer shall be responsible for, and obligated to promptly reimburse Seller for, all reasonable costs and expenses (including third person or internal resources and personnel) incurred by Seller or its Affiliates to the extent associated with preparing and obtaining the Requisite Financial Statement Information and otherwise complying with this <u>Section 16.7</u>.
- (d) All of the information provided by Seller pursuant to this <u>Section 16.7</u> is given without any representation or warranty, express or implied, and no member of Seller Group shall have any liability or responsibility with respect thereto.
- (e) Buyer shall indemnify Seller, its respective Affiliates, Seller's and each of its Affiliates' respective directors, managers, officers, stockholders, partners, members, employees and representatives, each member of Seller Group, and each of their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns, each in their capacity as such, from, against and in respect of any losses or other Liabilities imposed on, sustained, incurred or suffered by, or asserted against, any of them, whether in respect of third party claims, direct claims or otherwise, directly or indirectly relating to, arising out of or resulting from the provision to or use by Buyer, any of its Affiliates or representatives of information utilized in connection with the preparation or audit of the Requisite Financial Statement Information or otherwise pursuant to this Section 16.7 to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, in each case, except in the case of fraud and the foregoing obligations shall survive termination of this Agreement for a period of 10 years after the Closing.
- (f) Except to the extent included in any filings made pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, Buyer agrees to hold all information provided or made available to Buyer and its Affiliates pursuant to this Section 16.7 and that is not otherwise part of or related to the Assets that are conveyed to Buyer pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement confidential and agrees not to use any such information other than in connection with the preparation of any such filings.

## 16.8 Expenses, Taxes and Recording.

- (a) Each Party shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses incurred by it in connection with this transaction (including fees and expenses of its counsel and accountants) and shall not be entitled to any reimbursements from the other Party, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, regardless of whether the Closing occurs.
- (b) The Party required by applicable Law to file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes and fees incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements ("**Transfer Taxes**"), and, if required by applicable law, the other Party shall join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation. Other than recording fees associated with filing instruments in the county records after Closing (which shall be the responsibility of Buyer), the Parties do not expect that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will result in any Transfer Taxes. However, if any Transfer Taxes (other than recording fees) are imposed on the transfer of the Assets to Buyer, such Transfer Taxes shall be borne by Seller. Sellers and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in good faith to minimize, to the extent permissible under applicable Law, the amount of any such Transfer Taxes.

- (c) Buyer shall, at its own cost, immediately record all instruments of conveyance and sale in the appropriate office of the state and county in which the lands covered by such instrument are located. Buyer shall immediately file for and obtain the necessary approval of all Governmental Authorities to the assignment of the Assets and shall immediately file all change of operator forms to effect the change of operator where applicable. The assignment of any state, federal or Indian tribal oil and gas leases shall be filed in the appropriate governmental offices on a form required and in compliance with the applicable rules of the applicable Governmental Authority. Buyer shall supply Seller with a true and accurate photocopy reflecting the recording information of all the recorded and filed assignments within a reasonable period of time after their recording and filing.
- 16.9 <u>HighPeak Change of Control</u>. In the event of a Change of Control (as hereinafter defined) within [\*\*\*] of the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release to Seller the Post-Closing Escrow. [\*\*\*].
- 16.10 <u>Assignment</u>. This Agreement or any part hereof may not (directly or indirectly) be assigned by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempted assignment without such consent shall be null and void. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Registrable Securities may be pledged, and all rights of Seller under <u>Sections 10.13</u> of this Agreement or any other agreement or document related to the transactions contemplated thereby may be assigned, without further consent of HighPeak, to a bona fide pledgee in connection with Seller's margin or brokerage account, provided such pledgee acknowledges in writing to HighPeak its agreement to be bound by the applicable provisions of this Agreement. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement is binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
- 16.11 Entire Agreement; No Reliance. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, superseding all prior negotiations, discussions, agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, relating to such subject matter, except that the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. Each of the Parties expressly waives reliance on any facts, promises, undertakings, representations or warranties made by any other Party or such Party's representatives prior to the execution of this Agreement to the extent such facts, promises, undertakings, representations or warranties are not expressly reflected herein or in the Confidentiality Agreement.
- 16.12 <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any one or more covenants, clauses or provisions of this Agreement shall be held invalid or illegal, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement.
- 16.13 <u>Captions</u>. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be considered a part of or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.
- 16.14 <u>Disclaimers Conspicuous</u>. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT, TO THE EXTENT REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW TO BE OPERATIVE, ALL LANGUAGE IN THIS AGREEMENT IN ALL CAPITAL LETTERS ARE "CONSPICUOUS" DISCLAIMERS FOR THE PURPOSES OF ANY APPLICABLE LAW, RULE, OR ORDER.

#### 16.15 <u>Certain Interpretive Matters.</u>

- (a) Unless the context otherwise requires, (i) all references to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits are to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits of or to this Agreement, (ii) "or" is disjunctive but not necessarily exclusive, (iii) words expressed in the singular include plural and vice versa, (iv) the word "including" means "including without limitation," (v) the word "days" means "calendar days" unless specified as "business days," and (vi) all references to "funds" or "\$" are to lawful currency of the United States of America.
- (b) No provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in favor of, or against, any Party by reason of the extent to which such Party or its counsel participated in the drafting hereof or by reason of the extent to which any such provision is inconsistent with any prior draft hereof.
- 16.16 <u>Counterpart Execution</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- Maiver of Certain Damages. Each of the Parties hereby waives and agrees not to seek consequential, special, exemplary or punitive damages, lost profits, lost business opportunities, or diminution in value with respect to any Claim, Proceeding, controversy or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach hereof, including any indemnification claim pursuant hereto, other than any such damages payable to any third party in respect of which a Party is otherwise entitled to indemnification hereunder.
- 16.18 No Waiver. No waiver by any Party of any condition of this Agreement or of any breach by any Party of any of the obligations or representations hereunder shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other condition or subsequent breach of the same or any other obligation or representation by any Party. Forbearance by any Party to seek a remedy for any noncompliance or breach by any other Party shall not be deemed to be a waiver by the first such Party of its rights and remedies with respect to any such noncompliance or breach.
- 16.19 <u>Seller Designee</u>. Each Seller hereby irrevocably appoints Alamo IV as the sole representative of such Seller to act as the agent and on behalf of each Seller regarding any matter under this Agreement, the Deposit Escrow Agreement, the Stock Escrow Agreement, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby ("**Seller Designee**"). Such representative shall act as the agent for each Seller and shall have authority to bind each Seller. Buyer may conclusively and absolutely rely, without inquiry, upon the action of such representative as the action of each Seller in all matters referred to in this <u>Section 16.19</u>.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF	, this Agreement has	been signed by each of	the Parties and HighPeak as	of the date first set forth above.
--------------------	----------------------	------------------------	-----------------------------	------------------------------------

SEI	I.	$\mathbf{E}$	R

Name:	Dy		
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC  By: Name: Title:  ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC  By:	Name: _		
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC  By: Name: Title:  ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC  By:	Title:		
By:			
Name: Title:  ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC  By:	ALAM(	) BORDEN COUNTY III, L	LC
Name: Title:  ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC  By:	By:		
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC  By:	Name:		
<b>ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC</b> By:	Title:		
Ву:			
Ву:			
By: Name:	ALAM(	) BORDEN COUNTY IV, LI	LC
Name:	_		
	Ву:		

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

HIGHPEAK ENERGY ASSETS, LLC
By:
Name:
Title:
ніднреак:
HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC.
Ву:
Name:
Title:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

**BUYER:** 

# EXHIBIT A – ASSIGNMENT AND BILL OF SALE

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Ехнівіт А

# EXHIBIT B – CERTIFICATE OF NON-FOREIGN STATUS

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Ехнівіт В			

# EXHIBIT C – NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Ехнівіт С

# EXHIBIT D – ASSIGNED AREA

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Exhibit D

# EXHIBIT E – FORM OF BUYER NOTE

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Ехнівіт Е

# EXHIBIT F – SIDE LETTER

ATTACHED TO AND MADE A PART OF THAT CERTAIN PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF FEBRUARY 15, 2022, BY AND AMONG SELLER, BUYER, AND HIGHPEAK

[Attached]

Ехнівіт F

**Execution Version** 

SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND ARE THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. THESE REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT WITH THREE ASTERISKS [\*\*\*].

## PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC,

as Seller

HIGHPEAK ENERGY ASSETS, LLC as Buyer

AND

HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. as HighPeak

Dated June 3, 2022

i

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		rage
ARTICLE I.	. DEFINITIONS	1
1.1	Definitions	1
ARTICLE II	I. SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ASSETS	9
2.1	Acquired Assets	9
2.2	Excluded Assets	11
2.3	Assumed and Retained Liabilities	13
2.4	"As Is, Where Is" Purchase	14
ADTICI E II	II. PURCHASE PRICE	14
AKTICLE	II. I ORCHASE I RICE	14
3.1	Deposit	14
3.2	Purchase Price	14
3.3	Adjustments to the Base Purchase Price	15
3.4	Allocation	17
3.5	Tax Allocation	17
ARTICLE I	V. CLOSING	17
4.1	Closing	17
4.2	Deliveries by Seller	17
4.3	Deliveries by Buyer	18
4.4	Further Cooperation	19
ARTICLE V	/. PURCHASE PRICE ADJUSTMENTS	20
<i>5</i> 1	Clasica Adicatoranta	20
5.1 5.2	Closing Adjustments Post-Closing Adjustments	20 20
5.3	Suspended Funds	20
5.4	Audit Adjustments	21
5.5	Asset Taxes and Tax Returns	21
5.6	Cooperation	22
5.0	Cooperation	22
ARTICLE V	/I. DUE DILIGENCE; TITLE MATTERS	22
· interious ·	and de	
6.1	General Access	22
6.2	Seller's Title	23
6.3	Defensible Title	23
6.4	Defect Letters	25
6.5	Rights and Remedies for Title Defects	26
	ii	

ARTICLE VI	II. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT	28
7.1	Discipal Condition of the Assets	20
7.1	Physical Condition of the Assets	28
7.2	Inspection and Testing	28
7.3	Notice of Environmental Defects	29
7.4	Rights and Remedies for Environmental Defects	32
ARTICLE VI	III. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER	33
THEFFEE VI	III. REPRESENTED THE WINDER THE SECOND OF SEPERIC	
8.1	Status of Formation	33
8.2	Authority	33
8.3	Validity of Obligations	33
8.4	Authorizations for Expenditures	33
8.5	Material Contracts	34
8.6	Litigation	35
8.7	Permits	35
8.8	Taxes	35
8.9	Environmental Laws	36
8.10	Preferential Purchase Rights	36
8.11	Consents	36
8.12	Payments for Production and Non-Consent Operations	36
8.13	Broker's Fees	36
8.14	Bankruptcy Proceedings	36
8.15	Compliance with Laws	36
8.16	Production Imbalances	36
8.17	Suspense Funds; Royalties; Expenses	37
8.18	Wells	37
8.19	Bonds	37
8.20	Leases	37
8.21	Related Assets	37
8.22	Investor Status	38
8.23	Independent Evaluation of Investment	38
8.24	No Review	38
8.25	Ownership of the Assets	38
8.26	Scope of Representations of Seller	38
8.27	Physical Condition of Assets	39
ARTICLE IX	. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER PARTIES	39
9.1	Status of Formation	39
9.2	Authority	39
9.3	Validity of Obligations	39
9.4	Qualification and Bonding	40
9.5	Non-Security Acquisition	40
9.6	Evaluation	40
9.7	Financing	40
9.8	Broker's Fees	40
9.9	Capitalization of HighPeak	40
9.10	Nasdaq Listing	41

9.12       Securities Laws       42         9.13       Controls and Procedures       42         9.14       Absence of Certain Changes       42         9.15       Form S-3       43         ARTICLE X. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER       43         10.1       Maintenance of Assets       43         10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48
9.14       Absence of Certain Changes       42         9.15       Form S-3       43         ARTICLE X. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER       43         10.1       Maintenance of Assets       43         10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49 <tr< td=""></tr<>
9.15 Form S-3  ARTICLE X. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER  10.1 Maintenance of Assets 10.2 Transfer Orders 44 10.3 Preferential Rights 44 10.4 Records and Contracts 45 10.5 Delivery of Assets 10.6 Delivery of Lease Assignments 10.7 Registrable Securities 45 10.8 Cooperation 45 10.10 Consents 45 10.10 Consents 45 10.11 Legends 45 10.11 Legends 46 10.12 Seller Agreements 47 ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER 47 48 11.1 Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees 47 11.2 Seller's Logos 48 11.3 Transfer Orders 48 11.4 Delivery of Lease Assignments 48 11.5 Cooperation 48 11.6 Notification of Breaches. 48 ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER 49 12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 49 12.2 No Litigation 49 12.3 Governmental Consents 49 12.4 Deliveries 49 11.5 Impairments
ARTICLE X. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER  10.1 Maintenance of Assets 43 10.2 Transfer Orders 44 10.3 Preferential Rights 44 10.4 Records and Contracts 45 10.5 Delivery of Lease Assignments 45 10.6 Delivery of Lease Assignments 45 10.7 Registrable Securities 45 10.8 Cooperation 45 10.9 Successor Operator 45 10.10 Consents 45 10.11 Legends 46 10.12 Seller Agreements 47 ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER 47 11.1 Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees 47 11.2 Seller's Logos 48 11.3 Transfer Orders 48 11.4 Delivery of Lease Assignments 48 11.5 Cooperation 48 11.6 Notification of Breaches. 48 ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER 49 12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 49 12.2 No Litigation 49 12.3 Governmental Consents 49 12.4 Deliveries 49
10.1       Maintenance of Assets       43         10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.1.       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation
10.1       Maintenance of Assets       43         10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.1.       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation
10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governm
10.2       Transfer Orders       44         10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governm
10.3       Preferential Rights       44         10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents
10.4       Records and Contracts       45         10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.5       Delivery of Assets       45         10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.6       Delivery of Lease Assignments       45         10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.7       Registrable Securities       45         10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.8       Cooperation       45         10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.9       Successor Operator       45         10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.10       Consents       45         10.11       Legends       46         10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
10.11 Legends       46         10.12 Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1 Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2 Seller's Logos       48         11.3 Transfer Orders       48         11.4 Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5 Cooperation       48         11.6 Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2 No Litigation       49         12.3 Governmental Consents       49         12.4 Deliveries       49         12.5 Impairments       49
10.12       Seller Agreements       47         ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER       47         11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
ARTICLE XI. CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER  11.1 Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees  47 11.2 Seller's Logos  48 11.3 Transfer Orders  48 11.4 Delivery of Lease Assignments  48 11.5 Cooperation  48 11.6 Notification of Breaches.  48 48 48 48 48 48 48 48 49 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40 40
11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
11.1       Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees       47         11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
11.2       Seller's Logos       48         11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
11.3       Transfer Orders       48         11.4       Delivery of Lease Assignments       48         11.5       Cooperation       48         11.6       Notification of Breaches.       48         ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER       49         12.1       Representations and Warranties; Covenants       49         12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
11.4 Delivery of Lease Assignments  11.5 Cooperation  11.6 Notification of Breaches.  ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER  12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants  12.2 No Litigation  12.3 Governmental Consents  12.4 Deliveries  12.5 Impairments  48  48  49  49  49  49  49
11.5 Cooperation 48 11.6 Notification of Breaches. 48  ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER 49  12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 49 12.2 No Litigation 49 12.3 Governmental Consents 49 12.4 Deliveries 49 12.5 Impairments 49
11.6 Notification of Breaches.  ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER  12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 12.2 No Litigation 49 12.3 Governmental Consents 49 12.4 Deliveries 49 12.5 Impairments 49
ARTICLE XII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER  12.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 12.2 No Litigation 49 12.3 Governmental Consents 49 12.4 Deliveries 49 12.5 Impairments 49
12.1Representations and Warranties; Covenants4912.2No Litigation4912.3Governmental Consents4912.4Deliveries4912.5Impairments49
12.1Representations and Warranties; Covenants4912.2No Litigation4912.3Governmental Consents4912.4Deliveries4912.5Impairments49
12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
12.2       No Litigation       49         12.3       Governmental Consents       49         12.4       Deliveries       49         12.5       Impairments       49
12.3Governmental Consents4912.4Deliveries4912.5Impairments49
12.4 Deliveries       49         12.5 Impairments       49
12.5 Impairments 49
ARTICLE XIII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER 49
ARTICLE XIII. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER 49
13.1 Representations and Warranties; Covenants 49
13.2 No Litigation 50
13.3 Governmental Consents 50
13.4 Deliveries 50

ARTIC	LE XIV	V. TERMINATION	50
	14.1	Causes of Termination	50
1	14.2	Effect of Termination	51
ARTIC	LE XV.	INDEMNIFICATION	52
	15.1	Indemnification by Seller	52
	15.2	Limitations	52
	15.3	Indemnification by Buyer	54
	15.4	Physical Inspection	54
	15.5	Notification	55
]	15.6	Post-Closing Escrow	55
ARTIC	LE XV	I. MISCELLANEOUS	56
	1 ( 1		5.0
	16.1	Casualty Loss	56
	16.2	Confidentiality	57
	16.3	Notice P. L. P. L.	57
	16.4	Press Releases and Public Announcements	58
	16.5	Governing Law	58
	16.6	Schedules and Exhibits	59
	16.7	Financial Statement Information	59
	16.8	Expenses, Taxes and Recording	60
	16.9	HighPeak Change of Control	61
	16.10	Assignment	61
	16.11	Entire Agreement; No Reliance	61
	16.12	Severability	61
	16.13	Captions	62
	16.14	Disclaimers Conspicuous	62
	16.15	Certain Interpretive Matters	62
	16.16	Counterpart Execution	62
	16.17	Waiver of Certain Damages	62
j	16.18	No Waiver	62

# INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

48
1
31
26
58
1
1
1
1
1
17
17
17
1
10
2
2
2
2
15
2
1
54
41
42
15
58
42
2
63
2
18
20
18
2
42
59
2
11
2
26
24
15

Deposit Escrow Agent	3
Drop Dead Date	18
DSU	3
Effective Time	3
Environment	3
Environmental Assessment	29
Environmental Condition	3
Environmental Consultant	31
Environmental Defect	3
Environmental Defect Notice	30
Environmental Defect Property	30
Environmental Defect Value	30
Environmental Disputes	31
Environmental Laws	3
Equipment	11
Escrow Agreement	15
Escrow Legend	48
Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds	3
Exchange Act	43
Excluded Assets	12
Governmental Authority	4
Hazardous Material	4
HighPeak	1
HighPeak Preferred Stock	42
Hydrocarbons	4
Imbalance	4
Income Taxes	4
Indemnified Party	56
Indemnifying Party	56
Indemnity Deductible	55
Individual Claim Threshold	55
Individual Environmental Defect Threshold	30
Individual Title Defect Threshold	26
Knowledge of Seller	4
Law	4
Leases	10
Liability	4
Loss	5
Lowest Cost Response	5
Material Adverse Effect	5
Material Contracts	34
Nasdaq	10
Net Acre	25

Net Revenue Interest	24
Non-Competition Agreement	5
NORM	29
Order	5
Over-Produced	37
Parties	1
Party	1
Paying Party	22
Permit	6
Permitted Encumbrances	6
Person	7
Post-Closing Adjustment Statement	21
Post-Closing Escrow	19
Preferential Rights	46
Proceeding	7
Records	12
Reference Price	7
Registrable Securities	8
Registration Statement	8
Reimbursing Party	22
Related Agreements	15
Related Assets	11
Release	8
Remediate	8
Requisite Financial Statement Information	61
Restriction	8
Retained Liabilities	14
Rule 144	48
SEC	43
SEC Filings	43
Securities Act	19
Seller	1
Seller Group	56
Seller Tax Liabilities	9
Seller's Environmental Response	31
Special Warranty	24
Specified Environmental Liabilities	9
Stock Consideration	15
Stock Escrow Agent	9
Stock Escrow Agreement	9
Straddle Period	22
Subject Formations	9
Survival Period	54
Suspense Funds	37
Target Closing Date	18
Tax	9
Tax Return	9
Taxes	9
Title Consultant	26
Title Defect	10
Title Defect Notice	26
Title Defect Property	26
Title Defect Value	28
Transfer Agent	15
Transfer Taxes	62
Under-Produced	37
Units	10
VWAP	10
Wells	10
Working Interest	25

## **EXHIBITS**

Exhibit A (Assignment and Bill of Sale)

Exhibit B (Certificate of Non-Foreign Status)

Exhibit C (Non-Competition Agreement)

Exhibit D (Assigned Area)

Exhibit E (Reserved)

Exhibit F (Reserved)

## **SCHEDULES**

Schedule 2.1(a)-1 (Leases)

Schedule 2.1(a)-2 (Wells)

Schedule 2.1(a)-3 (DSUs)

Schedule 2.1(c) (Contracts)

Schedule 2.1(j) (Geophysical and Seismic Data)

Schedule 2.2 (Excluded Assets)

Schedule 2.3 (Retained Liabilities)

Schedule 3.4 (Allocation)

Schedule 8.4 (Authorization for Expenditures)

Schedule 8.6 (Litigation)

Schedule 8.7 (Permits)

Schedule 8.8 (Taxes)

Schedule 8.9 (Environmental Matters)

Schedule 8.10 (Preferential Purchase Rights)

Schedule 8.11 (Consents)

Schedule 8.15 (Compliance with Laws)

Schedule 8.16 (Production Imbalances)

Schedule 8.17 (Certain Financial Obligations)

Schedule 8.18 (Wells)

Schedule 8.19 (Bonds)

Schedule 10.1 (Maintenance of Assets)

#### PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into this 3rd day of June, 2022 (the "Execution Date"), by and among Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Seller"), HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Buyer"), and HighPeak Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("HighPeak"). Buyer and Seller are together referred to herein as the "Parties" and sometimes individually referred to as a "Party."

#### RECITALS:

- A. Seller desires to sell to Buyer certain oil, gas and mineral properties and other assets on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.
- B. Buyer desires to purchase from Seller such assets on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.

Now, therefore, in consideration of the mutual agreements contained in this Agreement, Buyer and Seller agree as follows:

#### ARTICLE I.

#### **DEFINITIONS**

- 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. In addition to the terms defined elsewhere herein, the following terms have the meanings ascribed to them below when used herein with initial capital letters:
- (a) "Affiliate" means any Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, another Person. The term "control" and its derivatives with respect to any Person means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
  - (b) "Alamo II" means Alamo Borden County II, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.
  - (c) "Alamo III" means Alamo Borden County III, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.
  - (d) "Alamo IV" means Alamo Borden County IV, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.
- (e) "Alamo Transaction" means that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement dated as of February 15, 2022 by and among Buyer, Alamo II, Alamo III, and Alamo IV.
- (f) "Asset Tax" means ad valorem, property, excise, severance, production, sales, use, or similar Taxes based upon the operation or ownership of the Assets or the production of Hydrocarbons therefrom or the receipt of proceeds therefrom; but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, Income Taxes and Transfer Taxes.

- (g) "Assigned Area" means the lands described on Exhibit D.
- (h) "Assignment and Bill of Sale" means the Assignment and Bill of Sale, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, effecting the sale, transfer, conveyance and assignment of the Assets to Buyer.
- (i) "Assumed Environmental Liabilities" means any and all Claims, Losses, and Liabilities (including any damage to, or destruction or loss or diminution in value of any property, and any costs and expenses for the modification, repair, or replacement of any facilities on the lands covered by the Leases), other than the Specified Environmental Liabilities and subject to Seller's indemnity obligations under Section 15.1 (further subject to the limitations and restrictions in Article XV), arising out of or relating to the Assets, the condition, ownership, maintenance, or use of the Assets, or operations on or with respect to the Assets, by any Person, whether before, on or after the Effective Time, to the extent: (i) arising under any past, present, or future Environmental Law or any Permit issued under any past, present, or future Environmental Law or other Law, including any violation, breach, or noncompliance with any Environmental Law or with any such Permit; (ii) arising out of or relating to the assessment, clean-up, removal, or other remediation of any Hazardous Material or other waste or materials of any kind that are subject to regulation under any Environmental Law; or (iii) arising out of or relating to any Release of Hazardous Materials or other contamination or pollution of the Environment.
- (j) "Assumed Liabilities" means all Claims, Losses, Proceedings and Liabilities (known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due) with regard to, in respect of, arising out of or attributable to the Assets, including those relating to the condition, ownership, operation, maintenance, or use of the Assets, or operations on or with respect to the Assets, whether before, on or after the Effective Time, including the Assumed Environmental Liabilities, but excluding in all cases the Retained Liabilities and subject to Seller's indemnity obligations under Section 15.1.
  - (k) "Business Day" means each calendar day except Saturdays, Sundays, and federal holidays.
- (l) "Certificate of Non-Foreign Status" means either (i) a certificate substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B, or (ii) a validly executed IRS Form W-9.
- (m) "Claim" means any notice, claim, demand, allegation, cause of action, chose in action, or other communication alleging or asserting Liability or seeking contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, or compensation for Losses or injunctive or other equitable relief.
  - (n) "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
- (o) "Confidentiality Agreement" means the Confidentiality and Non-Disclosure Agreement dated November 23, 2022 by and among Crockett, Seller, Alamo II, Alamo IV, Alamo Exploration & Production, LLC and HighPeak.
  - (p) "Crockett" means Crockett Operating, LLC, a Texas limited liability company.

- (q) "Deposit Escrow Agent" means UMB Bank, N.A., a national banking association.
- (r) "DSU" means a hypothetical drilling, spacing or pooled unit in the Subject Formations formed by combining the Leases and Units, or portions thereof, included within the lands described on Schedule 2.1(a)-3 with respect to each DSU.
  - (s) "Effective Time" means 12:00 a.m. (Central Time) on January 1, 2022.
- (t) "Environment" means soil, land surface, or subsurface strata, surface waters, groundwaters, wetlands, stream sediments, ambient and other air, atmosphere, plant and animal life, or other environmental medium or natural resource.
- (u) "Environmental Condition" means any event occurring or condition existing with respect to the Assets that causes an Asset to be subject to remediation under, in violation of, or fail to meet objective requirements or standards under any applicable Environmental Law. For the avoidance of doubt, the fact that a Well is no longer capable of producing sufficient quantities of oil or gas to continue to be classified as a "producing" well or that such a Well should be temporarily abandoned or permanently plugged and abandoned shall not solely form the basis of an Environmental Condition unless such Well is not scheduled on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4.
- (v) "Environmental Defect" means an Environmental Condition discovered by Buyer or its representatives as a result of any environmental diligence conducted by or on behalf of Buyer pursuant to this Agreement.
- (w) "Environmental Laws" means any applicable Law in effect at or prior to the Closing Date relating to: (i) protection of human or workplace health and safety (to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials); (ii) pollution or protection of the Environment; (iii) Remediation or prevention of Releases of Hazardous Materials; or (iv) the presence, use, manufacture, production, generation, handling, treatment, recycling, storage, disposal, transportation, distribution, importing, labeling, testing, processing, Release, cleanup or control of, or exposure to, any Hazardous Materials, including the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, the Emergency Planning and Community Right to Know Act, the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Solid Waste Disposal Act, the Clean Water Act, the Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Safe Drinking Water Act, the Occupational Safety and Health Act (to the extent relating to exposure to Hazardous Materials), the Oil Pollution Act, the Endangered Species Act, the National Environmental Policy Act, any analogous state or local Laws, and all regulations promulgated pursuant to any of the foregoing. The term "Environmental Law" does not include prudent, good or desirable operating practices, policies, statements or standards that may be voluntarily employed or adopted by other oil and gas well operators or recommended, but not required, by a Governmental Authority.
- (x) "Excess Qualifying Sale Proceeds" means the proceeds in excess of \$[\*\*\*] from the sale for cash consideration by Seller or any of its Affiliates to any non-affiliated Person (other than Buyer or any of its Affiliates) of any shares of Common Stock pursuant to either this Agreement or the Put/Call Agreement.

- (y) "Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local, tribal, or foreign government, court of competent jurisdiction, administrative or regulatory body, agency, bureau, commission, governing body of any national securities exchange, or other governmental authority or instrumentality in any domestic or foreign jurisdiction, and any appropriate division of any of the foregoing.
- (z) "Hazardous Material" means any: (i) petroleum or any fraction thereof, waste oil, crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, asbestos or asbestos-containing material, radon, toxic mold, urea formaldehyde, per- or polyfluoroalkyl substance, or polychlorinated biphenyls; (ii) substance, material or waste that is explosive or radioactive, or a "hazardous material," "hazardous substance," "pollutant," "contaminant," "solid waste," "hazardous waste," "regulated substance," "toxic waste," or "toxic substance" as designated, listed, or defined in any Environmental Law (including CERCLA and any other so called "superfund" or "superlien" Law and the respective regulations promulgated thereunder); or (iii) other substance, material or waste that is regulated by, or for which liability or standards of conduct may be imposed under, any Environmental Law.
- (aa) "Hydrocarbons" means crude oil, natural gas, casinghead gas, condensate, sulphur, natural gas liquids, plant products, and other liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons produced in association with the foregoing, including coalbed methane and gas and CO<sup>2</sup>.
- (bb) "**Imbalance**" means any Hydrocarbon production imbalance existing as of the Effective Time with respect to any of the Assets, together with any related rights or obligations as to future cash and/or gas or product balancing, as a result of, in the case of production imbalances, Seller having taken and sold for its account cumulative production which is greater or less than Seller's share in cumulative production.
  - (cc) "Income Taxes" means any income, franchise, capital gains and similar Taxes.
  - (dd) "Knowledge of Seller" means the actual knowledge of [\*\*\*], without any duty or obligation of investigation.
- (ee) "Law" means any federal, state, local, municipal, foreign, tribal, or other law, statute, legislation, constitution, principle of common law, resolution, ordinance, code, proclamation, treaty, convention, rule, regulation, or Order, whether legislative, municipal, administrative, or judicial in nature, enacted, adopted, passed, promulgated, made, or put into effect by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority (including Environmental Laws).
- (ff) "Liability" means, with respect to any Person, any indebtedness or other liability or obligation of such Person of any kind, nature, character or description, whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, in contract, tort, strict liability, or otherwise, including all costs and expenses relating to the foregoing.

- (gg) "Loss" means, subject to Section 16.16, any actual loss, damage, injury, Liability, fine, sanction, penalty, charge, fee, cost (including costs incurred in settlement of any Proceeding), or expense (including any legal fees, expert fees, accounting fees, or advisory fees) of any kind or character.
- (hh) "Lowest Cost Response" means, with respect to an alleged Environmental Defect, the most cost-effective and reasonable Remediation (considered as a whole) required under Environmental Laws to cure such Environmental Defect. The Lowest Cost Response shall include taking no action, leaving the condition unaddressed, periodic monitoring or the recording of notices in lieu of remediation, if such responses are allowed under Environmental Laws and allow for the continued safe and prudent operation of the affected Assets. The Lowest Cost response shall not include (i) the costs of either Buyer's employees, (ii) overhead costs of Buyer incurred in the ordinary course of business, or (iii) any costs or expenses relating to the assessment, remediation, removal, abatement, transportation and disposal of any asbestos, asbestos-containing materials, or NORM, unless such actions are currently required to be taken under applicable Environmental Law.
- (ii) "Material Adverse Effect" means any change, effect or circumstance that, individually or when taken together with all other such changes, effects or circumstances is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the value of the Assets or the ownership or operation thereof; provided, however, that "Material Adverse Effect" shall not include any event, occurrence, fact, condition or change, in and of itself, arising out of or attributable to: (i) general economic or political conditions affecting the U.S. economy as a whole; (ii) any changes in financial, banking, securities or commodities markets in general, including any disruption thereof and any decline in the price of any security or any market index or any change in prevailing interest rates; (iii) acts of war (whether or not declared), armed hostilities or terrorism upon the United States, or the escalation or worsening thereof; (iv) any action expressly required by this Agreement or any action taken (or omitted to be taken) at the written request of Buyer; (v) any changes in applicable Laws or accounting rules or the enforcement, implementation or interpretation of such Laws or rules; (vi) any natural or man-made disaster or acts of God; (vii) any failure by Seller to meet any internal or published projections, forecasts or revenue or earnings predictions (provided that the underlying causes of such failures (subject to the other provisions of this definition) shall not be excluded); (viii) the announcement or other disclosure of the transactions to be consummated under, or as referenced in, this Agreement; or (ix) the outbreak or continuation of any disease or epidemic (including COVID-19); provided, further, however, that any change, effect or circumstance (excluding the foregoing clauses (i)-(ix)) that, individually or when taken together with all other changes, effects or circumstances is or is reasonably likely to result in Claims, Losses, Proceedings or Liabilities (or a reduction in value to Assets) in excess of [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purch
  - (jj) "Non-Competition Agreement" means the Non-Competition Agreement substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
- (kk) "Order" means any order, judgment, injunction, edict, decree, ruling, assessment, stipulation, pronouncement, determination, decision, opinion, verdict, sentence, subpoena, writ or award issued, made, entered, rendered, or otherwise put into effect by or under the authority of any court or other Governmental Authority or any arbitrator or arbitration panel.

- (ll) "Permit" means any permit, license, certificate of authority, franchise, concession, registration, or similar qualification or authorization issued, granted, or given by or under the authority of any Governmental Authority.
- (mm) "Permitted Encumbrances" means any one or more of the following described below or created or described in documents described below:
- (i) any Preferential Rights, consents to assignment and similar agreements and which are set forth on <u>Schedule 8.10</u> or <u>Schedule 8.11</u>, as applicable; <u>provided</u> that Seller shall have complied with <u>Section 8.10</u> and <u>Section 8.11</u>;
- (ii) Materialman's, mechanic's, repairman's, employee's, contractor's, operator's and other similar liens or charges arising in the ordinary course of business for obligations that are not delinquent or that will be paid and discharged in the ordinary course of business or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith by appropriate action;
- (iii) All rights to consent by, required notices to, filings with, or other actions by any Governmental Authority in connection with the sale or conveyance of oil and gas leases or interests therein, if the same are customarily sought and received after the Closing;
- (iv) Easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, Permits, surface leases and other similar rights in respect of surface operations that do not materially interfere with the oil and gas operations currently conducted on any Lease;
- (v) Liens arising under the Leases, Units, Contracts, operating agreements, unitization and pooling agreements and production sales contracts securing amounts not yet due or delinquent;
- (vi) Conventional rights of reassignment upon the cessation of Hydrocarbon production in paying quantities or operations that have not been triggered;
- (vii) Delay or failure of any Governmental Authority to approve any assignment or transfer of any Lease to Seller or any predecessor in title to Seller, unless such approval has been expressly denied or rejected in writing by such Governmental Authority;
- (viii) Liens and encumbrances for Asset Taxes and other Taxes not yet due or not yet delinquent, or, if delinquent, that are being contested in good faith in the ordinary course of business and for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP;
- (ix) All rights reserved to or vested in any Governmental Authority to control or regulate any of the Assets in any manner, and all applicable laws, rules and orders of any Governmental Authority;
  - (x) Any defects, burdens or irregularities which are based solely on a lack of information in Seller's files;
  - (xi) Imbalances;

- (xii) Royalties and any overriding royalties, net profits interests, free gas arrangements, production payments, reversionary interests, and other similar burdens on production to the extent that the net cumulative effect of such burdens does not reduce Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to the Subject Formation for any Lease or Well below that shown in <u>Schedule 2.1(a)-1</u> for such Lease or <u>Schedule 2.1(a)-2</u> for such Well, as applicable, or increase Seller's Net Acres (due to an increased Working Interest) with respect to the Subject Formation in any Lease or Working Interest in any Well above that shown in <u>Schedule 2.1(a)-1</u> for such Lease or <u>Schedule 2.1(a)-2</u> for such Well, as applicable, without, in each case, a proportionate increase in the Net Revenue Interest of Seller with respect to the Subject Formation of the applicable Lease or Well;
  - (xiii) Minor defects in title [\*\*\*]; and
- (xiv) Defects based solely on a gap in Seller's chain of title in the state's records as to state leases, or in the county records as to other leases, unless such gap is affirmatively shown to exist in such records by an abstract of title, title opinion, or landman's title chain or runsheet, which documents shall be included in a Title Defect Notice.
- (nn) "Person" means an individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, trust, unincorporated organization or other entity.
- (oo) "**Proceeding**" means any action, proceeding, litigation, suit, or arbitration (whether civil, criminal, administrative, or judicial in nature) commenced, brought, conducted, or heard before any Governmental Authority, arbitrator or arbitration panel.
  - (pp) "Reference Price" means [\*\*\*].
- (qq) "Registrable Securities" shall mean, as of any date of determination, the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration and any other equity security of HighPeak issued or issuable with respect to the such shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration by way of share split, dividend, distribution, recapitalization, merger, exchange, replacement or similar event or otherwise, *less* any shares of Common Stock included in the Post-Closing Escrow. As to any particular Registrable Securities, once issued, such securities shall cease to be Registrable Securities when (A) a Registration Statement with respect to the sale of such securities shall have become effective under the Securities Act and such securities shall have been sold, transferred, disposed of or exchanged in accordance with such Registration Statement; (B) such securities shall have been otherwise transferred, new certificates for such securities not bearing a legend restricting further transfer shall have been delivered by HighPeak and subsequent public distribution of such securities shall not require registration under the Securities Act; (C) such securities shall have ceased to be outstanding; (D) such securities may be sold without registration pursuant to Rule 144 (and without limitation on the amount of securities sold or the manner of sale and without the requirement for HighPeak to be in compliance with the current public information required under Rule 144(c)(1) or Rule 144(i)(2), if applicable); or (E) such securities have been sold to, or through, a broker, dealer or underwriter in a public distribution or other public securities transaction.

- (rr) "Registration Statement" means any registration statement of HighPeak filed or to be filed with the SEC under the Securities Act, including the related prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, and including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.
- (ss) "Release" means any release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, pouring, dumping, emptying, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, escaping, leaching, or migration on or into the Environment.
- (tt) "Remediate" (and its derivatives) means, with respect to any Environmental Condition, the implementation and completion of any remedial, removal or other corrective actions to control, correct or resolve such Environmental Condition to the degree sufficient that such Environmental Condition no longer constitutes an Environmental Defect.
- (uu) "Restriction" means, with respect to an instrument constituting or binding upon an Asset that contains a third-party right to consent to the conveyance of the applicable Asset or otherwise to the transactions contemplated hereby, (i) a provision within such instrument expressly stating that such consent may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the holder; or (ii) a provision within such instrument expressly stating that an assignment in violation of such consent right (a) is void, voidable, invalid, or unenforceable, (b) triggers (or provides the holder the right to impose with respect to the assignment) the payment of money, the posting of collateral security, or the performance of other obligations by the assignee that would not be required in the absence of such assignment, or (c) causes termination of (or a right of the consent holder to terminate) the applicable Assets to be assigned. For the avoidance of doubt, "Restriction" does not include any consent right, which by its express terms, cannot be unreasonably withheld, provided, however, that such consent is not withheld by the holder of such consent right.
- (vv) "Seller Tax Liabilities" means (i) Income Taxes of Seller, and of its Affiliates or any of its direct or indirect owners; (ii) Liabilities for Asset Taxes allocated to Seller pursuant to Section 5.5 (taking into account, and without duplication of, such Asset Taxes effectively borne by Seller as a result of (A) the adjustments to the Base Purchase Price made pursuant to Section 3.3, as applicable, and (B) any payments made from one Party to the other in respect of Asset Taxes pursuant to Section 5.5(b)); (iii) Transfer Taxes, if any; and (iv) Taxes attributable to the Excluded Assets.
- (ww) "Specified Environmental Liabilities" means any fines or penalties or criminal sanctions under applicable Environmental Law(s) assessed by any Governmental Authority against Seller or its Affiliates and attributable to Seller's ownership or operation of the Assets prior to the Closing.
  - (xx) "Stock Escrow Agent" means Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation.
- (yy) "Stock Escrow Agreement" means an escrow agreement to be executed at Closing pertaining to the Post-Closing Escrow by and among Seller, Buyer, HighPeak, and the Stock Escrow Agent.

#### (zz) "Subject Formations" means:

- (i) For each Well, the currently producing formation of such Well; and
- (ii) For each Lease and/or DSU, the depths and formations specifically from the stratigraphic equivalent below the [\*\*\*] in the Boedecker #6 well (API No. 42033006430000) at [\*\*\*] TVD through the stratigraphic equivalent of the base of the [\*\*\*] TVD, as shown on the Gamma Ray/Resistivity log.
- (aaa) "Tax" or "Taxes" means any federal, state, local or tribal, income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium, windfall profits, environmental (including taxes under Section 59A of the Code), custom duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, social security (or similar excises), unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, registration, value added, alternative or add-on minimum, estimated, or other tax of any kind whatsoever, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether disputed or not.
- (bbb) "Tax Return" means any return (including any information return), report, statement, schedule, notice, form, election, estimated Tax filing, claim for refund, or other document (including any attachments thereto and amendments thereof) filed with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to, any Governmental Authority with respect to any Tax.
- (ccc) "Title Defect" means any lien, charge, encumbrance, obligation, defect, or other similar matter that, if not cured, causes Seller not to have Defensible Title in and to the Leases, Wells and DSUs, as applicable, as of the Closing Date.
- (ddd) "VWAP" means the volume weighted average share price of shares of Common Stock traded on the Nasdaq Global Market (the "Nasdaq") (as reported by Bloomberg L.P. under the function "VWAP"), or any other national securities exchange on which the shares of Common Stock are then traded, for the [\*\*\*] consecutive trading Business Days ending on and including the first trading Business Day immediately preceding the date of the applicable determination of value.

#### ARTICLE II.

#### SALE AND PURCHASE OF THE ASSETS

- 2.1 <u>Acquired Assets.</u> On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, upon and subject to the Closing, Seller agrees to sell, convey and deliver to Buyer, and Buyer agrees to purchase and acquire from Seller or any Affiliate of Seller, all of Seller's or Seller's Affiliate's right, title and interest in and to the following (less and except the Excluded Assets, collectively, the "Assets"):
- (a) (i) All of the oil and gas leases, top leases, and lease option agreements listed on Schedule 2.1(a) or otherwise located in the Assigned Area, together with any other oil and gas leases, top leases, and lease option agreements located, in whole or in part, within any DSU, whether producing or non-producing, together with all leasehold estates created thereby (the "Leases"); (ii) any and all Hydrocarbon, water, CO2, disposal, injection or other wells located on or attributable to the Leases including those set forth on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4 (the "Wells"); (iii) all easements, rights of way, and other rights, privileges, benefits and powers with respect to the use and occupation of the surface of, and the subsurface depths under, the land covered by the Leases or the lands used in the operation thereof; and (iv) all rights and interests in respect of any pooled or unitized acreage located in whole or in part within each Lease (including the hypothetical pooled units comprised of the lands described on Schedule 2.1(a)-3), including all Hydrocarbon production from the pool or unit allocated to any such Lease at and after the Effective Time and all interests in any wells within the unit or pool associated with such Lease (the "Units"), regardless of whether such unit or pool production comes from wells or DSUs located within or without the Leases:

- (b) All of the Hydrocarbons in and under the Leases and the Units or produced from the Wells or that is otherwise attributable thereto, in each case, at and after the Effective Time;
- (c) All licenses, servitudes, gas purchase and sale contracts (including interests and rights, if any, with respect to any prepayments, take-or-pay, buydown and buyout agreements) to the extent that the same pertain or relate to periods after the Effective Time, production sales contracts, farmin agreements, farmout agreements, bottom hole agreements, acreage contribution agreements, operating agreements, unit agreements, processing agreements, salt water disposal agreements, water injection agreements, water use agreements, well service agreements, gas balancing agreements, division orders, transfer orders, options, leases of equipment or facilities, joint venture agreements, pooling agreements, transportation agreements, rights-of-way and other contracts, agreements and rights which are owned or held by Seller or to which Seller is a party, in whole or in part, and are appurtenant or relate to any Lease, Well or Unit (collectively, the "Contracts"), including but not limited to those set forth on Schedule 2.1(c):
- (d) Except to the extent described on Schedule 2.2, all of the real, personal and mixed property and facilities located in or on the Leases which is owned by Seller, in whole or in part, including surface and subsurface well equipment; casing; tanks; tank batteries; dehydration facilities; crude oil, natural gas, condensate or products in storage severed after the Effective Time; tubing; compressors; pumps; motors; valves; meters; separators; fixtures; machinery and other equipment, including field maintenance and communications systems related to the Leases and owned by Seller; SCADA system assets; temporary office buildings and the contents thereof; pipelines; gathering lines; field processing equipment; inventory and all other improvements used in the operation thereof (the "Related Assets");
- (e) To the extent assignable, transferrable or re-issuable by Seller (with consent, if applicable, but without the payment of any fee unless Buyer agrees in writing to pay such fee), all Permits, as well as any applications for the same, related to the Assets or the use or operation thereof;
- (f) All water rights including but not limited to water systems, wells, springs, lakes, streams, ponds, rivers, ditches, ditch rights and the like, if any, related to the Assets or the use of operation thereof;

- (g) All surface fee interests, easements, permits, licenses, servitudes, rights of way, surface leases, surface and subsurface use agreements, and other rights to use the surface estate, in each case to the extent appurtenant to and used or held primarily for use in connection with the ownership or operation of the Leases, Wells, or Units;
- (h) all equipment, machinery, fixtures, and other tangible personal property and improvements located on, or used or held for use in connection with, the Assets except the Excluded Assets (the "**Equipment**");
- (i) Except to the extent described on <u>Schedule 2.2</u>, all inventory, vehicles, office leases, buildings, warehouses, yards, radio towers, radio licenses, radio equipment, furniture, office equipment, computers and related peripheral equipment located in such facilities, in each case to the extent appurtenant to and used or held primarily for use in connection with the ownership or operation of the Leases, Wells, or Units;
- (j) Copies of all of Seller's files, records, data and electronically stored information relating to the items described in subsections (a), (b), (c), (d), (e), (g) and (i) above or the Leasing Operations, including title records (title opinions, division order title opinions and any title curative documents); surveys, maps and drawings; contracts; correspondence; geological records and information; production records, electric logs, core data, pressure data, decline curves, prospect files and related information; reserve reports; graphical production curves and all related matters and construction documents; environmental reports, assessments and studies; all geophysical and seismic records, data and information, including that identified on Schedule 2.1(j) (except (i) to the extent the transfer, delivery or copying of such records are restricted by contract with a third party and such third party has not consented to the transfer, delivery or copying of such documents; (ii) all documents and instruments of Seller that may be protected by the attorney work-product or attorney-client privilege; (iii) all accounting and Tax files, books, records, Tax Returns and Tax work papers related to such items; (iv) records relating to the disposition, and copies of records relating to the acquisition, by Seller (or proposed disposition) of the Assets, including proposals received from or made to, and records of negotiation with, any Person, and any economic analyses associated therewith) (collectively, the "Records");
- (k) All non-present and/or non-possessory interests in oil and gas leases, mineral interests, royalty interests, overriding royalty interests, payments out of production, net profits interests, reversionary rights, contractual rights to development and/or production, and all other rights and interests relating to any of the same to the extent relating to lands covered by the Leases or lands pooled, communitized or unitized therewith; and
- (l) All rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, audit rights, guarantees, warranties and indemnities (i) arising from acts, omissions or events occurring from and after the Effective Time to the extent covering, related or attributable to any of the other Assets, or (ii) covering, related or attributable to the Assumed Liabilities.
- 2.2 <u>Excluded Assets</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Assets shall not include, and there is excepted, reserved and excluded from the purchase and sale contemplated herein, the following (collectively, the "**Excluded Assets**"):

- (a) except to the extent relating to any Assumed Liabilities and except for which an adjustment has been made to the Base Purchase Price, all accounts receivable or rights to payment accruing or attributable to any period before the Effective Time, including the right to any payments with respect to any royalties or net profits, the full benefit of all liens and security for such accounts or rights to payment, and all rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, or choses in action relating to the foregoing, except in each case with respect to Asset Taxes, which shall be governed as provided in Section 5.5;
- (b) except to the extent related to the Assumed Liabilities, all rights to any refund costs or expenses borne by Seller or Seller's predecessors in interest attributable to periods prior to the Effective Time, including amounts recoverable through audits with respect to periods prior to the Effective Time, except with respect to Asset Taxes, which shall be governed as provided in <u>Section 5.5</u>;
- (c) all rights or interest of Seller in any intellectual property, industrial property, and other proprietary rights (or portion thereof), including any trademarks and trade names, other than the Records;
- (d) all information entitled to legal privilege, including attorney work product and attorney-client communications (excluding title opinions), and information relating to the Excluded Assets;
  - (e) except for reserve reports, all studies related to reserve assessments and economic estimates and analyses;
- (f) all records relating to the disposition, and copies of records relating to the acquisition, by Seller (or proposed disposition) of the Assets, including proposals received from or made to, and records of negotiation with, any Person, and any economic analyses associated therewith;
- (g) all rights and interests in respect of any (i) futures trade, put option, synthetic put option, or other arrangement relating to commodities entered into by a Person on any commodities exchange to hedge such Person's exposure to or to speculate on commodity prices; and (ii) swap, collar, floor or other derivative transaction or hedging arrangement of any type or nature whatsoever in the over-the-counter derivatives market;
- (h) all deposits, surety bonds, rights under any letters of credit, and collateral pledged to secure any Liability or obligation of Seller in respect of the Assets;
  - (i) debt instruments of Seller and its Affiliates;
  - (i) hedge instruments of Seller and its Affiliates;
- (k) all rights under policies of insurance held by Seller or any of its Affiliates and claims under such policies, and all policies of insurance issued by Seller and its Affiliates;

- (l) except to the extent relating to the Assumed Liabilities, all guarantees, warranties and indemnities (other than the warranties and indemnities set forth in this Agreement) issued by or for the benefit of Seller or any of its Affiliates;
- (m) except to the extent relating to any Assumed Liabilities, audit rights under operating agreements or other contracts or agreements with respect to periods before the Effective Time or in connection with any other Excluded Assets or Retained Liabilities (and Buyer will cooperate with Seller to facilitate Seller's exercise of such rights);
- (n) all rights, Claims, refunds, causes of action, or choses in action of Seller under this Agreement or any other agreement or instrument entered into or delivered in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby or arising out of or relating to any of the other Excluded Assets;
- (o) to the extent relating to the other Excluded Assets or any matter for which Seller owes indemnity to Buyer hereunder, all warranties and rights to indemnification recoverable from any third party;
- (p) all proceeds from the settlement or disposition of any Claims, Proceedings, or disputes to the extent such proceeds relate to any other Excluded Assets; and
  - (q) those items listed on Schedule 2.2.

## 2.3 <u>Assumed and Retained Liabilities.</u>

- (a) On the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, upon and subject to the Closing, Buyer hereby assumes and agrees to timely and fully pay, perform and otherwise discharge, without recourse to Seller or its Affiliates, all of the Assumed Liabilities, in each case, without limiting Seller's indemnity obligations under <u>Section 15.1</u> (subject to the limitations and restrictions in <u>Article XV</u>).
- (b) Provided that the Closing occurs, Seller shall retain the following: (i) for the period beginning at Closing and ending on the date that is [\*\*\*] after Closing, and only for such period, all damages, Liabilities, and obligations arising out of or attributable to (A) the obligations to pay royalties or other interest owners revenues and for claims of improper calculation or payment of royalties, overriding royalties, and other burdens on production, and (B) the disposal, arrangement for disposal, or transportation prior to Closing of any Hazardous Materials generated or used by or on behalf of Seller and taken from any Asset to any location that is not part of the same Asset and (ii) from an after Closing and continuing indefinitely, all Liabilities to the extent arising out of or attributable to (A) any civil or administrative fines or penalties and criminal sanctions imposed on Seller or its Affiliates in connection with any pre-Closing violation of, or failure to comply with, Law, including Environmental Laws, (B) personal injury (including death) claims attributable to the operation of the Assets prior to the Closing, (C) any claim made by or on behalf of an employee of Seller or any Affiliate of Seller to the extent arising from an employment relationship with Seller or any Affiliate of Seller prior to Closing, (D) the Excluded Assets, (E) the Specified Environmental Liabilities; (F) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Seller prior to the Closing Date, (G) matters set forth on Schedule 8.6, and (H) those liabilities set forth on Schedule 2.3 (collectively, the "Retained Liabilities"). From and after the date set out above for each item, such item shall be an Assumed Liability.

2.4 "As Is, Where Is" Purchase. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, BUYER SHALL ACQUIRE THE ASSETS AND ASSUME THE ASSUMED LIABILITIES ON AN "AS IS, WHERE IS" AND "WITH ALL FAULTS" BASIS. EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, BUYER HAS INSPECTED, OR WAIVED (AND UPON CLOSING SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE WAIVED) ITS RIGHT TO INSPECT, THE ASSETS FOR ALL PURPOSES AND SATISFIED ITSELF AS TO THEIR PHYSICAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITION, BOTH SURFACE AND SUBSURFACE, AND SHALL ASSUME ALL RISKS AND LIABILITIES THAT THERE MAY BE NORM, HAZARDOUS MATERIALS OR OTHER WASTE, TOXIC, HAZARDOUS, EXTREMELY HAZARDOUS, OR OTHER MATERIALS OR SUBSTANCES IN, ON OR UNDER THE ASSETS, OR THAT THE ASSETS HAVE ANY OTHER ADVERSE PHYSICAL CONDITIONS, INCLUDING THE PRESENCE OF UNKNOWN ABANDONED OIL AND GAS WELLS, WATER WELLS, SUMPS, PITS, PIPELINES, OR OTHER WASTE OR SPILL SITES THAT MAY NOT HAVE BEEN REVEALED BY BUYER'S INVESTIGATION. TO THE EXTENT INCLUDED IN THE ASSUMED ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES AND NOT OTHERWISE SUBJECT TO SECTIONS 7.3(c)(iii)(B) OR 15.1, FROM AND AFTER THE CLOSING, ALL RESPONSIBILITY AND LIABILITY RELATING TO ALL SUCH CONDITIONS, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, FIXED OR CONTINGENT, SHALL BE TRANSFERRED FROM SELLER TO BUYER, REGARDLESS OF WHEN THE LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY AROSE.

### ARTICLE III.

### PURCHASE PRICE

- 3.1 <u>Deposit</u>. Within 2 Business Days following the Execution Date, Buyer will fund by wire transfer in same day funds to the Deposit Escrow Agent an amount equal to \$[\*\*\*] (the "Deposit") to be held, invested, and disbursed in accordance with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and an escrow agreement (the "Deposit Escrow Agreement," and together with each other agreement, document, instrument or certificate contemplated by this Agreement to be executed in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, the "Related Agreements") of even date herewith by and between Buyer and Seller. If Closing occurs, on or before the Closing Date, the Parties shall execute and deliver to the Deposit Escrow Agent a joint instruction letter directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer at Closing.
- 3.2 <u>Purchase Price</u>. The base purchase price for the Assets (the "Base Purchase Price"), as adjusted pursuant to <u>Section 3.3</u>, consists of (a) \$0 in cash or other immediately available funds (the "Cash Purchase Price"), and (b) a number of fully paid and nonassessable shares of Common Stock (as defined below) of HighPeak, which shall be issued in book-entry form on the books and records of Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, a New York corporation, the transfer agent and registrar for Common Stock (the "Transfer Agent"), equal to \$11,600,000 divided by the Reference Price (the "Stock Consideration").

- 3.3 <u>Adjustments to the Base Purchase Price</u>. At the Closing, adjustments to the Base Purchase Price shall be made, without duplication, as follows in accordance with <u>Section 5.1</u>.
  - (a) The Cash Purchase Price shall be adjusted upward by:
- (i) an amount equal to the amount of proceeds derived from the sale of Hydrocarbons net to Seller's interest, net of royalties from the Assets, received by Buyer which are attributable to time periods prior to the Effective Time;
- (ii) Asset Taxes in respect of periods (or portions thereof) beginning on or after the Effective Time and ending on or before the Closing Date allocable to Buyer in accordance with Section 5.5 but paid or otherwise economically borne by Seller;
- (iii) subject to <u>Section 16.1</u>, an amount equal to the costs, expenses and other expenditures relating to the Assets (whether capitalized or expensed), including (i) royalties, overriding royalties, and similar burdens on production; (ii) rentals, shut-in well payments, and other lease maintenance payments; and (iii) COPAS overhead paid by Seller consistent with the practices of a reasonable and prudent operator of oil and gas properties in the areas where the Assets are located and in accordance with this Agreement, for the period from the Effective Time to the Closing Date;
- (iv) all amounts owed to Seller by third parties as of the Effective Time under the Contracts with respect to any Imbalances existing at the Effective Time, such amounts to be determined for Imbalances by multiplying the Imbalance volume by the average price per MMBtu realized by Seller for natural gas produced during the calendar month prior to the month in which the Closing Date falls;
- (v) an amount equal to (A) Seller's Net Revenue Interest share of all Hydrocarbons attributable to the Assets that, at the Effective Time, were in storage, in tanks, or above the load level connection, *multiplied by* (B) the applicable price for which the applicable production from the Assets was sold most recently after the Effective Time;
- (vi) an amount equal to all actual payments made by Seller prior to the Closing Date pursuant to any of the authorizations for expenditure listed on Schedule 8.4; and
  - (vii) any other amount agreed upon in writing by Seller and Buyer.
- (b) The Stock Consideration shall be adjusted downward by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to, in each case of the following, (x) the positive dollar value of such amount, *divided* by (y) the Reference Price:
- (i) an amount equal to Seller's Net Revenue Interest share of the amount of proceeds derived from the sale of Hydrocarbons received by Seller which are attributable to time periods after the Effective Time, <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that with respect to any reductions pursuant to this <u>Section 3.3(b)(i)</u>, Buyer may elect to offset any increases to the Cash Purchase Price pursuant to <u>Section 3.3(a)</u> in lieu of reducing the Stock Consideration;

- (ii) Asset Taxes in respect of periods (or portions thereof) prior to the Effective Time allocable to Seller in accordance with Section 5.5 but paid or otherwise economically borne by Buyer;
- (iii) an amount equal to the costs, expenses and other expenditures relating to the Assets that are unpaid as of the Closing Date and assessed for or attributable to periods of time prior to the Effective Time, <u>provided</u> that to the extent the actual amounts cannot be determined prior to the agreement of Buyer and Seller with respect to the Closing Adjustment Statement, a reasonable estimate of such costs, expenses and other expenditures shall be used;
- (iv) all amounts owed by Seller to third parties as of the Effective Time under the Contracts with respect to any Imbalances existing as of the Effective Time, such amounts to be determined for Imbalances by multiplying the Imbalance volume by the average price per MMBtu realized by Seller for natural gas produced during the calendar month prior to the month in which the Closing Date falls;
- (v) all undisputed amounts related to Title Defects as determined pursuant to <u>Article VI</u>, Environmental Defects as determined pursuant to <u>Article VII</u>, Assets excluded from the transaction due to unobtained consents as determined pursuant to <u>Section 10.10</u> or Preferential Rights as determined pursuant to <u>Section 10.3</u>; and
  - (vi) any other amount provided for in this Agreement or agreed upon in writing by Seller and Buyer.
- (c) Seller shall have the right to collect any receivable, refund or other amounts associated with periods and derived from events occurring prior to the Effective Time. To the extent that Buyer collects any such receivable, refund or other amounts which do not adjust upward the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 3.3(a), Buyer shall promptly remit any such amounts to Seller.
- (d) Buyer shall have the right to collect any receivable, refund or other amounts associated with periods and derived from events occurring from and after the Effective Time. To the extent that Seller collects any such receivable, refund or other amounts which do not adjust downward the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 3.3(b), Seller shall promptly remit any such amounts to Buyer.
- (e) For all purposes under this Agreement, the determination of whether any amounts, monies, proceeds, receipts, credits, income, expenditures, costs, expenses, disbursements, obligations, liabilities and other matters are attributable to the period before, on or after the Effective Time shall be made in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, <u>provided</u> that, to the extent applicable, the date of the performance of any service or delivery of the goods as reflected on the vendor's invoice for such costs shall be controlling for purposes of allocating same.
- (f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller shall have the right to elect, at Seller's option, to have all or part of any downward adjustments to be made to the Stock Consideration pursuant to this Agreement instead made as downward adjustments to the Cash Purchase Price

- 3.4 <u>Allocation</u>. The Base Purchase Price shall be allocated to the Assets as set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u>. Seller and Buyer agree that the values allocated to various portions of the Assets, which are set forth on <u>Schedule 3.4</u> (singularly with respect to each item, the "**Allocated Value**," and, collectively, the "**Allocated Values**"), are for the purposes of calculating any adjustments to the Base Purchase Price under this Agreement.
- 3.5 Tax Allocation. Buyer and Seller shall agree to an allocation of the Base Purchase Price and any other items properly treated as consideration for U.S. federal Income Tax purposes among the Assets in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code and the treasury regulations promulgated thereunder and, to the extent allowed under applicable federal income Laws relating to Taxes, in a manner consistent with the Allocated Values, within 30 days after the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement is finally determined (the "Allocation"). If Seller and Buyer cannot reach an agreement with respect to the Allocation, any disputed items shall be resolved by a nationally-recognized accounting firm to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties pursuant to procedures comparable to the procedures applicable under Section 5.2(c), which resolution shall be final and binding on the Parties. After Seller and Buyer reach final agreement with respect to the Allocation, (a) Buyer and Seller shall update the Allocation in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code following any adjustment to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to this Agreement, and (b) Buyer and Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, report consistently with the Allocation, as adjusted, for financial accounting purposes and on all Tax Returns, including Internal Revenue Service Form 8594, and neither Seller nor Buyer shall take any position on any Tax Return that is inconsistent with the Allocation, as adjusted, unless required to do so by a "final determination" within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code; provided, however, that neither Party shall be unreasonably impeded in its ability and discretion to negotiate, compromise and/or settle any Tax audit, claim or similar proceedings in connection with such allocation.

### ARTICLE IV.

## **CLOSING**

- 4.1 <u>Closing.</u> Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in <u>Article XII</u> and <u>Article XIII</u> and any termination pursuant to <u>Article XIV</u>, the sale and purchase transaction as contemplated by this Agreement (the "Closing") shall, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by Buyer and Seller, take place at the offices of Seller at 10:00 a.m., Central Time, on [\*\*\*], 2022 (the "Target Closing Date"), or if all conditions in <u>Article XIII</u> and <u>Article XIII</u> to be satisfied prior to Closing have not yet been satisfied or waived on the Target Closing Date, within 5 Business Days of such conditions having been satisfied or waived (except for any such conditions that by their nature may only be satisfied at or in connection with the occurrence of Closing); <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Closing shall occur prior to August 17, 2022 (the "Drop Dead Date"). The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to herein as the "Closing Date." The Closing will take place at the offices of Seller. The Closing shall be effective for all purposes as of the Effective Time.
  - 4.2 Deliveries by Seller. At Closing, Seller shall deliver to Buyer:
    - (a) a certificate of an officer of Seller evidencing compliance with the conditions set forth in Section 12.1;

- (b) the Assignment and Bill of Sale duly executed by Seller, including duly executed recordable counterparts for filing in the relevant individual counties where the Assets are located;
  - (c) the Non-Competition Agreement duly executed by Seller;
  - (d) a Certificate of Non-Foreign Status duly executed by Seller;
- (e) such documents as Buyer or counsel for Buyer may reasonably request, including the transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) to be executed by Seller pursuant to Section 10.2;
- (f) to the extent obtained, copies of any waivers of Restrictions obtained pursuant to <u>Section 10.10</u> or Preferential Rights obtained by Seller pursuant to <u>Section 10.3</u>;
- (g) change of operator forms as to those Wells currently operated by Seller, if any, executed by Seller and reasonably suitable for filing with applicable Governmental Authority;
  - (h) assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority duly executed by Seller;
  - (i) Records, Contracts, Permits and governmental authorizations in accordance with Section 10.5;
  - (j) a listing of suspended funds as required by Section 5.3;
- (k) fully recordable releases of all liens, security interests and other encumbrances securing money borrowed by Seller or any of its Affiliates affecting the Assets;
- (l) to the Deposit Escrow Agent, a joint instruction letter, duly executed by Seller, directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer; and
  - (m) the Stock Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Seller.
  - 4.3 Deliveries by Buyer. At Closing, Buyer and/or HighPeak shall deliver to Seller or Seller's designee, as indicated:
- (a) Buyer shall deliver the Cash Purchase Price, if any, set forth in the Closing Adjustment Statement, by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Seller;
- (b) HighPeak shall deposit with the Stock Escrow Agent, also serving as the Transfer Agent, the number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) ten percent (10%) of the adjusted Base Purchase Price, divided by (ii) the Reference Price, subject to any adjustments set forth in Section 6.5 (such aggregate amount, the "Post-Closing Escrow"), as a holdback in accordance with Section 15.6, which Post-Closing Escrow shall be issued by HighPeak in book-entry form on the books and records of the Transfer Agent and annotated with the restrictive legends indicating that the Post-Closing Escrow is subject to (x) the terms and conditions of the Stock Escrow Agreement and this Agreement and (y) the restrictions under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), in each case substantially in the form set forth in Section 10.11, and upon such issuance, the Post-Closing Escrow shall be deemed deposited with the Stock Escrow Agent;

- (c) HighPeak shall deliver to Seller, in book-entry form on the books and records of the Transfer Agent, the Stock Consideration less the Post-Closing Escrow, free and clear of all liens and restrictions, other than restrictions imposed by this Agreement and applicable securities laws;
- (d) Buyer shall deliver the Assignment and Bill of Sale duly executed by Buyer, including duly executed recordable counterparts for filing in the relevant individual counties where the Assets are located;
  - (e) Buyer shall deliver a certificate of an officer of Buyer evidencing compliance with the conditions set forth in Section 13.1;
- (f) Buyer shall deliver change of operator forms as to those Wells currently operated by Seller, if any, executed by Buyer and reasonably suitable for filing with applicable Governmental Authority;
- (g) Buyer shall deliver evidence, reasonably satisfactory to Seller, of Buyer's compliance with <u>Section 11.1</u>, including copies of all bonds or letters of credit posted by Buyer;
  - (h) Buyer shall deliver the transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) to be executed by Buyer pursuant to Section 11.3;
  - (i) Buyer shall deliver assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority duly executed by Buyer;
  - (j) HighPeak and Buyer shall deliver the Stock Escrow Agreement, duly executed by HighPeak and Buyer; and
- (k) Buyer shall execute and deliver to the Deposit Escrow Agent a joint instruction letter directing the Deposit Escrow Agent to release the Deposit to Buyer.
- 4.4 <u>Further Cooperation</u>. At the Closing and thereafter as may be necessary, Seller and Buyer shall execute and deliver such other instruments and documents and take such other actions as may be reasonably necessary to evidence and effectuate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

### ARTICLE V.

### PURCHASE PRICE ADJUSTMENTS

Closing Adjustments. With respect to matters that can be determined as of the Closing, Seller shall prepare, in accordance with the provisions of this Section 5.1, a statement (the "Closing Adjustment Statement") with relevant supporting information setting forth each adjustment to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration contemplated by Sections 3.3(a) and 3.3(b), respectively. Seller shall submit the Closing Adjustment Statement to Buyer, together with appropriate data supporting the calculation of amounts presented on the Closing Adjustment Statement, no later than 3 Business Days prior to the scheduled Closing Date. When available, actual figures will be used for the adjustments at Closing. To the extent actual figures are not available, estimates shall be used subject to final adjustments as described in Section 5.2 below. Prior to the Closing, Buyer and Seller shall review the adjustments proposed by Seller in the Closing Adjustment Statement. Agreed upon adjustments shall be taken into account in computing adjustments to be made to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration at the Closing. If Buyer and Seller do not agree upon any given proposed adjustments, then subject to the procedures set forth in Section 6.4(d) and Section 7.3(c)(ii) and any disputes to be handled in accordance with such procedures pursuant to the terms hereof, the amounts in dispute shall be deferred to the final adjustments as described in Section 5.2, and the amount of any such adjustments as proposed by Buyer shall be used for purposes of computing adjustments to be made to the Cash Purchase Price and Stock Consideration at the Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall the Stock Consideration ever be increased hereunder, it being understood and agreed that any upward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price shall be solely accounted for through an increase to the Cash Purchase Price.

### 5.2 <u>Post-Closing Adjustments.</u>

- (a) A post-closing adjustment statement (the "Post-Closing Adjustment Statement") based on the actual figures and reflecting the adjustments to the Cash Purchase Price contemplated in Sections 3.3(a) and 3.3(b) shall be prepared and delivered by Seller to Buyer within 180 days after the Closing, proposing final adjustments to the calculation of the Base Purchase Price based on the information then available. Seller or Buyer, as the case may be, shall be given reasonable access to and shall be entitled to a review and audit during normal business hours of the other Party's records pertaining to the computation of amounts claimed in the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement. In the preparation of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, Seller shall take into account Section 5.6.
- (b) Within 60 days after receipt of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a written statement describing in reasonable detail its objections (if any) to any amounts or items set forth on or omitted from the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement. If Buyer does not raise any objections within such period, then the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall become final and binding upon the Parties at the end of such period.
- (c) If Buyer raises any objections to the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to resolve any such objections. If the Parties are unable to resolve any disputed item, then within 30 days after Seller's receipt of Buyer's written objections to the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement, any such disputed item shall be submitted to a nationally-recognized accounting firm to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties. The resolution of disputes by the accounting firm so selected shall be set forth in writing and shall be conclusive, binding and non-appealable upon the Parties and the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall become final and binding upon the Parties on the date of such resolution. The fees and expenses of such accounting firm shall be paid one-half by Buyer and one-half by Seller.

- (d) Within 5 days after the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement has become final and binding on the Parties, Seller or Buyer, as the case may be, shall pay to the other such sums as are due to settle accounts between the Parties due to differences between the estimated Cash Purchase Price paid at the Closing pursuant to the Closing Adjustment Statement and the actual Cash Purchase Price set forth on the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement.
- 5.3 <u>Suspended Funds.</u> At the Closing, Seller shall provide to Buyer a listing showing all Suspense Funds attributable to the Assets which are then held in suspense, if any, and, to the extent Seller is able to identify the reasons therefor, a statement of such reasons and the applicable records pertaining thereto, and shall transfer to Buyer all Suspense Funds, to the extent (and only to the extent) such Suspense Funds are not negative amounts. Based on such information received from Seller, Buyer shall properly distribute all Suspense Funds that it receives from Seller.
- 5.4 <u>Audit Adjustments</u>. Seller retains all rights to adjustments resulting from any operating agreement and other audit claims asserted against third-party operators on transactions occurring prior to the Effective Time (which includes Buyer, if applicable). Any credit received by Buyer pertaining to such an audit claim shall be paid to Seller within 30 days after receipt at no cost or expense to Buyer.

### 5.5 <u>Asset Taxes and Tax Returns.</u>

(a) Proration. All Asset Taxes with respect to the Assets shall be allocated between Seller and Buyer as of the Effective Time on the Closing Adjustment Statement and on the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement; provided, however, that Seller (not Buyer) shall be allocated and bear the portion, if any, of such Asset Taxes that consist of penalties, interests or additions to Tax to the extent attributable to a breach by Seller of the representations or warranties set forth in Section 8.8. On such settlement statements, Seller will be responsible for Asset Taxes attributable to time periods prior to the Effective Time and Buyer will be responsible for Asset Taxes for time periods on and after the Effective Time. In the case of any taxable period that includes the Effective Time (a "Straddle Period"), the amount of Asset Taxes for such Straddle Period that relates to time periods prior to the Effective Time shall (i) for Asset Taxes that are ad valorem, property or other Asset Taxes imposed on a periodic basis that are assessed against the Assets with respect to a Tax period (or portion thereof) beginning at or after the Effective Time, but excluding any such Taxes that are based on the severance or production of Hydrocarbons, shall be allocated entirely to Buyer, and such Asset Taxes assessed against the Assets with respect to a Tax period (or portion thereof) ending prior to the Effective Time, shall be allocated entirely to Sellers, (ii) Asset Taxes that are imposed on the severance or production of Hydrocarbons shall be allocated between the Parties based on the number of units or value of production actually produced, as applicable, before, and at or after, the Effective Time, as applicable and (iii) Asset Taxes based upon sales or receipts or resulting from specific transactions such as the sale or other transfer of property, shall be allocated to the period in which the transaction giving rise to such Asset Taxes occurred (i.e., prior to the Effective Time)

- (b) To the extent the actual amount of an Asset Tax is not known at the time of Closing (for purposes of the Closing Adjustment Statement) or as of the date of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement (for purposes of the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement), the Parties shall utilize the most recent information available in estimating the amount of such Asset Tax for purposes of such applicable statement. At any time the Party (the "Paying Party") receiving an Asset Tax bill or notice applicable to the Assets for a Straddle Period shall promptly notify the other Party or Parties that may be responsible for a portion of such Asset Taxes pursuant to this Section 5.5(b) (the "Reimbursing Party") in writing, and the Paying Party shall pay such Asset Tax bill prior to the last day such Asset Taxes may be paid without penalty or interest. Upon receipt of the written notice from the Paying Party, which shall include appropriate supporting documentation, the Reimbursing Party shall promptly pay the Paying Party any amount equal to the portion of the Asset Taxes for which the Reimbursing Party is liable under this Section 5.5. The Parties shall reasonably cooperate with each other after Closing with respect to any Asset Tax assessment or valuation (or protest in connection therewith) by any Governmental Authority with respect to a Straddle Period. To the extent the actual amount of an Asset Tax (or the amount thereof paid or otherwise economically borne by a Party) is ultimately determined to be different than the amount (if any) that was taken into account in the Base Purchase Price as finally determined pursuant to Section 3.3, payments will be made from one Party to the other in a commercially reasonable amount of time to the extent necessary to cause each Party to bear the amount of such Asset Tax that is allocable to such Party under Section 5.5(a).
- (c) Refunds of Asset Taxes paid (or to the extent payable but not paid due to offset against other Taxes) with respect to or attributable to the Assets shall be diligently pursued and promptly paid by the Party receiving the benefit of the payment or offset as follows: (a) to Seller if attributable to Asset Taxes allocable to Seller pursuant to this Section 5.5; and (b) to Buyer if attributable to Asset Taxes allocable to Buyer pursuant to this Section 5.5.
- (d) Subject to Buyer's indemnification rights under Section 15.1, after the Closing Date, Buyer shall (i) be responsible for paying any Asset Taxes relating to any Tax period that ends before or includes the Effective Time that become due and payable after the Closing Date and shall file with the appropriate Governmental Authority any and all Tax Returns required to be filed after the Closing Date with respect to such Asset Taxes, (ii) submit each such Tax Return to Seller for its review and comment reasonably in advance of and in any event no later than 10 days before the due date therefor, and (iii) timely file any such Tax Return, incorporating any reasonable comments received from Seller prior to the due date therefor. The Parties agree that (x) this Section 5.5(d) is intended to solely address the timing and manner in which certain Tax Returns relating to Asset Taxes are filed and the Asset Taxes shown thereon are paid to the applicable Governmental Authority, and (y) nothing in this Section 5.5(d) shall be interpreted as altering the manner in which Asset Taxes are allocated to and economically borne by the Parties.
- 5.6 <u>Cooperation</u>. Each Party covenants and agrees to cooperate in all reasonable respects in the pursuit and payment of amounts referred to in <u>Sections 5.2, 5.4</u> and <u>5.5</u>.

## ARTICLE VI.

## **DUE DILIGENCE; TITLE MATTERS**

- 6.1 General Access.
  - (a) Prior to Closing, Seller shall:

- (i) give Buyer and its representatives, employees, consultants, independent contractors, attorneys and other advisors reasonable access to all Records and appropriate personnel;
- (ii) furnish to Buyer all other relevant information with respect to the Assets or the Leasing Operations as Buyer may from time to time reasonably request, unless Seller is prohibited therefrom by any agreement, contract, obligation or duty by which it is bound or by the necessity of any third party approval (and upon Buyer's request, Seller shall use reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of third party operators to give Buyer and its representatives reasonable access to the Assets and similar information with respect to Assets not operated by Seller or its Affiliates); and
- (iii) promptly furnisher Buyer and its representatives with such additional financial, operating, and other data and information as Buyer may reasonably request.
- (b) Seller makes no warranty or representation of any kind as to the accuracy, completeness, or materiality of any Records, and Buyer agrees that any conclusions drawn from the Records or any such other information shall be the result of its own independent review and judgment.
- 6.2 <u>Seller's Title.</u> Seller hereby warrants and shall defend that it has Defensible Title (as defined below) to the Leases and the Wells unto Buyer against every Person lawfully claiming the Leases or Assets or any part thereof by, through or under Seller but not otherwise, subject, however, to the Permitted Encumbrances and the terms and conditions of this Agreement (the "Special Warranty"). The Special Warranty constitutes a special warranty of title by, through and under Seller under the applicable laws of the State of Texas. No later than 5:00 p.m. Central Time on the date that is [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, Buyer may furnish Seller a notice of breach setting forth any matters which Buyer asserts as a breach of the Special Warranty. Seller shall have a reasonable opportunity, but not the obligation, to cure any alleged breach prior to the date that is 90 days after Buyer provides written notice of such alleged breach to Seller. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, (i) Buyer shall be deemed to have waived all breaches of Seller's Special Warranty for which Seller has not received on or before the date [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date a notice of such breach, and (ii) any Special Warranty claim made pursuant to this Agreement shall not be subject to the Individual Title Defect Threshold or the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold.
- 6.3 <u>Defensible Title</u>. As used herein the term "**Defensible Title**" shall mean that title of Seller to each DSU, Lease and Well (as applicable) that, as of the Closing Date, and in each case except for and subject to the Permitted Encumbrances, is (i) deducible of record or (ii) obtained by nonconsent elections, in each case, made or delivered pursuant to joint operating agreements, pooling agreements or unitization agreements, or any similar agreement or order, and:
  - (a) is free and clear of any defects, liens or similar encumbrances and irregularities, in each case, other than Permitted Encumbrances;

- (b) as to the Subject Formations for each Lease, Well or DSU, as applicable, entitles Seller to receive not less than the Net Revenue Interest set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such Lease, Well or DSU, as applicable, except for (i) decreases in connection with those operations in which Seller may be a nonconsenting co-owner, (ii) decreases resulting from the reversion of interests to co-owners with operations in which such co-owners elected not to consent after the Execution Date, (iii) decreases resulting from the establishment or amendment of pools or units from and after the Effective Time, (iv) decreases required to allow other working interest owners to make up past underproduction or pipelines to make up past under-deliveries, and (v) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Net Revenue Interest" shall mean (A) with respect to a Lease or Well, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such Lease or Well, after giving effect to all burdens on such Lease borne by Seller, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (B) with respect to a DSU located entirely within an unpooled Lease, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such Lease, after giving effect to all burdens on such Lease borne by Seller, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (C) with respect to a DSU located within a pooled unit, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the Subject Formations of such pooled unit, after giving effect to all burdens on such pooled unit borne by Seller, throughout the productive life thereof; and (D) with respect to any DSU for an allocation well, Seller's interest in and to all Hydrocarbons produced, saved and sold from or allocated to the pro rata portion of the DSU located within the applicable Lease, in each case, limited to the Subject Formations; and
- (c) as to the Subject Formations for each Lease or DSU, as applicable, entitles Seller to not less than the number of Net Acres set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such DSU or Lease, except for (a) increases that are accompanied by at least a proportionate increase in Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to Subject Formations of the affected Lease or DSU, (b) increases resulting from contribution requirements with respect to defaults by coowners under the applicable operating agreement, and (c) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Net Acre" shall mean, as calculated separately with respect to each Lease or DSU (or portions thereof), (x) the number of gross acres in the lands covered by such DSU, multiplied by (y) the lessor's undivided percentage interest in the oil, gas and mineral estate in the Subject Formation in the lands covered by such Lease or DSU (or portions thereof), multiplied by (z) Seller's Working Interest in such Lease or DSU; provided that if items (x) and/or (y) vary as to different areas in a Lease, a separate calculation in accordance herewith shall be performed for each such area as if it were a separate Lease; and
- (d) as to the Subject Formation of each Well, requires Seller to bear no more than the Working Interest set forth on Schedule 3.4 for such Well, except for (i) increases that are accompanied by at least a proportionate increase in Seller's Net Revenue Interest with respect to the Subject Formation of the affected Well, (ii) increases resulting from contribution requirements with respect to defaults by co-owners under the applicable operating agreement, and (iii) as otherwise shown on Schedule 3.4. "Working Interest" shall mean (A) with respect to a Well, the interest in such Well that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such Well (in each case, limited to the Subject Formation for such Well, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-2 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such Well; (B) with respect to any DSU located entirely within an unpooled Lease, the interest in such Lease that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such Lease (limited to the Subject Formation for such Lease, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-1 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such Lease; (C) with respect to any DSU located within a pooled unit, the interest in such pooled unit that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such pooled unit (limited to the Subject Formation for such DSU, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 2.1(a)-3 or Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such pooled unit; (D) with respect to any allocation well, the interest in the pro rata portion of the DSU located within the applicable Lease that is burdened with the obligation to bear and pay the costs and expenses relating to the maintenance, development, and operations on or in connection with such DSU (limited to the currently producing formation of the allocation well, and subject to any reservations, limitations or depth restrictions described on Schedule 3.4), but without regard to the effect of any royalties or other burdens, throughout the productive life of such allocation well.

# 6.4 <u>Defect Letters</u>.

- (a) If Buyer becomes aware of a Title Defect, then, in order to apprise itself of the rights and remedies provided in this Article VI with respect to such alleged Title Defect, Buyer must deliver a written notice thereof (a "Title Defect Notice") to Seller no later than 5:00 p.m. Central Time on [\*\*\*], 2022 (the "Defect Notice Deadline"). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event shall there be any adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies available in respect of Title Defects unless (i) the Title Defect Value for any individual Title Defect Property exceeds \$25,000 (the "Individual Title Defect Threshold"), after which point, the entire Title Defect Value for such Title Defect shall be taken into account for the purposes of determining the reduction to the Base Purchase Price hereunder (if any), and (ii) the amount of all such Title Defect Values (provided that each such Title Defect Value exceeds the applicable Individual Title Defect Threshold) in the aggregate (excluding any Title Defect Values with respect to Title Defects cured or indemnified by Seller) exceeds 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Aggregate Title Defect Threshold"), after which point, subject to the Individual Title Defect Threshold, Buyer shall be entitled to adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies elected by Seller in accordance with Section 6.5 with respect to the full amount of all such Title Defect Values (i.e., "dollar-one" recovery).
- (b) In each Title Defect Notice, Buyer must describe with reasonable detail (i) each alleged Title Defect it has discovered that is reasonably sufficient for Seller to determine the basis of the alleged Title Defect, (ii) the Lease or Well adversely affected by the Title Defect (a "Title Defect Property"), (iii) Buyer's reasonable estimate of the Title Defect Value attributable to each such Title Defect and the computations and information upon which Buyer's belief is based, including any analysis by any title attorney or examiner hired by Buyer, along with the Allocated Value of the Title Defect Property, and (iv) all documents upon which Buyer relies for its assertion, including, at a minimum, supporting data, documents and information reasonably necessary for Seller to verify the existence and understand the nature of each Title Defect being asserted.

- (c) Except with respect to Buyer's rights under Section 6.2, Article XVIII, Article XV and the special warranty of title in the Assignment and Bill of Sale, any matter that would constitute a Title Defect shall be and is hereby conclusively waived by Buyer if Buyer fails to provide timely written notice to Seller of such Title Defect in accordance with Section 6.4(a). For the avoidance of doubt, if any Title Defect affects multiple Assets, the Title Defect Value for such Title Defect shall be aggregated for the purposes of determining whether the Individual Title Defect Threshold has been satisfied.
- (d) If the Parties cannot reach agreement concerning the existence of a Title Defect, Seller's proposed cure of a Title Defect, or a Title Defect Value prior to Closing or, with respect to Title Defects that Seller has elected to cure post-Closing, within [\*\*\*] after the Closing, as applicable, upon either Party's request and by mutual agreement, an attorney mutually acceptable to the Parties having at least 20 years of experience in mineral and land title matters (the "Title Consultant") shall resolve all points of disagreement relating to Title Defects, proposed and actual cures and Title Defect Values. Each Party shall present a written statement of its position on the Title Defect, proposed cure and/or Title Defect Value in question to the Title Consultant promptly, and the Title Consultant shall make a determination of all points of disagreement in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement within 5 days of receipt of such position statements. The determination by the Title Consultant shall be conclusive and binding on the Parties solely with respect to disputes between the Parties, and shall be enforceable against any Party in any court of competent jurisdiction. The cost of any such Title Consultant shall be paid one-half by Seller and one-half by Buyer.

## 6.5 <u>Rights and Remedies for Title Defects.</u>

- (a) If there are undisputed Title Defects (as to both the existence thereof or amount of the applicable Title Defect Value) timely identified by Buyer and not cured (or otherwise resolved) by Closing, Seller shall elect, at its sole discretion on an Asset by Asset basis and subject to the applicable Individual Title Defect Threshold and the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold, to:
- (i) convey the affected Assets to Buyer at Closing and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Title Defect Value for such Title Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price;
- (ii) convey the affected Assets to Buyer and cure, within a reasonable time in the circumstances, and at least within [\*\*\*] after the Closing, the Title Defect and Buyer shall deposit into escrow with the Stock Escrow Agent a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Title Defect Value for such Title Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price; or
- (iii) if Buyer's asserted Title Defect Value for an asserted Title Defect equals or exceeds 100% of the Allocated Value of the applicable Title Defect Property, exclude at Closing such Title Defect Property (together with any associated facilities, infrastructure, and equipment that are reasonably necessary to produce, save, transport, and market Hydrocarbons from any Wells that are so excluded to the extent (and only to the extent) such facilities, infrastructure, and equipment are utilized by Seller solely in relation to such Title Defect Property, which together with the applicable Title Defect Property, will become Excluded Assets) and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the Allocated Value(s) of such Excluded Asset(s), divided by (B) the Reference Price.

- (b) Except with respect to Title Defects that Seller has elected to cure in accordance with Section 6.5(a)(ii), subject to Section 12.5 and Section 13.5, concurrently with the Closing, any such Title Defects as to which there is a dispute that has not been resolved shall be submitted to the Title Consultant who shall resolve each Title Defect as provided in Section 6.4.
- (c) If Seller does not cure a Title Defect before the Closing or there are disputes between the Parties with respect to such Title Defect or the Title Defect Value thereof, Seller shall convey the affected Asset to Buyer and Buyer's good faith estimate of the Title Defect Value for such Assets shall be used for the purposes of calculating the reduction to the Base Purchase Price at Closing (if any). Subject to Section 12.5 and Section 13.5, Closing shall proceed as to all of the Assets (other than any such that Seller and Buyer have agreed shall be retained by Seller). If Seller fails to cure a Title Defect within [\*\*\*] after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration attributable to the affected Assets to HighPeak. If Seller cures a Title Defect within [\*\*\*] after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration (valued at the Reference Price) attributable to the affected Assets to Seller. If Buyer and Seller do not agree on whether or not any such Title Defect has been cured or the Title Defect Value with respect thereto, such unresolved matters shall be submitted to the Title Consultant who shall resolve each such matter as provided in Section 6.4.
- (d) The diminution in value of a Lease, Well, or DSU attributable to a valid Title Defect (the "Title Defect Value") notified in a Title Defect Notice shall be determined as follows:
- (i) if the valid Title Defect asserted is that the actual Net Revenue Interest attributable to any Well, Lease or DSU, as applicable, is less than the amount specified therefor in <u>Schedule 3.4</u>, then the Title Defect Value is the product of the Allocated Value attributed to the applicable Subject Formations for such Well, Lease or DSU, as applicable, *multiplied by* a fraction, the numerator of which is the difference between the Net Revenue Interest specified in <u>Schedule 3.4</u> and the actual Net Revenue Interest, and the denominator of which is the Net Revenue Interest specified in Schedule 3.4:
- (ii) if the valid Title Defect asserted is that the actual Net Acres attributable to any Lease or DSU is less than the amount specified therefor in <a href="Schedule 3.4">Schedule 3.4</a>, and the Net Revenue Interest with respect to such Lease or DSU is unchanged, then the Title Defect Value is the product of the Allocated Value attributed to the applicable Subject Formations in such Lease or DSU multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the difference between the Net Acres set forth on <a href="Schedule 3.4">Schedule 3.4</a> and the actual Net Acres, and the denominator of which is the Net Acres stated on <a href="Schedule 3.4">Schedule 3.4</a>; or

- (iii) if the valid Title Defect asserted is not of the type described in Section 6.5(d)(i) or Section 6.5(d)(ii) above, the Title Defect Value shall be determined by taking into account the Allocated Value of the affected Title Defect Property, the portion of the Title Defect Property (including the depths) adversely affected by the Title Defect, the legal effect of the Title Defect, the potential economic effect of the Title Defect over the life of the Title Defect Property, and such other reasonable factors as are necessary to make a proper evaluation.
- (e) Notwithstanding the above, in no event shall the Title Defect Values related to a particular Asset exceed the Allocated Value of such Asset. The Title Defect Value with respect to a Title Defect shall be determined without any duplication of any costs or losses included in any other Title Defect Value under this Agreement, or for which Buyer otherwise received credit in the calculation of the Base Purchase Price.

#### ARTICLE VII.

### ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT

7.1 <u>Physical Condition of the Assets.</u> The Assets have been used for oil and gas drilling and production operations and possibly for the storage and disposal of waste materials or hazardous substances related to standard oil field operations. Physical changes in or under the Assets or adjacent lands may have occurred as a result of such uses. The Assets also may contain buried pipelines and other equipment, whether or not of a similar nature, the locations of which may not now be known by Seller or be readily apparent by a physical inspection of the Assets.

In addition, Buyer acknowledges that some oil field production equipment located on the Assets may contain asbestos and/or naturally occurring radioactive material ("NORM"). In this regard, Buyer expressly understands that NORM may affix or attach itself to the inside of wells, material and equipment as scale or in other forms, and that wells, materials and equipment located on the Assets described herein may contain NORM and that NORM containing materials may be buried or have been otherwise disposed of on the Assets. Buyer also expressly understands that special procedures may be required for the removal and disposal of asbestos and NORM from the Assets where they may be found.

### 7.2 <u>Inspection and Testing.</u>

(a) Seller shall allow (or, if Seller is not the operator of the applicable Asset, use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain permission from the relevant operator to allow) Buyer to conduct, at Buyer's sole risk, Liability, and expense, an on-site, visual inspection, including a Phase I environmental site assessment (as defined in the applicable ASTM International standards), a limited environmental compliance review, and any other review of environmental matters or conditions that Buyer deems necessary, of the Assets (an "Environmental Assessment"); provided, however, that: (i) Buyer shall provide Seller with prior written notice of any activities with respect to any such Environmental Assessment, and shall provide Seller the opportunity to participate in all such activities; (ii) any contractor engaged to perform all or any portion of such Environmental Assessment shall execute and deliver to Seller a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to Seller; (iii) Buyer shall not conduct, authorize, or permit any test drilling, sampling, or other invasive on-site activities without the prior written consent of Seller, which consent may be withheld in Seller's sole discretion; and (iv) Buyer shall provide to Seller promptly (and in any event, prior to the Defect Notice Deadline) after receipt, at no cost to Seller, all written, final Environmental Assessments prepared by or on behalf of Buyer. If following the conduct of the Phase I environmental site assessment or other visual environmental assessment, such Phase I reasonably recommends any sampling, boring, drilling or other invasive investigation activities on or with respect to any of the Assets as necessary to determine the existence or magnitude of an Environmental Defect, Buyer shall advise Seller in writing of such recommendation and furnish to Seller for its review a proposed scope of such sampling, boring, drilling or other invasive investigation activities that are reasonably necessary to make such determination. Following the receipt and review of such proposal by Seller, Seller shall elect, in its sole discretion, to permit or refuse to permit the conduct of any such activities by Buyer; provided, however, that if Seller refuses to permit the conduct of such activities (or Seller does not have the authority to grant access for such due diligence and cannot obtain permission from the relevant operator using commercially reasonable efforts), then the Assets with respect to which Buyer requested permission to conduct such activities may, at Buyer's sole option, be excluded from the Assets to be conveyed to Buyer at Closing (which shall be deemed to be Excluded Assets) and the Base Purchase Price shall be adjusted downward by the Allocated Values thereof. In connection with any such Environmental Assessment, Buyer shall not interfere with the normal operations of any Assets in any material respect and shall comply with all requirements and safety policies and procedures of Seller and/or the operator of such Assets. If Buyer or any contractor or agent of Buyer prepares a written Environmental Assessment of any Assets, upon Seller's written request, Buyer shall furnish copies of the final report thereof to Seller. If requested by Seller, the Parties shall enter into a letter agreement memorializing the privileged and protected status of the Environmental Assessment and protecting the confidentiality of any such Environmental Assessment.

(b) EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT CAUSED BY SELLER'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT, BUYER WAIVES AND RELEASES, AND AGREES TO INDEMNIFY, DEFEND, AND SAVE AND HOLD HARMLESS THE SELLER GROUP FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CLAIMS OF ANY PERSON FOR INJURY TO, OR DEATH OF, ANY NATURAL PERSON OR FOR LOSSES INCURRED BY ANY PERSON TO THE EXTENT ARISING FROM ANY ACCESS AFFORDED TO BUYER, OR ANY OF ITS AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS IN CONNECTION WITH BUYER'S DUE DILIGENCE REVIEW, OR ANY ACTIVITIES, INCLUDING ANY ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT, OF BUYER OR ANY SUCH AGENTS OR CONTRACTORS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH. This Section 7.2(b) shall survive the Closing and any termination of this Agreement.

### 7.3 Notice of Environmental Defects.

(a) As soon as reasonably possible after becoming aware of or making its determination of any Environmental Defect, but in no event later than the Defect Notice Deadline, Buyer shall notify Seller in writing of any Environmental Defect with respect to the Assets (an "Environmental Defect Notice"). To give Seller an opportunity to commence reviewing and curing alleged Environmental Defects asserted by Buyer, Buyer shall use reasonable efforts to give Seller, on or before the end of each calendar week prior to the Defect Notice Deadline, written notice of all alleged Environmental Defects discovered by Buyer during such calendar week, which notice may be preliminary in nature and supplemented prior to the Defect Notice Deadline (provided that failure to deliver any such preliminary notice shall not be deemed to waive Buyer's right to assert an Environmental Defect on or before the Defect Notice Deadline). To be effective, the Environmental Defect Notice shall be in writing and must include (i) a reasonably detailed description of the Environmental Defect (including the applicable Environmental Law violated or implicated thereby), (ii) identification of the Asset(s) affected by the alleged Environmental Defect (a "Environmental Defect Property"), (iii) the curative actions Buyer reasonably anticipates are required to remediate or resolve such Environmental Defect, (iv) the estimated Environmental Defect Value attributable thereto, and (v) appropriate documentation reasonably necessary and available for Seller to substantiate Buyer's claim and calculation of the Environmental Defect Value. The "Environmental Defect Value" means, with respect to each Environmental Defect, the amount of the Lowest Cost Response for such Environmental Defect (net to Seller's collective interests in the Assets). Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, in no event shall there be any adjustment to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies available in respect of Environmental Defects unless (x) the Environmental Defect Value for any individual Environmental Defect Property exceeds \$25,000 (the "Individual Environmental Defect Threshold") provided, however, that the Environmental Defect Value shall be deemed to meet the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold in either of the following cases: (i) if a single Environmental Defect affects more than one asset, the aggregate sum of the Environmental Defect Values for all assets affected by such Environmental Defect meets or exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, or (ii) in the case of multiple instances of violation of the same Environmental Law (such as lack of required air permits or proof of air Permit-by-Rule qualification with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality), the aggregate sum of the Environmental Defect Values for all such common Environmental Defects meets or exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, and (v) the amount of all such Environmental Defect Values in the aggregate (excluding any Environmental Defect Values with respect to Environmental Defects cured by Seller) exceeds 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold"), after which point, Buyer shall be entitled to adjustments to the Base Purchase Price or other remedies elected by Seller in accordance with Section 7.4 with respect to the full amount of all such Environmental Defect Values (i.e., "dollarone" recovery). For the avoidance of doubt, if the Environmental Defect Value for an Environmental Defect exceeds the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold, the entire Environmental Defect shall be taken into account for purposes of determining the reduction to the Base Purchase Price.

(b) Any matter that could be, but was not, asserted as an Environmental Defect by Buyer in accordance with Section 7.3(a) at or prior to
the Defect Notice Deadline shall be and is hereby conclusively waived by Buyer, and Buyer shall not be entitled to any adjustment pursuant to Section 3.3
for such Environmental Defect or to exclude the Asset affected by such Environmental Defect. Except with respect to Buyer's rights under Article XV,
Buyer shall have no recourse with respect to any Environmental Defect if: (i) Buyer fails to provide written notice to Seller of such Environmental Defect
in accordance with Section 7.3(a) on or before the Defect Notice Deadline; or (ii) the Environmental Defect Value with respect to such Environmental
Defect is less than the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold.

(c) Upon timely delivery of an Environmental Defect Notice by Buyer:

- (i) within 5 days after Seller's receipt of an Environmental Defect Notice, Seller shall notify Buyer whether Seller agrees with Buyer's claimed Environmental Defect and/or the proposed Environmental Defect Value therefor ("Seller's Environmental Response"). If Seller does not agree with any claimed Environmental Defect and/or the proposed Environmental Defect Value therefor, then the Parties shall enter into good faith negotiations and shall attempt to agree on such matters; and
- (ii) if the Parties cannot reach agreement concerning the existence of an Environmental Defect, an Environmental Defect Value or whether or not an Environmental Defect has been Remediated (any dispute with respect to the foregoing matters, collectively "Environmental Disputes"), upon either Party's request, the Environmental Disputes shall be submitted to an attorney with at least 10 years' experience in environmental matters involving oil and gas properties in Texas (the "Environmental Consultant") to exclusively and finally resolve all points of disagreement relating to Environmental Defects, Environmental Defect Values and Remediation, applying standards customarily applied by reasonable and prudent operators of oil and gas properties in the areas where the Assets are located. If the Parties are unable to agree on the selection of the Environmental Consultant within 10 Business Days of the Parties agreeing to submit an Environmental Dispute to the Environmental Consultant for determination or, in the case where the Parties have not so agreed, the Parties shall request the AAA make the necessary appointment within 10 Business Days (which Environmental Consultant shall not have worked as an employee, outside counsel or as a consultant for any Party or its Affiliates during the 5 year period preceding the arbitration or have any financial interest in the dispute). Each Party shall present a written statement of its position on the Environmental Defect and/or Environmental Defect Value in question to the Environmental Consultant within 2 days after the Environmental Consultant is selected, and the Environmental Consultant shall make a determination of all points of disagreement in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement within 10 days of receipt of such position statements. Each Party shall bear its own legal fees and other costs of presenting its case to the Environmental Consultant. In making its determination, the Environmental Consultant shall be bound by the terms of this Article VII and, subject to the foregoing, may consider such other matters as in the opinion of the Environmental Consultant are necessary to make a proper determination. The Environmental Consultant shall act for the limited purpose of determining the specific Environmental Disputes submitted by either Party and may not award damages, interest or penalties to either Party with respect to any Environmental Dispute. The determination by the Environmental Consultant shall be conclusive and binding on the Parties, and shall be enforceable against any Party in any court of competent jurisdiction. Once the Environmental Consultant's determination has been expressed to both Parties, Seller shall advise Buyer in writing as soon as reasonably practicable before the Closing which of the options available to Seller under Section 7.4 that Seller elects regarding each of the Assets as to which the Environmental Consultant has made a determination. The cost of any Environmental Consultant shall be paid one-half by Seller and one-half by Buyer. If at any time the Environmental Consultant fails or refuses to perform hereunder, a new Environmental Consultant shall be chosen by the Parties in accordance with this Section 7.3(c)(ii).

(iii) Seller shall have the right, but not the obligation, to Remediate or cure an Environmental Defect prior to the Closing by giving written notice to Buyer to that effect within 5 days after Seller's receipt of an Environmental Defect Notice. If Seller elects to pursue Remediation or cure as set forth in this clause (iii), Seller shall implement such Remediation or cure in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and in a manner that is consistent with the Lowest Cost Response. If Seller elects to pursue Remediation or cure and:

- (A) completes the Remediation or cure of an Environmental Defect prior to the Closing, the affected Assets shall be conveyed at Closing, and no Base Purchase Price adjustment will be made for such Environmental Defect;
- (B) does not complete the Remediation or cure prior to the Closing, unless Seller elects to exclude such Asset(s) in accordance with this Section 7.4(a)(ii), then Seller shall convey the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and the Base Purchase Price shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Environmental Defect Value for such Asset(s); provided, however, that if Seller requests, and Buyer agrees (in its sole and absolute discretion), to allow Seller to complete the Remediation of the affected Asset(s) within [\*\*\*] after Closing, Seller shall convey the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and at the Closing, Buyer shall deposit into escrow with the Stock Escrow Agent the number of shares of Common Stock equal to the Environmental Defect Value for such Environmental Defect. If Seller is unable to complete the Remediation of the Environmental Defect within 180 days after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the Stock Consideration attributable to the affected Assets to HighPeak. If Seller is able to complete the Remediation of the Environmental Defect within [\*\*\*] after Closing, then as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter but in any event within 5 Business Days, the Parties shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release the portion of the shares of Common Stock equivalent to the Environmental Defect Value of the affected Assets to Seller. Seller shall remain liable for all Claims, Losses, Proceedings and Liabilities arising out of or in connection with such Environmental Defect until such time as such Remediation or cure is complete.

## 7.4 Rights and Remedies for Environmental Defects.

- (a) Subject to Section 7.3(a)-7.3(b), if there are Environmental Defects identified by Buyer in timely Environmental Defect Notices and Seller elects not to Remediate or cure by Closing, Seller shall (or in the case of Section 7.4(a)(ii), Buyer may) elect, at its sole discretion and subject to the applicable Individual Environmental Defect Threshold and the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold, to:
- (i) convey the entirety of the Assets subject to the Environmental Defect to Buyer at Closing, together with all associated Assets, and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the undisputed Environmental Defect Value for such Environmental Defect, *divided by* (B) the Reference Price; or
- (ii) if the aggregate amount of Environmental Defect Values (based on the amount(s) thereof asserted in good faith by Buyer) of all Environmental Defects affecting the same Asset exceed the Allocated Value of such Asset, at the option of either Seller or Buyer, Seller shall retain the affected Asset and reduce the Stock Consideration payable to Seller at Closing by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (A) the Allocated Value of the applicable Environmental Defect Property, *divided by* (B) Reference Price (in which case, such Asset(s) shall become Excluded Asset(s)).

- (b) Seller and Buyer may, by mutual agreement, on an Asset by Asset basis agree that Seller will indemnify Buyer for the Environmental Defect affecting the Asset and convey the entirety of the Asset, together with all associated Assets, to Buyer at Closing.
- (c) Subject to Section 12.5 and Section 13.5, Closing shall proceed as to all of the Assets other than any such Assets to be retained by Seller. Buyer waives its right to assert any Environmental Defect for which Buyer has received an adjustment to the Base Purchase Price, or other remedy or resolution, in accordance with Section 7.4(a)-(b).

### ARTICLE VIII.

### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER

Seller represents and warrants as follows:

- 8.1 <u>Status of Formation</u>. Seller is comprised of limited liability companies duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the state of Texas.
- 8.2 <u>Authority.</u> Seller has the requisite corporate power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements, to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, to transfer the Assets in the manner contemplated by this Agreement, and to undertake all of the obligations of Seller set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements by Seller, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not (a) violate any provision of Seller's certificate of incorporation or bylaws; (b) conflict with, breach or result in a material default (with due notice or lapse of time or both) or the creation of any lien or encumbrance or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any of the terms, conditions or provisions or any material note, bond, mortgage, indenture or agreement to which Seller is a party or by which Seller or any of the Assets are bound; (c) violate any judgment, order, ruling or decree applicable to Seller; or (d) violate any Law.
- 8.3 <u>Validity of Obligations</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of Seller. This Agreement and the Related Agreements have each been duly executed and delivered by Seller, and any documents or instruments to be executed and delivered by Seller at Closing will be duly executed and delivered by Seller. This Agreement, the Related Agreements and any documents or instruments delivered by Seller at the Closing shall constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of Seller, enforceable in accordance with their terms.
- 8.4 <u>Authorizations for Expenditures</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.4</u>, there are no outstanding authorities for expenditure or other capital commitments to third parties that are binding on the Assets or Seller and could reasonably be expected to require expenditures by Seller after the Effective Time in excess of \$100,000, net to the interests of Seller.

## 8.5 <u>Material Contracts</u>.

- (a) <u>Schedule 2.1(c)</u> sets forth all Contracts of the type described below, in each case, which will be binding on the Assets or Buyer after the Closing (collectively, the "**Material Contracts**"):
- (i) any Contract that can reasonably be expected to result in aggregate payments by Seller of more than \$100,000, net to Seller's interest, during the current or any subsequent calendar year;
- (ii) any Contract that can reasonably be expected to result in aggregate revenues to Seller of more than \$100,000, net to Seller's interest, during the current or any subsequent calendar year;
- (iii) any Hydrocarbon purchase and sale, storage, marketing, transportation, processing, gathering, treatment, separation, compression, or similar Contract, except for any Contract that terminates or can be terminated by Seller on not greater than 30 days' notice;
- (iv) any Contract that is an indenture, mortgage, loan, credit agreement, sale-leaseback, guaranty of any obligation, bond, letter of credit or similar Contract;
- (v) any Contract that constitutes a lease under which Seller is the lessor or the lessee of real or personal property which lease involves an annual base rental of more than \$100,000, except for any Contract that terminates or can be terminated by Seller on not greater than 30 days' notice;
- (vi) any farmout or farmin agreement, participation agreement, partnership agreement, joint venture agreement, exploration agreement, development agreement, joint operating agreement, unit agreement, or similar Contract;
- (vii) any Contract that (A) contains or constitutes an area of mutual interest agreement or (B) includes non-competition restrictions or other similar restrictions on doing business;
- (viii) any Contract of Seller to sell, lease, exchange, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or any part of the Assets (other than with respect to production of Hydrocarbons in the ordinary course) from and after the Effective Time;
  - (ix) any Contract between Seller and any Affiliate of Seller that will not be terminated prior to Closing;
- (x) any Contract that contains calls upon or options to purchase production, or is a dedication of production or otherwise requires production to be transported processed or sold in a particular fashion or requires the payment of deficiency payments if specified production volume levels are not achieved:

(xi) any Contract that would obligate Buyer to drill additional wells or conduct other material development operations after the

Closing;

- (xii) any Contract that provides for the maintenance of credit support by Seller;
- (xiii) any Contract that is a seismic or other geophysical acquisition agreement; and
- (xiv) any Contract relating to the pending acquisition (direct or indirect) by Seller of any material properties or any operating business or the capital stock of any other Person.
- (b) The Material Contracts are in full force and effect as to Seller and, to Knowledge of Seller, each counterparty. There exists no default in any material respect under any Material Contract by Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, by any other Person that is a party to such Material Contract and no event has occurred that with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute any material default under any such Material Contract by Seller or, to the Knowledge of Seller, any other Person who is a party to such Material Contract. Prior to the execution of this Agreement, Seller has made available to Buyer complete copies of each Material Contract and all amendments thereto.
- 8.6 <u>Litigation</u>. Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.6</u>, there is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, that (a) relates to or may affect any of the Assets, or (b) challenges, or may have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal, or otherwise interfering with, any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 8.7 <u>Permits.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.7</u>, Seller (a) has acquired all Permits from appropriate Governmental Authorities to conduct operations on the Assets in material compliance with applicable Laws, (b) all such Permits are in full force and effect and no Proceeding is pending or threatened to suspend, revoke or terminate any such Permit or declare any such Permit invalid, and (c) is in compliance in all material respects with all such Permits.
- 8.8 Taxes. Except as set forth on Schedule 8.8, with respect to the Assets, (a) Seller has duly and timely filed all Tax Returns with respect to the Assets and such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects, (b) all material Asset Taxes (whether or not shown to be due on such returns) have been paid, (c) there is no dispute or Claim concerning any material amount of Tax or material item with respect to any Tax Return with respect to the Assets claimed or raised by any Tax authority, (d) there are no liens (other than Permitted Encumbrances) on any of the Assets that arose in connection with any failure to pay any Tax, (e) none of the Assets is held in an arrangement that is treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income Tax purposes, and (f) there are no agreements or waivers currently in effect that provide for an extension of time with respect to the filing of any Tax Return of Seller or the assessment or collection of any Tax from Seller, in each case, with respect to the Assets.

- 8.9 Environmental Laws. Except as set forth on Schedule 8.9, (a) to the Knowledge of Seller, the Assets are being operated in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws, (b) there are no actions, suits or Proceedings pending, or to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, by or before any Governmental Authority with respect to the Assets alleging material violations of, or material liabilities under, Environmental Laws, (c) Seller has received no written notice from any Person of any alleged or actual material violation or non-compliance with, or material liability under, any Environmental Law or of material non-compliance with the terms or conditions of any environmental Permits, related to the Assets, (d) to the Knowledge of Seller, none of the Assets are subject to any unfulfilled Orders, consent decrees, or agreements with any Governmental Authority related to Environmental Laws, and (e) to the Knowledge of Seller, there have been no Releases of Hazardous Materials on, from, under, or to the Assets that could reasonably be expected to give rise to material Liabilities, under Environmental Law. Seller has made available to Buyer all material Records in its possession or control related to environmental matters concerning the Assets.
- 8.10 <u>Preferential Purchase Rights.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.10</u>, none of the Assets, or any portion thereof, is subject to any Preferential Rights.
- 8.11 <u>Consents.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.11</u>, there are no approvals, consents, ratifications, waivers, or other authorizations (including by any Governmental Authority) from any person that is applicable to the transfer of the Assets by Seller to Buyer or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Agreements.
- 8.12 <u>Payments for Production and Non-Consent Operations</u>. Seller is not obligated by virtue of any take-or-pay payment, advance payment, or other similar payment to deliver Hydrocarbons, or proceeds from the sale thereof, attributable to the Leases, Wells or Units at some future time without receiving payment therefor at or after the time of delivery. No operations are being conducted or have been conducted on the Assets with respect to which Seller has elected to be a non-consenting party under the applicable operating agreement.
- 8.13 <u>Broker's Fees.</u> No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Related Agreements based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller.
- 8.14 <u>Bankruptcy Proceedings</u>. There are no bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or receivership actions pending, being contemplated by, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against Seller.
- 8.15 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Schedule 8.15</u>, Seller has not received of any written notice from any third party alleging a violation of Laws relating to the Assets. The Assets are in compliance in all material respects with all Laws.
- 8.16 <u>Production Imbalances.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.16</u>, neither Seller nor any of its predecessors in title have collectively taken more ("**Over-Produced**") or less ("**Under-Produced**") production from the Wells located on such property (or on the Units in which such property participates) than the ownership of Seller and such predecessors in such property would entitle Seller and such predecessors (absent any gas balancing agreement or arrangement) to receive. For each property listed on <u>Schedule 8.16</u>, such Schedule reflects (a) whether Seller is in an Over-Produced or Under-Produced position, and (b) the amount of such Over-Production or Under-Production.

- 8.17 <u>Suspense Funds; Royalties; Expenses.</u> Except as set forth on <u>Schedule 8.17</u>, Seller does not hold any third party funds in suspense with respect to production of Hydrocarbons from any of the Assets (collectively, "Suspense Funds") other than amounts less than the statutory minimum amount that Seller is permitted to accumulate prior to payment. Except for Suspense Funds, Seller has properly and timely paid all royalties, overriding royalties, and other burdens upon, measured by, or payable out of production and other interest owners' revenues or proceeds attributable to sales of Hydrocarbons produced from or attributable to the Assets in accordance with applicable Leases and Laws, in each case, due by Seller. Subject to the foregoing, no material expenses (including bills for labor, materials and supplies used or furnished for use in connection with the Assets) are owed and delinquent in payment by Seller that relate to the ownership or operation of the Assets.
- 8.18 Wells. There is no Well included in the Assets drilled by Seller or its Affiliates that has been drilled and completed in a manner that is not within the limits permitted by all applicable Laws, Leases and Contracts. No Well operated by Seller or its Affiliates, and to the Knowledge of Seller no other Well, is subject to material penalties on allowable production because of any overproduction or any other violation of applicable Laws that would prevent any Well from being entitled to its full legal and regular allowable production from and after the Effective Time. Schedule 8.18 contains a list of the status as of the date(s) set forth in such Schedule, of any "payout" balance for the Wells that are subject to a reversion or other adjustment at some level of cost recovery or payout (or passage of time or other event other than termination of a Lease by its terms). Seller has not received written notice from any Governmental Authority or other third parties to plug or abandon any Wells. To the Knowledge of Seller, there are no Wells that the operator thereof is currently obligated by applicable Law to plug and abandon that have not been plugged and abandoned in accordance in all material respects with applicable Law. To the Knowledge of Seller, the Wells that are neither in use for purposes of production or injection, nor temporarily suspended or temporarily abandoned in accordance with applicable Law, have been plugged and abandoned to the extent required by, and in accordance in all material respects with, applicable Law.
- 8.19 <u>Bonds. Schedule 8.19</u> lists all bonds, letters of credit, guarantees, cash deposits and other similar credit support instruments currently maintained by Seller or any of its Affiliates with respect to the Assets, true and complete copies of which have been made available to Buyer.
- 8.20 <u>Leases</u>. There is no material default under any of the Leases, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates has received written notice from a lessor of any requirements or demands to drill additional wells on any of the Leases, which requirements or demands have not been resolved in writing, and no party to any Lease or any successor to the interest of such party has filed or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened to file any action to terminate, cancel, rescind or procure judicial reformation of any Lease.
- 8.21 <u>Related Assets</u>. To the Knowledge of Seller, each material Related Asset is in reasonable operating condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted, and is adequate for its current use. The Assets constitute and include all of the assets necessary for the conduct of Seller's ownership and operation of the Assets, as currently conducted, with respect to the ownership and operation of the Leases, Wells or Units.

- 8.22 <u>Investor Status</u>. Seller is an "accredited investor" as such term is defined in Rule 501(a) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933. Seller has such knowledge, skills and experience in business, financial and investment matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Common Stock. Seller is not acquiring Common Stock as a nominee or agent or otherwise for any other person and was not formed for the purpose of acquiring the Common Stock. Seller understands and accepts that the acquisition of the Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration involves various risks and uncertainties, many of which are summarized in HighPeak's filings with the SEC. Seller represents that it is able to bear any loss associated with an investment in the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration.
- 8.23 Independent Evaluation of Investment. With the assistance of Seller's own professional advisors, to the extent that Seller has deemed appropriate, Seller has made its own legal, tax, accounting and financial evaluation of the merits and risks of an investment in the Common Stock. Seller confirms that it is not relying on any communication (written or oral) of HighPeak or any of its affiliates, as investment or tax advice or as a recommendation to acquire the Common Stock. It is understood that information and explanations related to the terms and conditions of the securities provided in this Agreement or otherwise by HighPeak or any of its affiliates will not be considered investment or tax advice or a recommendation to acquire HighPeak's securities, and that neither HighPeak nor any of its affiliates is acting or has acted as an advisor to Seller in deciding to invest in HighPeak's securities. In accepting the Common Stock, Seller has made its own independent decision that an investment in the Common Stock is suitable and appropriate for Seller. Seller has had access to such information concerning HighPeak, Buyer and the Common Stock and confirms it has been offered the opportunity to ask questions of HighPeak and Buyer and receive answers thereto as it deems necessary to enable it to make an informed investment decision concerning the acquisition of the Common Stock.
- 8.24 <u>No Review</u>. Seller understands that no federal or state agency has passed upon the merits of an investment in the Common Stock or made any finding or determination concerning the fairness or advisability of such an investment.
- 8.25 Ownership of the Assets. No Affiliate of Seller nor any employee of Seller or any such Affiliates owns any right, title, or interest in and to any assets which, if owned by Seller, would constitute an Asset to which value has been allocated on Schedule 3.4.
- Scope of Representations of Seller. EXCEPT AS AND TO THE EXTENT EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS ARTICLE VIII OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY, SELLER DOES NOT MAKE, SELLER EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS, AND PURCHASER WAIVES AND REPRESENTS AND WARRANTS THAT PURCHASER HAS NOT RELIED UPON, ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, STATEMENTS OR COMMUNICATIONS (ORALLY OR IN WRITING), EXPRESS, STATUTORY, OR IMPLIED, IN THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE RELATED AGREEMENTS OR IN ANY DOCUMENT OR INSTRUMENT DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THEREWITH, INCLUDING ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR OTHER STATEMENT, ORAL OR WRITTEN, AS TO (i) TITLE TO ANY OF THE ASSETS; (ii) THE PRESENCE, QUALITY AND QUANTITY OF HYDROCARBON RESERVES (IF ANY) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ASSETS, INCLUDING SEISMIC DATA AND SELLER'S INTERPRETATION AND OTHER ANALYSIS THEREOF; (iii) THE ABILITY OF THE ASSETS TO PRODUCE HYDROCARBONS, INCLUDING PRODUCTION RATES, DECLINE RATES AND RECOMPLETION OPPORTUNITIES; (iv) PAYOUT ACCOUNT INFORMATION, ALLOWABLES, OR OTHER REGULATORY MATTERS; (v) THE PRESENT OR FUTURE VALUE OF THE ANTICIPATED INCOME, COSTS OR PROFITS, IF ANY, TO BE DERIVED FROM THE ASSETS; (vi) ANY PROJECTIONS AS TO EVENTS THAT COULD OR COULD NOT OCCUR; (vii) THE TAX ATTRIBUTES OF ANY ASSET; OR (viii) INFORMATION CONTAINED IN ANY OPINION, INFORMATION OR ADVICE THAT MAY HAVE BEEN PROVIDED TO BUYER BY ANY EMPLOYEE, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, AGENT, CONSULTANT, ENGINEER OR ENGINEERING FIRM, TRUSTEE, REPRESENTATIVE, PARTNER, MEMBER, BENEFICIARY, STOCKHOLDER, AFFILIATE OR CONTRACTOR OF SELLER WHEREVER AND HOWEVER MADE, INCLUDING THOSE MADE IN ANY DATA ROOM OR INTERNET SITE AND ANY SUPPLEMENTS OR AMENDMENTS THERETO OR DURING ANY NEGOTIATIONS WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RELATED AGREEMENTS; AND SELLER FURTHER DISCLAIMS, AND PURCHASER WAIVES, ANY REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR OTHER STATEMENT, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, OR CONFORMITY TO MODELS OR SAMPLES OF MATERIALS OR ANY EQUIPMENT, IT BEING EXPRESSLY UNDERSTOOD AND AGREED BY THE PARTIES HERETO THAT, EXCEPT AS AND TO THE EXTENT EXPRESSLY REPRESENTED OTHERWISE IN THIS ARTICLE VIII OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY, THE ASSETS ARE BEING TRANSFERRED "AS IS, WHERE IS," WITH ALL FAULTS AND DEFECTS, AND THAT PURCHASER HAS MADE OR CAUSED TO BE MADE SUCH INSPECTIONS AS PURCHASER DEEMS APPROPRIATE. PURCHASER SPECIFICALLY DISCLAIMS ANY OBLIGATION OR DUTY BY SELLER OR ANY OF SELLER'S AFFILIATES TO MAKE ANY DISCLOSURES OF FACT NOT REQUIRED TO BE DISCLOSED PURSUANT TO THE EXPRESS REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE ASSIGNMENT AND BILL OF SALE, AND PURCHASER EXPRESSLY ACKNOWLEDGES AND COVENANTS THAT PURCHASER DOES NOT HAVE, WILL NOT HAVE, AND WILL NOT ASSERT ANY CLAIM, DAMAGES, OR EQUITABLE REMEDIES WHATSOEVER AGAINST SELLER OR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES EXCEPT FOR BREACH OF AN EXPRESS REPRESENTATION, WARRANTY, OR COVENANT OF SELLER UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR THE SPECIAL WARRANTY. ANY AND ALL DATA, RECORDS, REPORTS, PROJECTIONS, INFORMATION, AND OTHER MATERIALS (WRITTEN OR ORAL) FURNISHED BY SELLER OR OTHERWISE MADE AVAILABLE OR DISCLOSED TO BUYER IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, THE RELATED AGREEMENTS OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY AND THEREBY ARE PROVIDED TO BUYER AS A CONVENIENCE AND SHALL NOT CREATE OR GIVE RISE TO ANY LIABILITY OF OR AGAINST SELLER, AND ANY RELIANCE ON OR USE OF THE SAME SHALL BE AT BUYER'S SOLE RISK TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW.

8.27 Physical Condition of Assets. THE ASSETS HAVE BEEN USED FOR OIL AND GAS DRILLING AND PRODUCTION OPERATIONS AND POSSIBLY FOR THE STORAGE AND DISPOSAL OF WASTE MATERIALS OR HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCES RELATED TO STANDARD OIL FIELD OPERATIONS. PHYSICAL CHANGES IN OR UNDER THE ASSETS OR ADJACENT LANDS MAY HAVE OCCURRED AS A RESULT OF SUCH USES. THE ASSETS ALSO MAY CONTAIN BURIED PIPELINES AND OTHER EQUIPMENT, WHETHER OR NOT OF A SIMILAR NATURE, THE LOCATIONS OF WHICH MAY NOT NOW BE KNOWN BY SELLER OR BE READILY APPARENT BY A PHYSICAL INSPECTION OF THE ASSETS. IN ADDITION, BUYER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT SOME OIL FIELD PRODUCTION EQUIPMENT LOCATED ON THE ASSETS MAY CONTAIN NORM. IN THIS REGARD, BUYER EXPRESSLY UNDERSTANDS THAT NORM MAY AFFIX OR ATTACH ITSELF TO THE INSIDE OF WELLS, MATERIAL AND EQUIPMENT AS SCALE OR IN OTHER FORMS, AND THAT WELLS, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT LOCATED ON THE ASSETS DESCRIBED HEREIN MAY CONTAIN NORM AND THAT NORM CONTAINING MATERIALS MAY BE BURIED OR HAVE BEEN OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF ON THE ASSETS. BUYER ALSO EXPRESSLY UNDERSTANDS THAT SPECIAL PROCEDURES MAY BE REQUIRED FOR THE REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL OF ASBESTOS AND NORM FROM THE ASSETS WHERE THEY MAY BE FOUND.

### ARTICLE IX.

### REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER PARTIES

Buyer, with respect to itself only, and HighPeak, with respect to itself only, as applicable, represent and warrant as follows:

- 9.1 <u>Status of Formation</u>. Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do business in the State of Texas. HighPeak is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and is duly qualified to do business in the State of Texas.
- Authority. Each of Buyer and HighPeak (collectively, the "Buyer Parties") have the requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement and the Related Agreements, to carry out the transactions contemplated hereby and to undertake all of their respective obligations set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements by each of Buyer and HighPeak, and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, will not (a) violate any provision of the certificate of formation or incorporation, limited liability company agreement, bylaws, or other organizational documents of the Buyer Parties, as applicable, (b) conflict with, breach or result in a material default (with due notice or lapse of time or both) or the creation of any lien or encumbrance or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any of the terms, conditions or provisions or any material note, bond, mortgage, indenture or agreement to which Buyer or HighPeak is a party or by which Buyer or HighPeak is bound; (c) violate any judgment, order, ruling or decree applicable to Buyer or HighPeak; or (d) violate any Law.
- 9.3 <u>Validity of Obligations</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Related Agreements, and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Buyer and HighPeak. This Agreement and the Related Agreements have each been duly executed and delivered by Buyer and HighPeak, and any documents or instruments to be executed and delivered by Buyer or HighPeak at Closing will be duly executed and delivered by such Person. This Agreement, the Related Agreements and any documents or instruments delivered by Buyer or HighPeak at the Closing shall constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of such Person, enforceable in accordance with their terms.

- 9.4 <u>Qualification and Bonding</u>. Buyer is in compliance with the bonding and liability insurance requirements in accordance with all applicable Laws. Buyer is and henceforth will continue to be qualified to own any federal, Indian or state oil and gas leases that constitute part of the Assets.
- 9.5 <u>Non-Security Acquisition</u>. Buyer intends to acquire the Assets for its own benefit and account and is not acquiring said Assets with the intent of distributing fractional undivided interests thereof such as would be subject to regulation by federal or state securities Laws, and that if, in the future, it should sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of said Assets or fractional undivided interests therein, it will do so in compliance with any applicable federal and state securities Laws.
- 9.6 Evaluation. Buyer has, or by Closing will have, made its own independent investigation, analysis and evaluation of the Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements (including Buyer's own estimate and appraisal of the extent and value of Seller's Hydrocarbon reserves attributable to the Assets and an independent assessment and appraisal of the environmental risks and liabilities associated with the acquisition of the Assets). In entering into this Agreement and the Related Agreements and consummating the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, Buyer has relied, and will rely, solely upon its own independent investigation, verification, analysis and evaluation of the Assets and has not relied on any representations or warranties by Seller other than those expressly set forth in this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 9.7 <u>Financing.</u> Buyer will have sufficient shares of Common Stock or other sources of immediately available funds to enable it to pay the Base Purchase Price to Seller at the Closing.
- 9.8 <u>Broker's Fees</u>. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder's or other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer or HighPeak.

# 9.9 <u>Capitalization of HighPeak</u>

(a) The authorized capital stock of HighPeak consists of 600,000,000 shares of common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.0001 per share (the "HighPeak Preferred Stock"). All of the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock have been duly authorized and validly issued in accordance with HighPeak's Certificate of Incorporation (the "Certificate of Incorporation"), HighPeak's Bylaws (the "Bylaws"), or under the laws of the State of Delaware, are fully paid and nonassessable.

- (b) As of the Closing, the Stock Consideration will be duly authorized in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, and, when issued and delivered pursuant to this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and will be issued free and clear of any lien or claim and will not have been issued in violation of or subject to any preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or first offer or similar rights created under the Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or under the laws of the State of Delaware.
- (c) HighPeak has all requisite power and authority to issue and deliver the Stock Consideration to Seller in accordance with and upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. As of the Effective Time, all corporate action for the authorization, issuance, transfer and delivery of the Stock Consideration to Seller shall have been validly taken, and no other authorization by any Person is required therefor.
- 9.10 <u>Nasdaq Listing</u>. HighPeak has not received any notice from Nasdaq of delisting or noncompliance with the applicable listing and corporate governance rules and regulations of the Nasdaq, except as disclosed in the SEC Filings. The issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and are listed for trading on the Nasdaq. HighPeak is in compliance with all applicable rules and regulations of the Nasdaq. No judgment, order, ruling, decree, injunction or award of any securities commission or similar securities regulatory authority or any other Governmental Authority, or of the Nasdaq, preventing or suspending trading in any shares of Common Stock has been issued. There is no suit, action, proceeding or investigation pending or, to the knowledge of HighPeak, contemplated or threatened against HighPeak by any securities commission or similar securities regulatory authority or any other Governmental Authority, or of the Nasdaq, with respect to any intention by such entity to deregister the shares of Common Stock or prohibit, prevent, suspend or terminate the listing of the shares of Common Stock on the Nasdaq. HighPeak has taken no action that is designed to terminate the registration of the Common Stock under the Exchange Act.

## 9.11 SEC Filings

(a) HighPeak has timely filed or furnished with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") all forms, reports, certifications, prospectuses, proxy statements, registration statements, schedules, statements, and other documents required to be filed or furnished by it since January 1, 2021 under the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, and all other federal securities laws. All such forms, reports, certifications, prospectuses, proxy statements, registration statements, schedules, statements, and other documents are herein collectively referred to as the "SEC Filings". The SEC Filings, at the time filed or furnished, (i) complied in all material respects with applicable requirements of federal securities laws and the rules and regulations of the SEC thereunder and (ii) did not, at the time they were filed (except to the extent corrected or superseded by a subsequent SEC Filing), include any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. As of the Effective Time, there are no outstanding or unresolved comments received from the SEC staff with respect to the SEC Filings. HighPeak has not received any notification that any of the SEC Filings is the subject of ongoing SEC review or investigation.

- (b) Each of the consolidated financial statements (including, in each case, any notes and schedules thereto) contained in or incorporated by reference into the SEC Filings: (i) complied in all material respects with the published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto as of their respective dates; (ii) was prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto or, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, as may be permitted by the SEC for quarterly reports on Form 10-Q); and (iii) fairly presented in all material respects the consolidated financial position and the results of operations, changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows of HighPeak and its consolidated subsidiaries as of the respective dates of and for the periods referred to in such financial statements, subject, in the case of unaudited interim financial statements, to normal and year-end audit adjustments as permitted by the applicable rules and regulations of the SEC.
- (c) Neither HighPeak nor any of its consolidated subsidiaries has any liabilities of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent, absolute or otherwise, that would be required to be set forth or reserved for on a balance sheet of HighPeak prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for liabilities (i) as and to the extent specifically disclosed, reflected or reserved against in HighPeak's consolidated balance sheet (or the notes thereto) as of December 31, 2020, included in the SEC Filing filed or furnished prior to the date hereof, (ii) incurred in the ordinary course of business since December 31, 2020, (iii) incurred in connection with this Agreement, the Related Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, or (iv) that are immaterial to HighPeak and its consolidated subsidiaries, taken as a whole.
- 9.12 <u>Securities Laws.</u> Assuming Seller's representations contained in this Agreement are true and correct, the offer and sale of the shares of Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration will be issued pursuant to an exemption from securities registration afforded by Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and Regulation D as promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Act.

## 9.13 Controls and Procedures.

- (a) HighPeak maintains "internal control over financial reporting" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) which is effective in providing reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of HighPeak's financial reporting and the preparation of its financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.
- (b) HighPeak maintains "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) of the Exchange Act) that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by HighPeak in reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. HighPeak has carried out evaluations of the effectiveness of its disclosure controls and procedures as required by Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act and such disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end of HighPeak's most recently completed fiscal quarter.
- 9.14 <u>Absence of Certain Changes</u>. Since January 1, 2021, except as set forth in the SEC Filings filed as of the Effective Time, there has not occurred any material adverse effect or any event, occurrence, change, discovery or development of a state of circumstances or facts which would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect.

9.15 <u>Form S-3</u>. As of the Execution Date, HighPeak is eligible to register the resale of the Common Stock comprising the Stock Consideration by Seller under Form S-3 promulgated under the Securities Act.

### ARTICLE X.

#### CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF SELLER

Seller agrees and covenants that, unless Buyer shall have otherwise agreed in writing, the following provisions shall apply:

- Maintenance of Assets. Except (w) as set forth on Schedule 10.1, (x) for operations and activities contemplated by the authorization for expenditures set forth on Schedule 8.4 or pursuant to any Lease, Contract, or applicable Law, (y) as required in the event of an emergency to protect life, property or the environment, or (z) as permitted or contemplated by this Agreement, or otherwise consented to in writing by Buyer, Seller shall, from the Execution Date until the Closing Date:
- (a) Operate its business with respect to its ownership and operation of the Assets (if and as applicable) in the ordinary course of business consistent with Seller's recent practices with respect to the Assets, and in accordance with the applicable operating agreements and prudent industry practice, and fulfill all material contractual obligations and conditions imposed upon Seller with respect to the Assets, including payment of royalties, delay rentals, shut-in gas royalties and any and all material payments;
  - (b) Not introduce any new methods of management, operation or accounting with respect to any or all of the Assets;
  - (c) Not knowingly and voluntarily waive any material rights under, amend or terminate any material Contract;
- (d) Except to the extent necessary or advisable to avoid forfeiture or penalties, not enter into agreements to drill new wells or to rework, plug back, deepen, plug or abandon any Well, nor commence any drilling, reworking or completing or other operations on the Leases which requires expenditures exceeding \$100,000 net to Seller's interest for each operation; provided that the terms of this Section 10.1(d) shall not apply to any expenditures of Seller which will not be charged to Buyer;
- (e) Not voluntarily abandon any of the Wells other than as commercially reasonable or as required pursuant to the terms of a Lease or by regulation;
- (f) Not (i) enter into any agreement or arrangement transferring, selling or encumbering any of the Assets (other than in the ordinary course of business, including ordinary course sales of production or pursuant to any agreements existing on the date hereof); (ii) grant any Preferential Right or other right to purchase or agree to require the consent of any party not otherwise required to consent to the transfer and assignment of the Assets to Buyer; (iii) enter into any new sales contracts or supply contracts which cannot be cancelled upon 60 days prior notice; (iv) incur or agree to incur any contractual obligation or liability (absolute or contingent) with respect to the Assets except as otherwise provided herein (including ordinary course sales of production, inventory or salvage or with respect to any Assets with a value less than \$100,000 net to Seller's interest or pursuant to any disclosed authorizations for expenditures covering the Assets); or (v) remove any of the Related Assets from any Lease (except to move such Related Asset to another Lease); and

- (g) To the extent within the Knowledge of Seller, promptly provide Buyer with written notice of (i) any Claims, Proceedings or other occurrences which affect the Assets in any material respect; or (ii) any proposal from a third party to engage in any material transaction (e.g., a farmout) with respect to the Assets.
- Transfer Orders. Seller shall execute as of the Closing Date all necessary or appropriate transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) relating to the Assets designating Buyer as the appropriate party for payment from and after the Closing.

### 10.3 <u>Preferential Rights</u>.

- (a) Without limiting the representation contained in <u>Section 8.10</u>, Seller agrees that it will (i) use reasonable efforts to identify all preferential rights to purchase, rights of first refusal, tag-along rights, drag-along rights and other similar rights (collectively, "**Preferential Rights**") applicable to the transaction contemplated hereby, and the names and addresses of such parties holding the same, and (ii) promptly following the date hereof offer to the parties so identified (and in accordance with the documents creating such rights) the opportunity to exercise such Preferential Rights.
- (b) If the holder of a Preferential Right properly exercises such right prior to Closing, Seller shall tender to such party the required interest in the affected Asset at a price equal to the Allocated Value (reduced appropriately, as determined by mutual agreement of Buyer and Seller, if less than the entire Asset must be tendered), and to the extent that such Preferential Right is exercised and such interest in such Asset is actually sold to the party so exercising such right, such interest in the Asset will be deemed an Excluded Asset and shall be excluded from the transaction contemplated hereby and the Base Purchase Price will be adjusted downward by the Allocated Value of the Asset affected by the Preferential Right.
- (c) If, on the Closing Date, the holder of a Preferential Right has not indicated whether or not it will exercise such Preferential Right and the time period within which the holder of the Preferential Right must exercise its right has not lapsed, then the affected Asset(s) subject to such Preferential Right shall be retained by Seller at Closing, the Stock Consideration shall be reduced by an amount equal to (i) the aggregate Allocated Value of the affected Assets, *divided by* (ii) the Reference Price, and the Closing shall occur on the remainder of the Assets. If, after the Closing, any Preferential Right is waived, or if the time period otherwise set forth for exercising such Preferential Right expires without exercise by the holder thereof, or any holder of a Preferential Right that elected to exercise such Preferential Right prior to Closing, fails or refuses to consummate the purchase of the affected Asset(s), in each case within [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, then Seller shall promptly thereafter delivery conveyances of the Asset(s) subject to such Preferential Rights to Buyer and Buyer shall pay to Seller an amount in cash equal to the Allocated Value of such Asset(s) in accordance with wire transfer instructions provided by Seller (subject to the adjustments set forth in Section 3.3).

- Records and Contracts. Seller shall have the right, at its sole cost and risk, to make and retain copies of the Records and Contracts as Seller may desire prior to the delivery of the Records and Contracts to Buyer. Buyer, for a period of 5 years after the Closing Date (or for such longer period as corresponds to an applicable statute of limitations, as may have been extended by a relevant Governmental Authority), shall make available to Seller (at the location of such Records and Contracts in Buyer's organization and during normal business hours) access to the Records and Contracts upon written request of Seller. In the event there are Records and Contracts that apply to both Assets and Excluded Assets, Seller may retain the originals of such Records and Contracts and provide copies thereof to Buyer.
- 10.5 <u>Delivery of Assets</u>. All tangible personal property included in the Assets, including Records, Contracts and Permits (or completed applications therefor, if applicable), shall be made available by Seller on the Closing Date at their existing locations, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by the Parties.
- 10.6 <u>Delivery of Lease Assignments</u>. Seller shall at the Closing execute and deliver to Buyer all assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority relating to or included in the Assets.
- Registrable Securities. Upon the receipt of written notice from Seller requesting the inclusion of Registrable Securities in the Registration Statement pursuant to the Alamo Transaction, if such Registration Statement pursuant to the Alamo Transaction or the Side Letter (as such term is defined in the Alamo Transaction) has been filed and declared effective, HighPeak shall amend such Registration Statement in order to include the Registrable Securities pursuant to this Agreement and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause such amendment to become or be declared effective under the Securities Act as promptly as practicable after the filing thereof.
- 10.8 <u>Cooperation</u>. Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) assist Buyer in carrying out the obligations of Buyer pursuant to <u>Article XI</u> and (b) satisfy the conditions to Closing set forth in <u>Article XII</u>.
- 10.9 <u>Successor Operator</u>. From and after the date hereof, Seller will, for the account and at the expense of Buyer, exercise commercially reasonable efforts to assist Buyer to become operator of the Assets, but not the Excluded Assets; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Seller does not warrant or guarantee that Buyer will become the operator of all or any portion of the Assets.
- 10.10 <u>Consents</u>. Seller shall initiate all procedures required to comply with or obtain all consents necessary or required for the transfer of the Assets, including sending written notices requesting such consents promptly following the date hereof in compliance with the contractual provisions thereto. If the Asset is subject to a Restriction, then notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary the transfer of title to, or interest in, such portion of the Assets shall not become effective unless and until such Restriction is satisfied or waived by the Parties and the parties to such instrument, or becomes otherwise inoperable or unenforceable. If Seller fails to obtain any consent necessary or required for the transfer of any Asset to Buyer prior to Closing, then Seller's failure shall be handled as follows:

- (a) If a consent does not contain a Restriction, then the affected Assets shall nevertheless be conveyed at the Closing to Buyer as part of the Assets, and no adjustments shall be made to the Base Purchase Price in respect thereof.
- (b) If the consent contains a Restriction, then the affected Assets shall, at Buyer's election, be retained by Seller or conveyed to Buyer at Closing. If such Assets are retained by Seller, then subject to Section 10.10(c), the Stock Consideration shall be adjusted downward by a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the Allocated Value of such affected Assets, divided by (ii) the Reference Price, and the affected Assets shall be treated as Excluded Assets.
- (c) If, within [\*\*\*] after the Closing, Seller obtains a consent subject to Restrictions or Buyer otherwise elects to receive the affected Assets, then Seller shall promptly delivery conveyances of the affected Asset(s) to Buyer and Buyer shall pay Seller an amount in cash equal to the Allocated Value of the affected Asset(s) in accordance with wire transfer instructions provided by Seller (subject to the adjustments set forth in Section 3.3).
- 10.11 <u>Legends</u>. Seller understands that the Stock Consideration, including the Post-Closing Escrow, will be annotated with a legend (the "33 **Act Legend**") as required by the "blue sky" laws of any state and a restrictive legend in substantially the following form (and a stop-transfer order may be placed against transfer of such securities):

"THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "ACT"), OR ANY STATE SECURITIES LAW. SUCH SECURITIES MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED UNLESS A REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE ACT IS IN EFFECT AS TO SUCH TRANSFER OR IN THE OPINION OF COUNSEL ACCEPTABLE TO HIGHPEAK, SUCH TRANSFER MAY BE MADE PURSUANT TO RULE 144 OR REGISTRATION UNDER THE ACT IS OTHERWISE UNNECESSARY IN ORDER FOR SUCH TRANSFER TO COMPLY WITH THE ACT."

The 33 Act Legend shall be removed if (i) such Common Stock are registered for resale under the Securities Act (in which case an alternate prospectus delivery legend may apply), (ii) in connection with a sale, assignment or other transfer, such holder provides the transfer agent for the Common Stock an opinion of counsel, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to such transfer agent, to the effect that such sale, assignment or transfer of the Common Stock may be made without registration under the applicable requirements of the Securities Act, or (iii) the Common Stock can be sold, assigned or transferred pursuant to Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act ("Rule 144"). HighPeak shall cooperate with the applicable holder of Common Stock to effect removal of the 33 Act Legend on such shares pursuant to this Section 10.11 as soon as reasonably practicable after delivery of notice from such holder that the conditions to removal are satisfied. HighPeak shall bear all direct costs and expenses associated with the removal of a 33 Act Legend pursuant to this Section 10.11.

In addition, the Post-Closing Escrow shall be annotated with a restrictive legend in substantially the following form (the "Escrow Legend") (and a stop-transfer order may be placed against transfer of such securities):

"THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO THE STOCK ESCROW AGREEMENT, DATED AS OF JUNE 3, 2022, WHICH STOCK ESCROW AGREEMENT RESTRICTS THE RELEASE OF THESE SECURITIES FROM ESCROW. COPIES OF SUCH ESCROW AGREEMENT MAY BE OBTAINED UPON WRITTEN REQUEST FROM THE SECRETARY OF HIGHPEAK."

HighPeak shall cooperate with the applicable holder of securities released from Post-Closing Escrow to effect the removal of the Escrow Legend as soon as reasonably practicable after the release of these securities from the Post-Closing Escrow under the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the Stock Escrow Agreement.

Seller Agreements. From and after Closing and for a period of 180 days, Seller agrees that it shall not engage in any short sale, establish an open "put equivalent position" within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(h) under the Exchange Act, grant any option, right or warrant for the sale of, purchase any option or contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, any shares of Common Stock, enter into a transaction which would have the same effect, or enter into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers, in whole or in part, any of the economic consequences of ownership of the Common Stock, whether any such aforementioned transaction is to be settled by delivery of the Common Stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, without, in each case, the prior written consent of HighPeak, which consent may be withheld in HighPeak's sole discretion.

### ARTICLE XI.

## CERTAIN AGREEMENTS OF BUYER

Buyer agrees and covenants that, unless Seller shall have consented otherwise in writing, the following provisions shall apply:

Bonds, Letters of Credit and Guarantees. The Parties understand that none of the insurance currently maintained by Seller or Seller's Affiliates covering the Assets, nor any of the bonds, letters of credit or guaranties, if any, posted by Seller or Seller's Affiliates with Governmental Authorities or co-owners and relating to the Assets will be transferred to Buyer. Buyer shall post, prior to Closing, the necessary bonds, or letters of credit and guarantees as required by any applicable Governmental Authorities or third parties, and provide Seller with a copy of same, and provide proof reasonably satisfactory to Seller that all applicable Governmental Authorities and third parties have accepted such bonds, letters of credit and/or guarantees as sufficient assurance to cover the plugging of all Wells and related matters. Should Buyer fail to obtain replacements for such bonds, letters of credit and guarantees in accordance with this Section 11.1, the Post-Closing Adjustment Statement shall be adjusted to reflect a credit to Seller in an amount equal to the total face value of any such obligations which are not cancelled or released to Seller.

- 11.2 <u>Seller's Logos</u>. Buyer shall promptly, but in no event later than the 30<sup>th</sup> day, after Closing, cover or cause to be covered by decals or new signage any names and marks used by Seller, and all variations and derivatives thereof and logos relating thereto, from the Assets and shall not thereafter make any use whatsoever of such names, marks and logos.
- 11.3 <u>Transfer Orders</u>. Buyer shall execute as of the Closing Date all necessary or appropriate transfer orders (or letters in lieu thereof) relating to the Assets designating Buyer as the appropriate party for payment from and after the Closing.
- 11.4 <u>Delivery of Lease Assignments</u>. Buyer shall at the Closing execute and deliver to Seller all assignments of leases with any Governmental Authority relating to or included in the Assets.
- 11.5 <u>Cooperation</u>. Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (a) assist Seller in carrying out the obligations of Seller pursuant to <u>Article X</u>, and (b) satisfy the conditions to Closing set forth in <u>Article XIII</u>.

## 11.6 <u>Notification of Breaches</u>.

- (a) Subject to, and without limitation of, the rights and remedies of the Parties set forth in this Agreement, between the Execution Date and the Closing Date, each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to notify the other Party promptly after such Party obtains actual knowledge that any representation or warranty of the other Party contained in this Agreement is untrue in any material respect or will be untrue in any material respect as of the Closing Date or that any covenant or agreement to be performed or observed by the other Party prior to or on the Closing Date has not been so performed or observed in any material respect. For the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall Buyer's failure to comply with this Section 11.6(a) modify, compromise or otherwise affect Buyer's rights under this Agreement (including, without limitation, Section 15.1 and Section 15.2). For the purposes of this Section 11.6(a), "actual knowledge" shall be limited (i) for Seller, to the Knowledge of Seller and (ii) for Buyer, to the actual knowledge of Kevin Smith, Ryan Hightower, Mike Hollis, Rodney Woodard or Bruce Woodard, without any duty or obligation of investigation.
- (b) If any Party's representations or warranties are untrue or shall become untrue in any material respect between the Execution Date and the Closing Date, or if any Party's covenants or agreements to be performed or observed prior to or on the Closing Date shall not have been so performed or observed in any material respect, but if such breach of representation, warranty, covenant, or agreement shall (if curable) be cured by the Closing Date (or, if the Closing does not occur, by the Target Closing Date) to the reasonable satisfaction of the other Party, then such breach shall be considered not to have occurred for all purposes of this Agreement.

### ARTICLE XII.

### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO OBLIGATION OF BUYER

The obligations of Buyer to consummate the Closing are subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Buyer) of each of the following conditions:

- Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (a) All representations and warranties of Seller contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects, or, if any such representation or warranty is not expressly qualified by "materiality," then in all material respects, as of the Closing as if such representations and warranties were made as of the Closing Date (except for those representations or warranties that are expressly made only as of another specific date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects (or in all material respects, as applicable) as of such other date) except for such breaches or inaccuracies, if any, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Assets, as currently operated, taken as a whole; (b) Seller shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed by Seller at or prior to the Closing except for such breaches or failures to perform, if any, as would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect on the Assets, as currently operated, taken as a whole; and (c) Seller shall have delivered to Buyer a certificate of an officer of Seller, dated the Closing Date, confirming the foregoing.
- 12.2 <u>No Litigation</u>. No third-party suit, action or other proceeding shall be pending before any court or Governmental Authority which attempts to prevent the occurrence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 12.3 <u>Governmental Consents</u>. All material consents and approvals of any Governmental Authority required for the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the Related Agreements, except consents and approvals by Governmental Authorities that are customarily obtained after closing, shall have been granted or received, or the necessary waiting period shall have expired, or early termination of the waiting period shall have been granted.
- 12.4 <u>Deliveries</u>. Seller shall deliver (or be ready, willing, and able to deliver at Closing) to Buyer duly executed counterparts of the documents and certificates to be delivered by Seller under <u>Section 4.2</u>.
- Impairments. The sum of (without duplication of any amounts) (i) the aggregate amount of Title Defect Values for all Title Defects exceeding the Individual Title Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold), plus (ii) the aggregate amount of all Environmental Defect Values for all Environmental Defect Security (without taking into account the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold), plus (iii) the aggregate downward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 10.3 and Section 10.10, plus (iv) the aggregate amount of Casualty Losses, does not equal or exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price.

### ARTICLE XIII.

### CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF SELLER

The obligations of Seller to consummate the Closing are subject to the satisfaction (or waiver by Seller) of each of the following conditions:

Representations and Warranties; Covenants. (a) All representations and warranties of Buyer contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all respects, or, if any such representation or warranty is not expressly qualified by "materiality," then in all material respects, as of the Closing, as if such representations and warranties were made as of the Closing Date (except for those representations or warranties that are expressly made only as of another specific date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all respects (or in all material respects, as applicable) as of such other date); (b) Buyer shall have performed in all material respects all covenants and agreements required by this Agreement to be performed by Buyer at or prior to the Closing; and (c) Buyer shall have delivered to Seller a certificate of an officer of Buyer, dated the Closing Date, confirming the foregoing.

- 13.2 <u>No Litigation</u>. No third-party suit, action or other proceeding shall be pending before any court or Governmental Authority which attempts to prevent the occurrence of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements.
- 13.3 <u>Governmental Consents.</u> All material consents and approvals of any Governmental Authority required for the transactions contemplated in this Agreement and the Related Agreements, except consents and approvals by Governmental Authorities that are customarily obtained after closing, shall have been granted or received, or the necessary waiting period shall have expired, or early termination of the waiting period shall have been granted.
- 13.4 <u>Deliveries</u>. Buyer shall deliver (or be ready, willing, and able to deliver at Closing) to Seller duly executed counterparts of the documents and certificates to be delivered by Buyer under <u>Section 4.3</u>.
- Impairments. The sum of (without duplication of any amounts) (i) the aggregate amount of Title Defect Values for all Title Defects exceeding the Individual Title Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Title Defect Threshold), plus (ii) the aggregate amount of all Environmental Defect Values for all Environmental Defect sexceeding the Individual Environmental Defect Threshold (without taking into account the Aggregate Environmental Defect Threshold), plus (iii) the aggregate downward adjustments to the Base Purchase Price pursuant to Section 10.3 and Section 10.10, plus (iv) the aggregate amount of Casualty Losses, does not equal or exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price.
- 13.6 <u>Nasdaq Listing</u>. The shares of Common Stock to be issued upon the Closing shall have been approved for listing on the Nasdaq subject to official notice of issuance.

## ARTICLE XIV.

### **TERMINATION**

- 14.1 Causes of Termination. This Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing:
  - (a) By the mutual written consent of the Parties;
  - (b) By Seller, if Buyer fails to timely pay the Deposit to the Deposit Escrow Agent pursuant to Section 3.1;

- (c) By either Party if the Closing shall not have occurred by the Drop Dead Date; <u>provided</u> that no Party may terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 14.1(c)</u> if such Party's breach of this Agreement has prevented the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; or
- (d) By either Party if there shall have been entered a final, nonappealable order or injunction of any court or Governmental Authority restraining or prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or any material part thereof.
- Effect of Termination. In the event of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to or as contemplated by Section 14.1, this Agreement shall become void and have no further force and effect and neither Party shall have any further right, duty or liability to the other hereunder except (a) with respect to the indemnities provided for in Section 15.4, (b) under the confidentiality agreement between Seller and Buyer, (c) by reason of a breach of any covenant contained in this Agreement prior to such termination and (d) as otherwise provided in this Section 14.2. Upon termination, Buyer agrees to return to Seller or destroy all materials, documents and copies thereof provided, obtained or discovered in the course of any due diligence investigations. In the event this Agreement terminates under Section 14.1 and either Party has willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, then (i) if Buyer is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, including, without limitation, any breach by Buyer of Section 9.7 or Buyer's failure to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by the Drop Dead Date, Seller shall, as its sole and exclusive remedy at law or in equity, be entitled to the Deposit as liquidated damages, and (ii) if Seller is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, Buyer shall be entitled to, as its sole remedy at law or in equity, return of the Deposit except as otherwise provided in the immediately following sentence. Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, if Seller is the party that willfully or negligently failed to perform or observe in any material respect any of its agreements or covenants contained herein which are to be performed at or prior to Closing, Buyer may elect not to terminate this Agreement and may enforce the terms of this Agreement through specific performance. If Buyer elects to seek specific performance of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 14.2, the Deposit shall remain in escrow until a non-appealable final judgment or award on Buyer's claim for specific performance is rendered, at which time the Deposit shall be distributed as provided in the judgment or award resolving the specific performance claim or shall be applied as provided in Section 3.1 of this Agreement. Seller hereby agrees not to raise any objections to the availability of the equitable remedy of specific performance to specifically enforce the terms and provisions of this Agreement or to enforce compliance with the covenants and agreements of Seller under this Agreement. Buyer shall not be required to provide any bond or other security or make a showing of irreparable injury in connection with seeking an injunction or injunctions to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement. The Parties further agree that (x) by seeking the remedies provided for in this paragraph, including by the institution of a court proceeding, Buyer shall not in any respect waive their right to seek any other form of relief that may be available to it under this Agreement (including those set forth in this Section 14.2) in the event that the remedies provided for in this paragraph are not available or otherwise are not granted, and (y) nothing set forth in this paragraph shall require Buyer to institute any Proceeding for (or limit Buyer's right to institute a Proceeding for) specific performance prior or as a condition to exercising any termination right under this Article XIV, nor shall the commencement of any Proceeding pursuant to this paragraph restrict or limit Buyer's right to terminate this Agreement in accordance with this Article XIV. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Buyer is not successful in seeking to specifically enforce this Agreement pursuant to this Section 14.2, Buyer shall be entitled to the Deposit in accordance with this Section 14.2. Notwithstanding the above terms of this Section 14.2, if this Agreement is terminated for any reason other than due to Buyer's breach or willful or negligent failure to perform or observe in any material respect any of its representations, warranties, agreements or covenants contained herein as described above in this Section 14.2, then, subject to Buyer's right to specific performance under this Section 14.2, Buyer shall be entitled to the Deposit free and clear of any claims thereon by Seller.

### ARTICLE XV.

### INDEMNIFICATION

- 15.1 <u>Indemnification by Seller</u>. From and after the Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Seller shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Buyer, its parent and subsidiary entities and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives (the "Buyer Group") from and against the following:
  - (a) <u>Misrepresentations</u>. All Losses arising from the breach by Seller of any of its representations or warranties set forth in <u>Article VIII</u>;
  - (b) <u>Breach of Covenants</u>. All Losses arising from the breach by Seller of any of its covenants set forth in this Agreement;
  - (c) Retained Liabilities. All Retained Liabilities; and
  - (d) Seller Tax Liabilities. All Seller Tax Liabilities.

EVEN IF SUCH LOSSES OR LIABILITIES ARE CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT, OR CONCURRENT), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER LEGAL FAULT OF ANY MEMBER OF BUYER GROUP; <u>PROVIDED</u>, <u>HOWEVER</u>, THAT IN NO EVENT WILL SELLER BE RESPONSIBLE FOR TAXES FOR ANY PERIOD (OR PORTION THEREOF) AFTER THE EFFECTIVE TIME, EXCEPT FOR PENALTIES AND INTEREST FOR SUCH PERIOD (OR PORTION THEREOF) ENDING ON THE CLOSING DATE AS A RESULT OF SELLER'S BREACH OF THE REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES IN <u>SECTION</u> 8.8.

- 15.2 <u>Limitations</u>. Notwithstanding <u>Section 15.1</u>, the following limitations shall apply to Seller's indemnification obligations:
- (a) Seller shall not be obligated to indemnify, defend or hold harmless Buyer for any Loss unless Buyer has delivered a written notice of such Loss within the Survival Period applicable to such Loss. Any Loss for which Seller does not receive written notice before the end of the Survival Period shall be deemed to be an Assumed Liability. The "Survival Period" applicable to Losses shall mean:

- (i) With regard to (A) a breach of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Section 8.8</u> (Taxes) and (B) any Seller Tax Liabilities, a period following the Closing ending 60 days after the expiration of the statute of limitations applicable to the underlying Tax matter giving rise to that claim;
- (ii) With regard to a breach of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Sections 8.1</u> (Formation), <u>8.2</u> (Authority), and <u>8.3</u> (Validity of Obligations), an indefinite period following the Closing;
  - (iii) With regard to a breach of the Special Warranty, a period of [\*\*\*] following the Closing;
- (iv) With regard to all of the representations and warranties of Seller in this Agreement other than those described in <u>clauses</u> (i)-(iii) above, a period of [\*\*\*] following the Closing;
- (v) With regard to a breach of any covenant contemplated to be performed prior to the Closing, a period of [\*\*\*] following the Closing;
- (vi) With regard to a breach of any covenant contemplated to be performed after the Closing, until such covenant is contemplated to have been performed; and
  - (vii) With respect to any Retained Liability, for the period of time set forth in the definition of Retained Liabilities.
- (b) Other than Seller's obligations and responsibilities with respect to (i) Retained Liabilities, (ii) breaches of Seller's covenants contained in this Agreement, (iii) the Special Warranty, and (iv) breaches of the representations and warranties contained in Sections 8.1 (Formation), 8.2 (Authority), 8.3 (Validity of Obligations) and 8.13 (Broker's Fees), Seller shall have no Liability (A) for any individual Loss that does not exceed \$25,000 (the "Individual Claim Threshold"), or (B) unless and until the aggregate Losses for which claim notices for claims meeting the Individual Claim Threshold are delivered by Buyer exceed 1% of the Base Purchase Price, and then only to the extent such Losses exceed 1% of the Base Purchase Price (the "Indemnity Deductible").
- (c) Other than Liabilities of Seller with respect to (i) Retained Liabilities, (ii) breaches of Seller's covenants contained in this Agreement, (iii) the Special Warranty, and (iv) breaches of the representations and warranties contained in <u>Sections 8.1</u> (Formation), <u>8.2</u> (Authority), <u>8.3</u> (Validity of Obligations) and <u>8.13</u> (Broker's Fees), Seller's aggregate liabilities and obligations under this <u>Article XV</u> shall not exceed [\*\*\*]% of the Base Purchase Price;
- (d) The amount of Losses required to be paid by Seller to indemnify Buyer Group pursuant to this Agreement shall be reduced to the extent of any amounts actually received by Buyer Group pursuant to the terms of any insurance policies covering such claim to which Buyer Group may be entitled;

- (e) The rights of Buyer to indemnification or any other remedy under this Agreement shall not be impacted or limited by any knowledge that Buyer acquired, or could have acquired, whether before or after the Closing or Closing Date, nor by any investigation or due diligence inquiry conducted by Buyer. Buyer has entered this Agreement in express reliance upon the representations and warranties of Seller made in this Agreement. For purposes of the indemnity contained in this Article XV, all qualifications and limitations set forth in the parties' representations and warranties as to "materiality," "Material Adverse Effect" and words of similar import shall be disregarded in determining whether there shall have been any inaccuracy in or breach of any representations and warranties in this Agreement and the Losses arising therefrom; and
- (f) Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the termination rights in <u>Article XIV</u>, and from and after Closing, the indemnification provisions in this <u>Article XV</u>, shall be the exclusive remedies of Buyer with respect to the Assets, the Assumed Liabilities and Retained Liabilities, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and the representations, warranties and covenants made herein or any other document or instrument entered into pursuant hereto or in connection herewith. Further, subject to the preceding sentence, if the Closing occurs, Buyer shall be deemed to have waived, to the fullest extent permitted under Law, any right to contribution against Seller (including any contribution under any Environmental Law) and any and all other Claims and rights it may have against any Seller arising under or based on any Law or other legal theory (whether in contract, tort, equity, or otherwise).
- 15.3 <u>Indemnification by Buyer</u>. From and after the Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Buyer shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Seller, its parent and subsidiary entities and each of their respective directors, officers, employees, agents and other representatives (the "**Seller Group**") from and against the following:
- (a) <u>Misrepresentations</u>. All Losses arising from the breach by a Buyer Party of any of the representations or warranties set forth in <u>Article IX</u>;
  - (b) Breach of Covenants. All Losses arising from the breach by a Buyer Party of any of the covenants set forth in this Agreement; and
  - (c) <u>Assumed Liabilities</u>. All Assumed Liabilities, including the Assumed Environmental Liabilities;

EVEN IF SUCH LOSSES OR LIABILITIES ARE CAUSED IN WHOLE OR IN PART BY THE NEGLIGENCE (WHETHER SOLE, JOINT, OR CONCURRENT), STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER LEGAL FAULT OF ANY MEMBER OF SELLER GROUP.

15.4 Physical Inspection. BUYER INDEMNIFIES AND AGREES TO RELEASE, DEFEND, INDEMNIFY AND HOLD HARMLESS THE SELLER GROUP FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL LOSSES TO THE EXTENT ARISING FROM THE ACTIVITIES OF BUYER OR ITS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND CONTRACTORS WHILE INSPECTING OR OBSERVING THE ASSETS, INCLUDING (A) ANY AND ALL STATUTORY OR COMMON LAW LIENS OR OTHER ENCUMBRANCES FOR LABOR OR MATERIALS FURNISHED IN CONNECTION WITH ANY TESTING, SAMPLINGS, STUDIES OR SURVEYS AS BUYER MAY CONDUCT WITH RESPECT TO THE ASSETS, AND (B) CLAIMS FOR PERSONAL INJURIES TO OR DEATH OF EMPLOYEES OF BUYER, ITS CONTRACTORS, AGENTS, CONSULTANTS AND REPRESENTATIVES, AND DAMAGE TO THE PROPERTY OF SELLER OCCURRING IN, ON OR ABOUT THE ASSETS AS A RESULT OF SUCH EXERCISE OR ACTIVITIES, EXCEPT FOR ANY LOSSES THAT ARE THE RESULT OF SELLER'S GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.

15.5 Notification. As soon as reasonably practical after obtaining knowledge thereof, any Party seeking indemnification under this Agreement (the "Indemnified Party") shall notify the other Party (the "Indemnifying Party") of any Claim or Proceeding which the Indemnified Party has determined has given or could give rise to a claim for indemnification under this Article XV. Such notice shall specify the agreement, representation or warranty with respect to which the claim is made, the facts giving rise to the claim and the amount (to the extent then determinable) of liability for which indemnity is asserted. In the event any action, suit or proceeding is brought with respect to which a Party may be liable under this Article XV, the defense of the action, suit or proceeding (including all settlement negotiations and arbitration, trial, appeal or other proceeding) shall be at the discretion of and conducted by the Indemnifying Party. If an Indemnified Party shall settle any such action, suit or proceeding without the written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the right of the Indemnified Party to make any claim against the Indemnifying Party on account of such settlement shall be deemed conclusively denied. An Indemnified Party shall have the right to be represented by its own counsel at its own expense in any such action, suit or proceeding, and if an Indemnified Party is named as the defendant in any action, suit or proceeding, it shall be entitled to have its own counsel and defend such action, suit or proceeding with respect to itself at its own expense. Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Article XV, neither Party shall, without the other Party's written consent, settle, compromise, confess judgment or permit judgment by default in any action, suit or proceeding if such action would create or attach any liability or obligation to the other Party. The Parties agree to make available to each other, and to their respective counsel and accountants, all information and documents reasonably available to them which relate to any action, suit or proceeding, and the Parties agree to render to each other such assistance as they may reasonably require of each other in order to ensure the proper and adequate defense of any such action, suit or proceeding, including entering into a joint defense privilege agreement.

## 15.6 <u>Post-Closing Escrow</u>.

- (a) Seller's post-Closing obligations hereunder and under the documents to be delivered at Closing by Seller will be satisfied first from the Post-Closing Escrow. After depletion of the Post-Closing Escrow, Buyer may seek any amounts due to Buyer Group under <u>Section 15.1</u> by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account or accounts designated by Buyer.
- (b) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement (including the limitations set forth in Section 15.2) and the Stock Escrow Agreement, upon the final determination of any claim made by Buyer (whether agreed upon with Seller or fully and finally resolved pursuant to the applicable dispute resolution procedures set forth herein), at Buyer's written election, Seller and Buyer shall provide written instructions to the Stock Escrow Agent in accordance with the Stock Escrow Agreement to disburse to Buyer a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the undisputed dollar value of such claim (taking into account the Individual Claim Threshold and the Indemnity Deductible), divided by (ii) the Reference Price.

- (c) On the date that is [\*\*\*] after the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release to Seller the Post-Closing Escrow, save and except a number of shares of Common Stock equal to (i) the aggregate dollar of all unsatisfied claims for indemnification that Buyer has made against Seller on or before such date pursuant to this <u>Section 15.6</u> and which are subject to satisfaction (in whole or in part) from the Post-Closing Escrow (in each case, taking into account the Individual Claim Threshold and the Indemnity Deductible), *divided by* (ii) the Reference Price.
- (d) Subject to the terms of the Stock Escrow Agreement, Seller shall be entitled to vote the Common Stock in the Post-Closing Escrow and shall be entitled to any dividends paid thereon.
- (e) The Parties agree that the Common Stock comprising the Post-Closing Escrow will be treated as transferred to and owned by the Seller on the date of the Closing for U.S. federal and applicable state and local income tax purposes (the "Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment"), and that the terms of the Post-Closing Escrow are consistent with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment. Buyer and Seller shall, and shall cause their Affiliates to, report consistently with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment on all Tax Returns, and neither Seller nor Buyer shall take any position on any Tax Return that is inconsistent with the Agreed Escrow Tax Treatment, as adjusted, unless required to do so by a "final determination" within the meaning of Section 1313 of the Code.

### ARTICLE XVI.

## MISCELLANEOUS

## 16.1 <u>Casualty Loss</u>.

- (a) A "Casualty Loss" means the damage, destruction, or making unavailable or unusable for the intended purpose of any portion of the Assets by way of acts of God having a direct impact on the Assets (including volcanic eruptions, lightning, earthquake, wind, storm, flood or drought), or fire, explosion, condemnation, or exercise of any right of eminent domain. A Casualty Loss does not include depletion due to normal production and depreciation, failure of equipment or casing, or loss of ability to profitably market Hydrocarbons.
- (b) If, after the Execution Date but prior to the Closing Date, any portion of the Assets is damaged, destroyed, or made unavailable or unusable for the intended purpose due to Casualty Loss, then this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and (i) there shall be no reduction to the Base Purchase Price in respect thereof, notwithstanding any such Casualty Loss, (ii) Buyer shall nevertheless be required to close the transactions contemplated hereby, and (iii) upon Closing, Seller shall assign, transfer and set over unto Buyer the Assets affected by such Casualty Loss and any insurance proceeds, awards or other payments arising out of such Casualty Loss received by Seller, and all of the right, title and interest of Seller in and to any unpaid insurance proceeds, awards or other payments arising out of such Casualty Loss, and all right, title, interest and claims against third parties for the recovery of Seller's costs and expenses incurred prior to Closing in repairing such Casualty Loss or pursuing or asserting any such insurance claims; provided, however, that Buyer may elect to exclude the affected Assets from the transactions contemplated hereby if Buyer's reasonable estimate of the cost to repair or replace the affected Assets exceeds the amount of insurance proceeds, awards or other payments Buyer reasonably expects to receive in connection with such Casualty Loss (in which case the Base Purchase Price shall be reduced by the Allocated Value of the affected Assets). Seller shall have no other liability or responsibility to Buyer with respect to a Casualty Loss, even if such Casualty Loss shall have resulted from or shall have arisen out of the sole or concurrent negligence, fault, or violation of Law of Seller or any of its Affiliates.

- Confidentiality. For a period of one year following the Closing Date and subject to the provisions of Section 16.4, each Party shall not, and each Party shall cause its Affiliates and representatives to not, use for its or their own benefit or divulge or convey to any third party (other than its representatives), any Confidential Information; provided, however, that a Party or its Affiliate may furnish such portion, and only such portion, of the Confidential Information as such Party or its Affiliate reasonably determines it is legally obligated to disclose if: (i) it receives a request from any Governmental Authority to disclose all or any part of the Confidential Information; (ii) to the extent not inconsistent with such request or prohibited by applicable Law, it notifies the other Party of the existence, terms and circumstances surrounding such request and consults with the other Party on the advisability of taking steps available under applicable Law to resist or narrow such request; and (iii) it exercises its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain an order or other reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to the disclosed Confidential Information. For purposes of this Agreement, "Confidential Information" consists of all information and data relating to: (i) the terms and contents of this Agreement and the Exhibits and Schedules hereto; (ii) the Parties and their respective subsidiaries which would reasonably be considered to be proprietary or confidential; or (iii) the transactions contemplated hereby, other than data or information that is or becomes available to the public other than as a result of a breach of this Section. The Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect whether or not the Closing occurs.
- 16.3 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, or consent required or permitted to be given hereunder shall be in writing and delivered in person or by certified letter, with return receipt requested, or by prepaid overnight delivery service, or by facsimile addressed to the Party for whom it is intended at the following addresses:

If to Seller, to:

Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC 1101 Little School Road Arlington, Texas 76017 Attn: Shu Rau

Jeff Hansen Email: Shu.rau@crockettoperating.com jeff@hansenattorneys.com With a copy to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 609 Main Street Houston, Texas 77002

Attention: Rahul D. Vashi, P.C. Email: rahul.vashi@kirkland.com

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 1601 Elm Street Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Kevin T. Crews, P.C.

Courtney Jamison Roane

Email: kevin.crews@kirkland.com courtney.roane@kirkland.com

If to Buyer, to:

HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC 421 W. 3rd St., Ste 1000 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Attn: Kevin Smith, Land Manger Email: ksmith@highpeakenergy.com

With a copy to:

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld 201 Main St., Ste 1600 Fort Worth, Texas 76102 Attn: Cole Bredthauer

Email: cbredthauer@akingump.com

or at such other address as any of the above shall specify by like notice to the other.

- Press Releases and Public Announcements. Neither Party shall make any press release or other public announcement regarding the existence of this Agreement, the Related Agreements, the contents hereof or the transactions contemplated hereby without the prior written consent of the other Party; provided, however, the foregoing shall not restrict disclosures by a Party: (i) that are required by applicable securities or other laws or regulations or the applicable rules of any stock exchange having jurisdiction over Seller or its Affiliates, (ii) to Governmental Authorities and third Persons holding preferential rights to purchase or rights of consent that may be applicable to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements, as reasonably necessary to obtain waivers of such right or such consents, or (iii) with respect to Buyer, that do not specifically identify the Seller; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prevent Seller or Buyer from recording any instruments of conveyance delivered at the Closing.
- Governing Law. This Agreement is governed by and will be construed according to the laws of the State of Texas, excluding any conflicts-of-law rule or principle that might apply the law of another jurisdiction. All disputes related to this Agreement shall be submitted to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Texas and venue shall be in the civil district courts of Howard County, Texas. EACH PARTY HEREBY UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL IN ANY LAWSUIT, ACTION, OR PROCEEDING BETWEEN OR AMONG THE PARTIES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY.

16.6 <u>Schedules and Exhibits</u>. The Schedules and Exhibits attached to this Agreement are incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement.

#### 16.7 Financial Statement Information.

Seller acknowledges that Buyer, or its Affiliates (including its successors and assigns) may be required to include statements of revenues and direct operating expenses and other financial information relating to the Assets for one or more years or interim periods ending on or prior to, or including, the Closing (but not to exceed 2 fiscal years plus, on an unaudited basis, the interim period ending on or prior to the Closing Date), in documents filed by Buyer or its Affiliates or assignee with the SEC pursuant to the Securities Act, or in materials relating to a securities offering under Rule 144A of the Securities Act, and that such financial statements may be required to be independently audited (together with any supplementary oil and gas information required by ASC 932-235, the "Requisite Financial Statement Information"). From and after the Closing Date and for 2 years after Closing, Seller shall maintain, and, at Buyer's request (and at Buyer's sole cost and expense), provide Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) and its auditor reasonable access during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to, any financial information and records (to the extent that such information is available) and personnel of Seller Group and use commercially reasonable efforts to, at Buyer's sole cost and expense, provide reasonable access during normal business hours and upon reasonable advance notice to Seller Group's accounting firm, in each case, as Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) may reasonably request for the sole purpose of Buyer (or its applicable Affiliate, successor or assignee) and its auditor, and its representatives, creating and, to the extent required by Law, auditing, the Requisite Financial Statement Information; provided that Seller's commercially reasonable efforts shall be without the obligation to expend any monies or undertake any obligations (other than the obligation to request access). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, (i) Seller shall in no event be required to create new records or financial statements relating to the Assets or otherwise and (ii) the access to be provided to Buyer shall not interfere with Seller's ability to prepare its own financial statements or its regular conduct of business. Seller and its Affiliates shall not be required to (A) deliver or cause the delivery of any legal opinions or make any representations in connection with such cooperation described herein, (B) take any action that Seller reasonably believes could result in a violation of applicable Law or regulations of any Governmental Authority, Seller's, or its Affiliate's, organizational documents, any contractual obligation or any confidentiality arrangement or the waiver of any legal or other applicable privilege (including attorney-client privilege and attorney work product), (C) agree to pay any fees, reimburse any expenses, incur any costs or Liabilities (unless Buyer has advanced the funds necessary to cover such expenses, costs or Liabilities) or give any indemnities; provided, however, nothing in this clause (C) shall be construed to limit Seller's express obligations set forth in this Section 16.7 or (D) be a party to any agreement, certificate, instrument or other document with respect to the Buyer's debt or equity financings.

- (b) Upon request of Buyer, Seller shall request the external audit firm that audits the Requisite Financial Statement Information to consent to the inclusion or incorporation by reference of its audit opinion with respect to the audited financial statements included in the Requisite Financial Statement Information in any such registration statement, report or other document. Seller shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to, at Buyer's sole cost and expense, provide Buyer and Buyer's independent accountants with reasonable access to (i) audit work papers of the Seller Group's independent accountants in connection with this Section 16.7 and (ii) management representation letters delivered by any member of the Seller Group, as applicable, or on behalf of Seller Group to the Seller Group's independent accountants; provided, however, that Seller's commercially reasonable efforts shall not include the obligation to expend any monies or undertake any obligations (other than the obligation to request access).
- (c) Buyer shall be responsible for, and obligated to promptly reimburse Seller for, all reasonable costs and expenses (including third person or internal resources and personnel) incurred by Seller or its Affiliates to the extent associated with preparing and obtaining the Requisite Financial Statement Information and otherwise complying with this <u>Section 16.7</u>.
- (d) All of the information provided by Seller pursuant to this <u>Section 16.7</u> is given without any representation or warranty, express or implied, and no member of Seller Group shall have any liability or responsibility with respect thereto.
- (e) Buyer shall indemnify Seller, its respective Affiliates, Seller's and each of its Affiliates' respective directors, managers, officers, stockholders, partners, members, employees and representatives, each member of Seller Group, and each of their respective heirs, successors and permitted assigns, each in their capacity as such, from, against and in respect of any losses or other Liabilities imposed on, sustained, incurred or suffered by, or asserted against, any of them, whether in respect of third party claims, direct claims or otherwise, directly or indirectly relating to, arising out of or resulting from the provision to or use by Buyer, any of its Affiliates or representatives of information utilized in connection with the preparation or audit of the Requisite Financial Statement Information or otherwise pursuant to this Section 16.7 to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, in each case, except in the case of fraud and the foregoing obligations shall survive termination of this Agreement for a period of 10 years after the Closing.
- (f) Except to the extent included in any filings made pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, Buyer agrees to hold all information provided or made available to Buyer and its Affiliates pursuant to this Section 16.7 and that is not otherwise part of or related to the Assets that are conveyed to Buyer pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement confidential and agrees not to use any such information other than in connection with the preparation of any such filings.

## 16.8 <u>Expenses, Taxes and Recording.</u>

(a) Each Party shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses incurred by it in connection with this transaction (including fees and expenses of its counsel and accountants) and shall not be entitled to any reimbursements from the other Party, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, regardless of whether the Closing occurs.

- (b) The Party required by applicable Law to file all necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes and fees incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Related Agreements ("Transfer Taxes"), and, if required by applicable law, the other Party shall join in the execution of any such Tax Returns and other documentation. Other than recording fees associated with filing instruments in the county records after Closing (which shall be the responsibility of Buyer), the Parties do not expect that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will result in any Transfer Taxes (other than recording fees). However, if any Transfer Taxes are imposed on the transfer of the Assets to Buyer, such Transfer Taxes shall be borne by Seller. Sellers and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate in good faith to minimize, to the extent permissible under applicable Law, the amount of any such Transfer Taxes.
- (c) Buyer shall, at its own cost, immediately record all instruments of conveyance and sale in the appropriate office of the state and county in which the lands covered by such instrument are located. Buyer shall immediately file for and obtain the necessary approval of all Governmental Authorities to the assignment of the Assets and shall immediately file all change of operator forms to effect the change of operator where applicable. The assignment of any state, federal or Indian tribal oil and gas leases shall be filed in the appropriate governmental offices on a form required and in compliance with the applicable rules of the applicable Governmental Authority. Buyer shall supply Seller with a true and accurate photocopy reflecting the recording information of all the recorded and filed assignments within a reasonable period of time after their recording and filing.
- 16.9 <u>HighPeak Change of Control</u>. In the event of a Change of Control (as hereinafter defined) within [\*\*\*] of the Closing Date, Buyer and Seller shall instruct the Stock Escrow Agent to release to Seller the Post-Closing Escrow. [\*\*\*].
- 16.10 <u>Assignment</u>. This Agreement or any part hereof may not (directly or indirectly) be assigned by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempted assignment without such consent shall be null and void. Subject to the foregoing, this Agreement is binding upon the Parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.
- 16.11 <u>Entire Agreement; No Reliance</u>. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, superseding all prior negotiations, discussions, agreements and understandings, whether oral or written, relating to such subject matter, except that the Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms. Each of the Parties expressly waives reliance on any facts, promises, undertakings, representations or warranties made by any other Party or such Party's representatives prior to the execution of this Agreement to the extent such facts, promises, undertakings, representations or warranties are not expressly reflected herein or in the Confidentiality Agreement.
- 16.12 <u>Severability</u>. In the event that any one or more covenants, clauses or provisions of this Agreement shall be held invalid or illegal, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement.

- 16.13 <u>Captions</u>. The captions in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall not be considered a part of or affect the construction or interpretation of any provision of this Agreement.
- 16.14 <u>Disclaimers Conspicuous</u>. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT, TO THE EXTENT REQUIRED BY APPLICABLE LAW TO BE OPERATIVE, ALL LANGUAGE IN THIS AGREEMENT IN ALL CAPITAL LETTERS ARE "CONSPICUOUS" DISCLAIMERS FOR THE PURPOSES OF ANY APPLICABLE LAW, RULE, OR ORDER.

## 16.15 <u>Certain Interpretive Matters.</u>

- (a) Unless the context otherwise requires, (i) all references to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits are to Articles, Sections, Schedules or Exhibits of or to this Agreement, (ii) "or" is disjunctive but not necessarily exclusive, (iii) words expressed in the singular include plural and vice versa, (iv) the word "including" means "including without limitation," (v) the word "days" means "calendar days" unless specified as "business days," and (vi) all references to "funds" or "\$" are to lawful currency of the United States of America.
- (b) No provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in favor of, or against, any Party by reason of the extent to which such Party or its counsel participated in the drafting hereof or by reason of the extent to which any such provision is inconsistent with any prior draft hereof.
- 16.16 <u>Counterpart Execution</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and each such counterpart shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
- 16.17 <u>Waiver of Certain Damages</u>. Each of the Parties hereby waives and agrees not to seek consequential, special, exemplary or punitive damages, lost profits, lost business opportunities, or diminution in value with respect to any Claim, Proceeding, controversy or dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach hereof, including any indemnification claim pursuant hereto, other than any such damages payable to any third party in respect of which a Party is otherwise entitled to indemnification hereunder.
- 16.18 No Waiver. No waiver by any Party of any condition of this Agreement or of any breach by any Party of any of the obligations or representations hereunder shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other condition or subsequent breach of the same or any other obligation or representation by any Party. Forbearance by any Party to seek a remedy for any noncompliance or breach by any other Party shall not be deemed to be a waiver by the first such Party of its rights and remedies with respect to any such noncompliance or breach.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOR	', this Agreement has been	n signed by each of the Par	ties and HighPeak as of th	e date first set forth above.
--------------------	----------------------------	-----------------------------	----------------------------	-------------------------------

## **SELLER:**

## ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC

By:	
Name:	
Title:	

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

Ŀ	By:
N	Name:
Ί	Title:
ŀ	нібнреак:
ŀ	HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC.
	3v·
E	, y .
E	Sy:Name:

SIGNATURE PAGE TO PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT

**BUYER:** 

SPECIFIC TERMS IN THIS EXHIBIT HAVE BEEN REDACTED BECAUSE SUCH TERMS ARE BOTH NOT MATERIAL AND ARE THE TYPE THAT THE REGISTRANT TREATS AS PRIVATE OR CONFIDENTIAL. THESE REDACTED TERMS HAVE BEEN MARKED IN THIS EXHIBIT WITH THREE ASTERISKS [\*\*\*].

#### PUT/CALL AGREEMENT

This Put/Call Agreement (this "Agreement"), dated as of February 15, 2022, is entered into by and between HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("HighPeak LLC"), HighPeak Energy, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("HighPeak Inc." and, together with HighPeak LLC, the "HighPeak Parties"), Alamo Frac Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo Exploration and Production, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Crockett"), Alamo Borden County II, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo II"), Alamo Borden County III, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo II"), Alamo Borden County IV, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo II"), I\*\*\*], together with Alamo Frac, Alamo E&P, Alamo II, Alamo III, Alamo IV, Crockett, [\*\*\*], the "Alamo Parties"). Each of the HighPeak Parties and the Alamo Parties may be referred to individually as a "Party" or collectively as the "Parties".

## RECITALS

WHEREAS, the HighPeak Parties, on the one hand, and Alamo II, Alamo III, and Alamo IV, on the other hand, have entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2022 (the "Related Purchase Agreement"), on the terms and subject to the conditions of which HighPeak LLC will purchase from Alamo II, Alamo III and Alamo IV certain oil, gas and mineral properties and other assets at the closing thereunder (the "Related PSA Closing");

WHEREAS, certain of the Alamo Parties directly or indirectly own Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, a Texas limited liability company ("Alamo I"), which owns oil, gas and mineral properties and other assets which are part of the estate of Alamo I in that certain bankruptcy proceeding of Alamo I, currently pending in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas (the "Bankruptcy Court"), and, contingent upon Alamo I emerging from bankruptcy under Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code and the effective date of a related Plan of Reorganization as determined by the Bankruptcy Court following a final order that is not subject to appeal (the "Plan Effective Date"), the Alamo Parties wish to cause to be sold such assets as set forth on Exhibit A (the "ABC-1 Assets") pursuant to the form of Purchase and Sale Agreement and disclosure schedules (the "Purchase Agreement") attached hereto as Exhibit B; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the Related Purchase Agreement, the Alamo Parties desire to give HighPeak LLC the right to call the ABC-1 Assets, and HighPeak LLC desires to give the Alamo Parties the right to put the ABC-1 Assets, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and on the terms and subject to the conditions hereinafter provided.

#### AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, agreements and obligations hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. <u>Defined Terms</u>. All capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Purchase Agreement.

## 2. <u>Call Right</u>.

- (a) At any time between the Plan Effective Date and 180 days following the Plan Effective Date (the "Call Period"), HighPeak LLC may agree to purchase the ABC-1 Assets subject to the Purchase Agreement and the conditions of this Section 2.
- (b) HighPeak LLC shall give the Alamo Parties at least 15 days' prior written notice of its election to purchase the ABC-1 Assets (the "Call Notice"), which Call Notice shall be delivered prior to the end of the Call Period, and shall set forth the date and time of the signing of the Purchase Agreement (which shall be a Business Day) (the "Signing Date") at least five (5), but no more than fifteen (15), Business Days after the delivery of the Call Notice.
- (c) If HighPeak LLC delivers a Call Notice, HighPeak LLC and the Alamo Parties shall enter into the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date and take such other actions as may be required to be taken per the terms thereof concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date.
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, if HighPeak LLC exercises its call right in accordance with this Section 2 and HighPeak LLC does not enter into the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date in accordance herewith (a "Call Default"), the Alamo Parties may cause to be sold the ABC-1 Assets to one or more third parties without restriction hereunder. Upon any such sale, HighPeak LLC's obligations to the Alamo Parties under this Section 2 with respect to the ABC-1 Assets shall terminate and be of no further force and effect unless (x) the assignee thereof agrees in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement in place of the Alamo Parties and (y) the Alamo Parties, on behalf of each Alamo Party, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, such transferee and assignee (and without implicating such transferee's and assignee's rights hereunder) waives any and all claims of any type the Alamo Parties may have for matters related to its rights hereunder for periods prior to such sale, in which case HighPeak LLC's obligations to the Alamo Parties under this Section 2 shall not so terminate and shall remain in full force and effect.
- (e) HighPeak LLC may at any time withdraw any Call Notice prior to the Signing Date without any liability to the Alamo Parties and without prejudice to any future exercise of its rights under this <u>Section 2</u> (but subject to the applicable time periods set forth herein).

## 3. Put Right.

(a) If the Plan Effective Date occurs at any time between (i) the earlier of the Related Purchase Agreement's Target Closing Date (as defined in the Related Purchase Agreement) and the Related PSA Closing and (ii) 60 days following the Related PSA Closing (the "Put Period"), the Alamo Parties may require HighPeak LLC to agree to purchase the ABC-1 Assets, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and subject to the conditions of this Section 3.

- (b) If the Alamo Parties desire to exercise their rights under Section 3(a), the Alamo Parties shall give HighPeak LLC written notice of their election to cause to be sold to HighPeak LLC the ABC-1 Assets (the "Put Notice"), which Put Notice shall be delivered prior to the end of the Put Period, and shall set forth the Signing Date at least five (5), but no more than fifteen (15), Business Days after the delivery of the Put Notice; provided that, the Signing Date shall be prior to the end of the Call Period.
- (c) If the Alamo Parties deliver a Put Notice, HighPeak LLC and the Alamo Parties shall enter into the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date and take such other actions as may be required to be taken per the terms thereof concurrently with the execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date.
- (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything herein to the contrary, if the Alamo Parties exercise their put right in accordance with this <u>Section 3</u>, and HighPeak LLC does not enter in to the Purchase Agreement on the Signing Date (a "**Put Default**"), the Alamo Parties may cause to be sold the ABC-1 Assets to one or more third parties without restriction hereunder. Upon any such sale, HighPeak LLC's obligations to the Alamo Parties under this <u>Section 3</u> with respect to the ABC-1 Assets shall terminate and be of no further force and effect unless (x) the assignee thereof agrees in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Agreement in place of the Alamo Parties and (y) the Alamo Parties, on behalf of each Alamo Party, and not, for the avoidance of doubt, such transferee and assignee (and without implicating such transferee's and assignee's rights hereunder) waives any and all claims of any type the Alamo Parties may have for matters related to its rights hereunder for periods prior to such sale, in which case HighPeak LLC's obligations to the Alamo Parties under this <u>Section 3</u> shall not so terminate and shall remain in full force and effect.
- 4. <u>Overlap</u>. To the extent that the Call Period and the Put Period overlap and (a) a HighPeak Party delivers a Call Notice, then the Alamo Parties shall be prohibited from delivering a Put Notice, or (b) an Alamo Party delivers a Put Notice in compliance with <u>Section 3(b)</u> and the Alamo Parties otherwise comply with <u>Section 3(c)</u>, then the HighPeak Parties shall be prohibited from delivering a Call Notice.
- 5. <u>Effectiveness.</u> Although the Parties are executing and delivering this Agreement as of the date first set forth above, <u>Sections 2</u> and <u>3</u> of this Agreement shall only be effective, and the obligations and rights of the Parties under this Agreement shall only be enforceable, as of the Related PSA Closing. This Agreement shall be null and void if the Related Purchase Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms.
- 6. Covenants. From the date hereof until the earlier of (a) the execution and delivery of the Purchase Agreement or (b) the day immediately following last day of the Call Period, subject to any obligations imposed on the Alamo Parties by the Bankruptcy Court (or related applicable law), and except as expressly permitted or provided for under a Plan of Reorganization approved by the Bankruptcy Court or other order entered by the Bankruptcy Court, the Alamo Parties shall not, and shall not permit any subsidiaries or Affiliates to, directly or indirectly, (i) operate the ABC-1 Assets outside the ordinary course of business, (ii) introduce new methods of management, operation or accounting with respect to the ABC-1 Assets, (iii) waive, amend or terminate any material contracts relating to the ABC-1 Assets, (iv) enter into any agreement or arrangement transferring, selling or encumbering any of the ABC-1 Assets, (v) sell, transfer, convey or encumber the ABC-1 Assets or any portion thereof, or (vi) authorize, commit or agree to do any of the foregoing. Not less than 24 hours prior to filing, the Alamo Parties shall provide HighPeak LLC with a draft of each of the following documents, in substantially final form: (A) proposed Plan of Reorganization, (B) any supplements, modifications or amendments to the Plan of Reorganization, and (C) any other motion and associated order that seeks to dispose of the ABC-1 Assets including, without limitation any contracts related to the ABC-1 Assets.

- 7. Specific Performance. The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that each Party's rights to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby are special, unique and of extraordinary character. Each Party further acknowledges and agrees that if the other Party violates or fails or refuses to perform any covenant or agreement made by it herein, such Party may be damaged irreparably and the remedies at law for such violation, failure or refusal, including monetary damages, might be inadequate compensation for any liabilities as a result thereof, and that any defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate is waived. If any Party violates or fails or refuses to perform any covenant or agreement made by such Party herein to be performed (including, such Party's obligation to enter into the transaction contemplated by the Purchase Agreement), then the other Party, subject to the terms hereof and in addition to any remedy at law for damages or other relief permitted under this Agreement, may institute and prosecute an action in any court of competent jurisdiction to enforce specific performance of such covenant or agreement or seek any other equitable relief, without the necessity of proving actual damages or posting of a bond.
- 8. <u>Miscellaneous</u>. The following provisions of the Purchase Agreement are incorporated herein *mutatis mutandis* (with the references therein to "this Agreement" and the "parties" referring to this Agreement and the Parties, respectively, and with any other logically necessary changes): 16.3 (Notice); 16.5 (Governing Law); 16.8(a) (Expenses); 16.11 (Entire Agreement; No Reliance); 16.12 (Severability); 16.15 (Certain Interpretive Matters); 16.16 (Counterpart Execution); 16.17 (Waiver of Certain Damages); 16.18 (No Waiver). This Agreement, the Related Purchase Agreement and the Purchase Agreement contain the entire understanding of the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous oral or written agreements, negotiations, understandings, statements or proposals with respect to the subject matter hereof.
- 9. <u>Assignment.</u> This Agreement and all of the provisions hereof shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns, except that neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned or delegated by either the HighPeak Parties or the Alamo Parties without the prior written consent of the other parties; *provided* that, the Alamo Parties may assign its respective rights under this Agreement to any Affiliates or, upon and following a Put Default, to any other Person to whom any ABC-1 Assets are transferred, in each case, so long as such assignee agrees in writing to be bound by the terms and conditions hereof.

- 10. <u>No Third Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement is for the sole benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity any legal or equitable right, benefit, remedy of any nature whatsoever or by reason of this Agreement.
- Schedule Updates. For a period of 2 Business Days immediately following the Alamo Parties' receipt of a Call Notice, or the Alamo Parties' delivery of a Put Notice, as applicable, the Alamo Parties shall have the right to supplement the schedules attached to the Purchase Agreement to reflect any matters arising after the date hereof by delivering written copies of any such supplements to HighPeak LLC (collectively, the "Supplements"). If the Supplements reflect circumstances, events, facts or other matters that could reasonably be expected adversely impact the ABC-1 Assets, the value thereof or the ownership or operation thereof by [\*\*\*] or more in the aggregate, then: (a) if HighPeak LLC has delivered a Call Notice, HighPeak LLC may rescind its Call Notice, in which case HighPeak LLC shall not have any obligations hereunder with respect to ABC-1 Assets, or (b) if HighPeak LLC has received a Put Notice, HighPeak LLC may elect not to enter into the Purchase Agreement, in which case HighPeak LLC shall not have any obligations hereunder with respect to the ABC-1 Assets and the Put Period shall be deemed to have expired. If: (x) the Supplements give rise to HighPeak LLC's rights under Section 11(a) or Section 11(b), (y) HighPeak LLC does not exercise its rights under Section 11(a) or Section 11(b), and (z) Parties enter into the Purchase Agreement, such Supplements shall be deemed to have been included in Seller's representations and warranties for the all purposes of the Purchase Agreement.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each Party has duly executed and delivered this Agreement as of the date first above written.

## **HIGHPEAK PARTIES:**

]	HIGHPEAK ENERGY ASSETS, LLC
I	Ву:
1	Name:
7	Γitle:
J	HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC.
I	Ву:
1	Name:

Signature Page to Put/Call Agreement

## **ALAMO PARTIES:**

## ALAMO FRAC HOLDINGS, LLC

By: Name:
Title:
ALAMO EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION, I
By:
Name:
Title:
CROCKETT OPERATING LLC
Ву:
Name:
Title:
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY II, LLC
Ву:
Name:
Title:
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC
Ву:
Name:
Title:

Signature Page to Put/Call Agreement

## ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC

Nome:			
Title: _			
By:	[***]		
Name:			
By:	[***]		
Name:			
By:	[***]		
Name:	[***]		

Signature Page to Put/Call Agreement

**EXHIBIT A** 

## **ABC-1 Assets**

Exhibit A

## **EXHIBIT B**

## Form of Purchase and Sale Agreement

[See attached.]

Exhibit B

## **Consent of Independent Auditors**

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (File No. 333-261706) and related prospectus and on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-249888) of HighPeak Energy, Inc., of our report dated June 21, 2022, relating to the audited historical consolidated statement of revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the year ended December 31, 2021, which appears in this Current Report on Form 8-K of HighPeak Energy, Inc.

/s/ WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Midland, Texas June 23, 2022

### UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As previously disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") on February 22, 2022, HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of HighPeak Energy, Inc. (the "Company" or "HighPeak" and, together with HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC, the "HighPeak Parties") entered into that certain Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "February Purchase Agreement"), dated as of February 15, 2022, with the third party private sellers set forth in the agreements (the "Alamo Parties") to acquire various oil and gas properties contiguous to its Flat Top operating area in Howard and Borden Counties, Texas (the "February Acquisition"). On March 25, 2022, the Company completed the February Acquisition, consisting of producing properties, undeveloped acreage, water system infrastructure and in-field fluid gathering pipelines (the "February Assets"), in exchange for a combined purchase price consisting of 6,960,000 shares of the Company's common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share ("Common Stock"), valued at closing at \$156.6 million, and \$141,000 in cash, which remains subject to final post-closing settlement between the Company and the Alamo Parties.

Concurrently with the entry into the February Purchase Agreement, the HighPeak Parties entered into that certain Put/Call Agreement with the Alamo Parties, pursuant to which certain members of the Alamo Parties were granted the option to become a party to a purchase and sale agreement and accordingly sell such member's interests in certain additional producing crude oil and natural gas properties in Borden County, Texas (the "Put/Call Agreement" and, together with the February Purchase Agreement, the "February Acquisition Agreements").

Pursuant to, and in connection with, the February Acquisition Agreements, on June 3, 2022, the HighPeak Parties and Alamo Borden County 1, LLC ("Alamo I") entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "June Purchase Agreement" and, together with the February Acquisition Agreements, the "Alamo Acquisition Agreements"), to acquire certain assets of Alamo I, or any affiliate of Alamo I, located in Borden County, Texas (the "June Assets" and, together with the February Assets, the "Alamo Assets") and closed the acquisition (the "June Acquisition" and, together with the February Acquisition, the "Alamo Acquisitions") on June 21, 2022. The consideration for this June Acquisition was 371,517 shares of the Company's Common Stock, valued at closing at \$11.2 million, which remains subject to final post-closing settlement between the Company and Alamo I.

The Alamo Acquisitions will be accounted for as asset acquisitions as substantially all of the gross assets acquired are concentrated in a group of similar identifiable assets. The preliminary allocation of the total purchase prices in the Alamo Acquisitions are based upon management's estimates of and assumptions related to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The pro forma financial statements have been prepared to reflect the transaction accounting adjustments to HighPeak's historical condensed consolidated financial information in order to account for the Alamo Acquisitions and will include the assumption of liabilities for acquisition-related expenses and the recognition of the estimated tax impact of the pro forma adjustments.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet of HighPeak Energy, Inc. as of March 31, 2022, was prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on March 31, 2022, excluding the effects of the February Purchase Agreement which closed on March 25, 2022 other than an estimate of post-closing adjustments thereto, the effects of which are already included in HighPeak Energy Inc.'s unaudited historical financial statements as of March 31, 2022 included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2022, and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations of HighPeak Energy, Inc. for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and for the year ended December 31, 2021, was prepared to give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on January 1, 2021. Assumptions and estimates underlying the pro forma adjustments are described in the accompanying notes, which should be read in conjunction with the pro forma condensed combined financial statements.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet does not purport to represent what HighPeak's financial position would have been had the Alamo Acquisitions actually been consummated on March 31, 2022. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations do not purport to represent what HighPeak's results of operations would have been had the Alamo Acquisitions actually been consummated on January 1, 2021. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is not indicative of HighPeak's future financial position or results of operations and does not reflect future events that may occur after the Alamo Acquisitions, including, but not limited to, the anticipated realization of ongoing savings from operating efficiencies, or offsetting unforeseen incremental costs.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 has been derived from and should be read in conjunction with the unaudited historical condensed consolidated balance sheet of HighPeak as of March 31, 2022 included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarter ended March 31, 2022 and the closing statements of the Alamo Acquisitions.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 has been derived from:

- the unaudited historical condensed consolidated statement of operations of HighPeak for the three months ended March 31, 2022 included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarter ended March 31, 2022; and
- the unaudited historical revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the three months ended March 31, 2022 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.3 to this Current Report on Form 8-K).

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021 has been derived from:

- the audited historical consolidated statement of operations of HighPeak for the year ended December 31, 2021 included in its 2021 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021; and
- the audited historical consolidated statement of revenues and direct operating expenses of the Alamo Assets for the year ended December 31, 2021 (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form 8-K).

# HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED BALANCE SHEET AS OF MARCH 31, 2022 (\$ in thousands)

	I	<b>IighPea</b> k	A	June cquisition		Forma istments	E	lighPeak nergy Pro Forma Combined
ASSETS								
Current Assets:								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	35,850	\$	_	\$	1,487 <b>(a)</b>	\$	37,337
Accounts receivable		46,167		_				46,167
Prepaid expenses		15,080		_				15,080
Inventory		3,986		_				3,986
Deposits		50		<u> </u>				50
Total current assets		101,133		_		1,487		102,620
Crude oil and natural gas properties, using the successful efforts								
method of accounting:								
Proved properties		999,110		11,202		(1,487) <b>(a)</b>		1,008,825
Unproved properties		137,765		_				137,765
Accumulated depletion, depreciation and amortization		(99,442)						(99,442)
Total crude oil and natural gas properties, net		1,037,433		11,202		(1,487)		1,047,148
Other property and equipment, net		1,637		_				1,637
Other noncurrent assets		4,515						4,515
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	1,144,718	\$	11,202	\$	<u> </u>	\$	1,155,920
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY					<u> </u>			
Current liabilities:								
Accounts payable - trade	\$	59,062	\$	_			\$	59,062
Accrued liabilities		58,083		_				58,083
Derivatives		51,758		_				51,758
Advances from joint interest owners		4,067		_				4,067
Other current liabilities		6,676		_				6,676
Total current liabilities		179,646		_				179,646
Noncurrent liabilities:								
Long-term debt, net		203,197		_				203,197
Deferred income taxes		55,490		_				55,490
Derivatives		5,342		_				5,342
Asset retirement obligations		5,082		30				5,112
Other		2,080		_				2,080
Stockholders' equity:								
Common stock		10		1				11
Additional-paid-in capital		777,501		11,171				788,672
Accumulated deficit		(83,630)						(83,630)
Total equity		693,881		11,172		_		705,053
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY	\$	1,144,718	\$	11,202	\$		\$	1,155,920
	3							

# HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2022 (\$ in thousands)

	Hi	ghPeak		Alamo quisitions	Reclass ljustments (b)	Pro Forma Adjustments		l	nPeak Pro Forma ombined
OPERATING REVENUES:									
Crude oil sales	\$	86,938	\$	_	\$ 7,616			\$	94,554
NGL and natural gas sales		5,291		_	211				5,502
Crude oil, NGL and natural gas revenues				7,827	 (7,827)				
Total operating revenues		92,229		7,827		_			100,056
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES:									
Crude oil and natural gas production		9,446		_	740				10,186
Production and ad valorem taxes		5,006		_	362				5,368
Direct operating expenses		_		1,102	(1,102)				_
Exploration and abandonments		209		_					209
Depletion, depreciation and amortization		17,024		_		2,094	(c)		19,118
Accretion of discount		54		_		8	(d)		62
General and administrative		1,940		_					1,940
Stock-based compensation		3,976		_					3,976
Total expenses		37,655		1,102		2,102			40,859
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS		54,574		6,725	_	(2,102)			59,197
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):									
Interest and other income		250		_					250
Interest expense		(5,252)		_					(5,252)
Derivative loss, net		(66,394)		_					(66,394)
Total other income (expense), net		(71,396)		_	_	_			(71,396)
NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES		(16,822)		6,725	 	(2,102)			(12,199)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)		(312)				971	(e)		659
NET INCOME (LOSS)		(16,510)		6,725		(3,073)	( )		(12,858)
LESS: NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO		( , ,		,		(, ,			
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST OWNERS		_		_		_			_
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO									
COMMON STOCKHOLDERS	\$	(16,510)	\$	6,725	\$ <u> </u>	\$ (3,073)		\$	(12,858)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES									
OUTSTANDING (IN THOUSANDS):									
Basic		95,841		372		6,419	(f)		102,632
Diluted		95,841		372		6,419	(f)		102,632
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE:									(g)
Basic net income (loss)	\$	(0.17)						\$	(0.13)
Diluted net income (loss)	\$	(0.17)						\$	(0.13)
· ,									
			4						

# HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 (\$ in thousands)

	H	(ighPeak	A	Alamo Acquisitions	Reclass ljustments (b)	o Forma justments		•	ghPeak Pro Forma Combined
OPERATING REVENUES:									
Crude oil sales	\$	210,453	\$	_	\$ 6,494			\$	216,947
NGL and natural gas sales		9,671		_	401				10,072
Crude oil, NGL and natural gas revenues				6,895	(6,895)	 			
Total operating revenues		220,124		6,895	 <u> </u>	 <u> </u>			227,019
OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES:									
Crude oil and natural gas production		25,053		_	1,920				26,973
Production and ad valorem taxes		10,746		_	600				11,346
Direct operating expenses		_		2,520	(2,520)				_
Exploration and abandonments		1,549		_					1,549
Depletion, depreciation and amortization		65,201		_		2,061	(c)		67,262
Accretion of discount		167		_		34	(d)		201
General and administrative		8,885		_					8,885
Stock-based compensation		6,676		_					6,676
Total expenses		118,277		2,520	_	2,095			122,892
INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS		101,847		4,375	 _	(2,095)			104,127
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):									
Interest and other income		1		_					1
Interest expense		(2,484)		_					(2,484)
Derivative loss, net		(26,734)		_					(26,734)
Other expense		(167)		_					(167)
Total other income (expense), net		(29,384)		_	 				(29,384)
NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES		72,463		4,375	 	(2,095)			74,743
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT)		16,904		_		479	(e)		17,383
NET INCOME (LOSS)		55,559		4,375	_	(2,574)	( )		57,360
LESS: NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO		,		,		( ) ,			,
NONCONTROLLING INTEREST OWNERS		_		_		_			_
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO									
COMMON STOCKHOLDERS	\$	55,559	\$	4,375	\$ <u> </u>	\$ (2,574)		\$	57,360
					 _				
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES									
OUTSTANDING (IN THOUSANDS):									
Basic		93,127		372		6,960	(f)		100,459
Diluted		94,772		372		6,960	<b>(f)</b>		102,104
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE:									(g)
Basic net income (loss)	\$	0.55						\$	0.57
Diluted net income (loss)	\$	0.54						\$	0.56
			5						

## HIGHPEAK ENERGY, INC. NOTES TO THE UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

### Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying pro forma condensed combined financial statements were prepared in accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X, as amended by SEC Final Rule Release No. 33-10786, Amendments to Financial Disclosures about Acquired and Disposed Businesses, and based on the historical consolidated and combined financial information of HighPeak and the Alamo Parties. The Alamo Acquisitions have been accounted for herein as asset acquisitions. The preliminary allocation of the total purchase prices in the Alamo Acquisitions are based upon management's estimates of and assumptions related to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Certain transaction accounting adjustments have been made in order to show the effects of the Alamo Acquisitions on the combined historical financial information of HighPeak and the Alamo Parties. The transaction accounting adjustments are preliminary and based on estimates of the purchase consideration and estimates of fair value and useful lives of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

The transaction accounting adjustments are described in the accompanying notes and are based on available information and certain assumptions that HighPeak believes are reasonable; however, actual results may differ from those reflected in these statements. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements do not purport to represent what HighPeak's financial position or results of operations would have been if the Alamo Acquisitions had occurred on the dates indicated above, nor are they indicative of HighPeak's future financial position or results of operations. Certain information normally included in financial statements and the accompanying notes has been condensed or omitted. These unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements should be read in conjunction with the historical financial statements and related notes of HighPeak and the Alamo Parties for the periods presented.

The pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 gives effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on March 31, 2022, excluding the effects of the February Purchase Agreement which closed on March 25, 2022, other than an estimate of post-closing adjustments thereto, the effects of which are already included in HighPeak Energy Inc.'s unaudited historical financial statements as of March 31, 2022 included in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2022. The pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021 give effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on January 1, 2021.

### Note 2. Accounting Policies and Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021 have been compiled in a manner consistent with the accounting policies adopted by HighPeak. Certain reclassifications and adjustments have been made to the historical financial information of Alamo presented herein to conform to HighPeak's historical presentation.

## **Note 3. Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation**

The preliminary allocation of the total purchase prices in the Transaction is based upon management's estimates of and assumptions related to the fair value of assets to be acquired and liabilities to be assumed as of March 31, 2022 using currently available information. Because the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared based on these preliminary estimates, the final purchase prices allocation and the resulting effect on financial position and results of operations may differ significantly from the pro-forma amounts included herein.

The preliminary purchase price allocation is subject to change due to several factors, including but not limited to changes in the estimated fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the closing date of the Alamo Acquisitions, which could result from changes in future oil and natural gas commodity prices, reserve estimates, interest rates, as well as other factors.

The consideration transferred, fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed by HighPeak are expected to be recorded as follows (in thousands, except share amounts and stock price):

	February Acquisition	Jui	ne Acquisition	A	Alamo Acquisitions
Consideration:					
Shares of HighPeak Common Stock issued	6,960,000		371,517		7,331,517
HighPeak Common Stock price as of closing	\$ 22.50	\$	30.07		
Common Stock consideration	 156,600		11,172		167,772
Cash consideration	(1,346)		_		(1,346)
Total consideration transferred	\$ 155,254	\$	11,172	\$	166,426
Fair value of assets acquired:					
Crude oil and natural gas properties	\$ 155,777		11,202		166,979
Amount attributable to assets acquired	\$ 155,777	\$	11,202	\$	166,979
Fair value of liabilities assumed:					
Noncurrent liabilities - asset retirement obligations	\$ 523		30		553
Amount attributable to liabilities assumed	\$ 523	\$	30	\$	553

Total consideration is based on the terms of the Alamo Acquisition Agreements, and the combined consideration paid by the Company at both closings consists of 7,331,517 shares of Common Stock with customary closing adjustments totaling \$1.3 million in cash paid to the Company, subject to the post-closing settlements described above.

The fair value measurements of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are based on inputs that are not observable in the market and therefore represent Level 3 inputs. The fair value of oil and gas properties and asset retirement obligations were measured using the discounted cash flow technique of valuation.

Significant inputs to the valuation of oil and gas properties include estimates of: (i) reserves, (ii) future operating and development costs, (iii) future commodity prices, (iv) future plugging and abandonment costs, (v) estimated future cash flows, and (vi) a market-based weighted average cost of capital rate. These inputs require significant judgments and estimates and are the most sensitive and subject to change.

## Note 4. Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Balance Sheet and Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

The following adjustments were made in the preparation of the unaudited pro forma condensed combined balance sheet as of March 31, 2022 and the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2022 and the year ended December 31, 2021:

- (a) Adjustment to reflect the estimated post-closing adjustments to the February Acquisition.
- (b) Adjustment to reflect the Alamo Parties' revenues and direct operating expenses consistent with HighPeak's classification and presentation.
- (c) Adjustment to reflect the additional depletion, depreciation and amortization expense associated with the Alamo Acquisitions if consummated as of January 1, 2021.
- (d) Adjustment to reflect the additional accretion of discount on asset retirement obligations associated with the Alamo Acquisitions if consummated as of January 1, 2021.

- (e) Adjustment to reflect the additional deferred tax expense that would have been recorded related to the Alamo Acquisitions if consummated as of January 1, 2021.
- (f) Adjustment to reflect the additional weighted average shares outstanding based on the 6,960,000 shares of Common Stock issued in the February Acquisition if consummated as of January 1, 2021.
- (g) Reflects the adjusted earnings (loss) per share if the Alamo Acquisitions were consummated as of January 1, 2021.

### Note 5. Supplemental Unaudited Combined Oil and Natural Gas Reserves and Standardized Measure Information

The following tables present estimated pro forma combined crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserves information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021. The amounts below were determined based on the amounts reported in HighPeak's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021 and Alamo's audited statement of revenues and direct operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021. An explanation of the underlying methodology applied, as required by SEC regulations, can be found within the respective reports. The estimated pro forma reserve information below gives effect to the Alamo Acquisitions as if they had been completed on January 1, 2021. The Alamo Parties' estimated crude oil and natural gas reserves. However, this is not considered material on an MBoe basis and the standardized measure is not effected. The reserves associated with the Alamo Acquisitions will be converted to a split stream basis going forward once combined with HighPeak's estimated crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserve information. The following estimated pro forma combined crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserves information is not necessarily indicative of the results that might have occurred had the Alamo Acquisitions been completed on December 31, 2021 and is not intended to be a projection of future results. Future results may vary significantly from the results presented.

The following table presents a summary of changes in quantities of net remaining proved reserves during the year ended December 31, 2021:

		Crude Oil (MBbl)				
	HighPeak	Alamo Acquisitions	Combined			
Proved Reserves at January 1, 2021	19,032	584	19,616			
Extensions and discoveries	36,867	6,357	43,224			
Purchase of minerals-in-place	973	_	973			
Sales of minerals-in-place	(238)	_	(238)			
Revisions of previous estimates	(1,807)	73	(1,734)			
Production	(3,002)	(162)	(3,164)			
Proved Reserves at December 31, 2021	51,825	6,852	58,677			
		NGL (MBbl)				
		Alamo				
	HighPeak	Acquisitions	Combined			
Proved Reserves at January 1, 2021	2,160	_	2,160			
Extensions and discoveries	4,845	_	4,845			
Purchase of minerals-in-place	631	_	631			
Sales of minerals-in-place	(44)	_	(44)			
Revisions of previous estimates	10	_	10			
Production	(224)		(224)			
Proved Reserves at December 31, 2021	7,378		7,378			
	N	Natural Gas (MMcf)				
		Alamo				
	HighPeak	Acquisitions	Combined			
Proved Reserves at January 1, 2021	7,939	841	8,780			
Extensions and discoveries	19,529	5,707	25,236			
Purchase of minerals-in-place	2,910	_	2,910			
Sales of minerals-in-place	(139)	_	(139)			
Revisions of previous estimates	842	6	848			
Production	(1,020)	(108)	(1,128)			
Proved Reserves at December 31, 2021	30,061	6,446	36,507			
		Total (MBoe)				
		Alamo				
	HighPeak	Acquisitions	Combined			
Proved Reserves at January 1, 2021	22,515	724	23,239			
Extensions and discoveries	44,967	7,308	52,275			
Purchase of minerals-in-place	2,089	_	2,089			
Sales of minerals-in-place	(305)	_	(305)			
Revisions of previous estimates	(1,657)	74	(1,583)			
Production	(3,396)	(180)	(3,576)			
Proved Reserves at December 31, 2021	64,213	7,926	72,139			

The following table sets forth information with respect to the historical and combined estimated crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserves as of December 31, 2021:

	As of December 31, 2021					
	Alamo					
	HighPeak	Acquisitions	Combined			
Estimated Proved Developed Reserves:						
Crude oil (MBbl)	22,610	2,679	25,289			
NGL (MBbl)	3,540	_	3,540			
Natural gas (MMcf)	14,611	2,691	17,302			
Total (MBoe)	28,585	3,127	31,712			
Estimated Proved Undeveloped Reserves:						
Crude oil (MBbl)	29,215	4,173	33,388			
NGL (MBbl)	3,838	_	3,838			
Natural gas (MMcf)	15,450	3,755	19,205			
Total (MBoe)	35,628	4,799	40,427			
Estimated Proved Reserves:						
Crude oil (MBbl)	51,825	6,852	58,677			
NGL (MBbl)	7,378	_	7,378			
Natural gas (MMcf)	30,061	6,446	36,507			
Total (MBoe)	64,213	7,926	72,139			

The pro forma standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserves as of December 31, 2021 is as follows (in thousands):

	As of December 31, 2021				
	 Alamo				_
	HighPeak		Acquisitions		Combined
Future cash inflows	\$ 3,668,535	\$	486,274	\$	4,154,809
Future production costs	(824,865)		(93,085)		(917,950)
Future development costs	(432,370)		(56,882)		(489,252)
Future income tax expense	(431,737)		(2,553)		(434,290)
Future net cash flows	1,979,563		333,754		2,313,317
Discount to present value at 10% annual rate	(860,754)		(160,280)		(1,021,034)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows	\$ 1,118,809	\$	173,474	\$	1,292,283

The changes in the pro forma standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved crude oil, NGL and natural gas reserves for the year ended December 31, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31, 2021					
	Alamo					
		HighPeak		Acquisitions		Combined
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, beginning of year	\$	222,192	\$	8,488	\$	230,680
Sales of crude oil and natural gas, net of production costs		(184,325)		(4,375)		(188,700)
Extensions and discoveries, net of future development costs		987,689		161,757		1,149,446
Net changes in prices and production costs		272,889		6,163		279,052
Changes in estimated future development costs		(13,551)		(178)		(13,729)
Purchases of minerals-in-place		31,353		_		31,353
Sales of minerals-in-place		(3,067)		_		(3,067)
Revisions of previous quantity estimates		(40,466)		1,688		(38,778)
Accretion of discount		23,419		855		24,274
Net changes in income taxes		(212,574)		(1,336)		(213,910)
Net changes in timing of production and other		35,250		412		35,662
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, end of year	\$	1,118,809	\$	173,474	\$	1,292,283

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC,

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY II, LLC

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC AND

ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC

(COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS "ALAMO")

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

Year ended December 31, 2021

with Independent Auditors Report

# CERTAIN OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES OF ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC, ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC AND ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC (COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS "ALAMO")

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

Year Ended December 31, 2021

# **Table of Contents**

Independent Auditor's Report	1
Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses	3
Notes to the Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses	4

To the Members and Board of Directors

of Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC,

Alamo Borden County III, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC

#### **Opinion**

We have audited the Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses associated with certain oil and gas properties (the Properties) to be acquired by HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC from Alamo Borden County 1, II, III and IV, LLC (Alamo) for the year ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the revenues and direct operating expenses described in Note 1 of the Properties for the year ended December 31, 2021, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

### Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of Alamo and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

## Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which describes that the accompanying financial statements were prepared for the purpose of complying with the rules and regulations under Rule 3-05 of the Securities and Exchange Commission Regulation S-X (for inclusion in the filing of Form 8K of HighPeak Energy Inc.) and are not intended to be a complete presentation of Alamo's revenues and expenses. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

# Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Alamo's ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial statements are issued (or when applicable, one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued).

### Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:

- Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Alamo's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.
- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.
- Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about Alamo's ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit.

/s/ WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Midland, Texas June 21, 2022

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(in thousands)

		Year Ended December 31, 2021	
	1		
Revenues	\$	6,895	
Direct operating expenses		2,520	
Excess of revenues over direct operating expenses	\$	4,375	

See accompanying notes to the Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

On February 15, 2022, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, Alamo Borden County III, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC (the "Seller") and HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC (the "Buyer") entered in a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "PSA"), pursuant to which the Buyer purchased certain oil and gas leasehold and other real and personal property interests in Borden County, Texas and assumed certain liabilities from Seller (the interests as burdened by any assumed liabilities, the "Properties"), in exchange for 6,960,000 common shares of HighPeak Energy, Inc. at an initial price per share of \$15.00. This transaction subsequently closed on March 25, 2022, at a price per share of \$22.50, or \$156,600,000, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The transaction had an effective date of January 1, 2022.

Subsequently, on June 3, 2022, Alamo Borden County 1, LLC and Buyer entered into a separate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "PSA2"), pursuant to which the Buyer will purchase certain oil and gas leasehold and other real and personal property interests in Borden County, Texas and assumed certain liabilities from (the interests as burdened by any assumed liabilities, the "Properties 2"), in exchange for common shares of HighPeak Energy, Inc. at an initial aggregate value of \$11,600,000, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The price per share will be determined based on the 15-day volume-weighted average price (VWAP) of HighPeak Energy's stock prior to closing less a 10% discount. The transaction has an effective date of January 1, 2022.

The Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses have been derived from the historical financial records of the Properties and Properties 2 (collectively "the Properties") held in Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC (collectively, "Alamo"), which represents the interests of Alamo as defined in the PSA's for the respective transactions, in revenues and direct operating expenses associated with the Properties, and were not accounted for as a separate subsidiary or division during the period presented. Accordingly, a complete financial statement prepared under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP") is not available or practicable to obtain for the Properties. The Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses are not intended to be a complete presentation of the results of operations of the Properties and will not be representative of future operations as it does not include depreciation, depletion and amortization, accretion of discount related to asset retirement obligations, general and administrative expenses, interest expense and income taxes and other income and expense items not directly associated with the revenues and direct operating expenses related to the Properties. Furthermore, no balance sheet has been presented for the Properties because they were not accounted for as a separate subsidiary or division of Alamo, and complete financial statements are not available, nor has information about the Properties operating, investing and financing cash flows been provided for similar reasons. The Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses of the Properties is presented in lieu of the full financial statements required under Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

# 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of Alamo's significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements follows.

## Revenue Recognition

Alamo recognizes revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

#### Crude Oil Sales

Sales under the Alamo's crude oil contract are generally considered performed when Alamo sells crude oil production at the wellhead and receives an agreed-upon index price, net of any price differentials. Alamo recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the wellhead based on the net price received.

### Natural Gas

Sales under Alamo's natural gas contracts are generally considered performed when Alamo sells natural gas production at the wellhead and receives an agreed-upon index price, net of any price differentials. Alamo recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the wellhead based on the net price received.

### Performance obligations and contract balances

Alamo's commodity sale commitments are long-term in nature. The crude oil sales agreement has a primary term through November 23, 2028. The natural gas sales agreement has a primary term through December 31, 2028. Alamo typically satisfies its performance obligations upon transfer of control as described above and records the related revenue in the month production is delivered to the purchaser. Settlement statements for sales of crude oil and natural gas may not be received for 30 to 60 days after the date the volumes are delivered, and as a result, Alamo may be required to estimate the amount of volumes delivered to the purchaser and the price that will be received for the sale of the product.

Alamo records the differences between estimates and the actual amounts received for product sales in the month that payment is received from the purchaser. Historically, differences between Alamo's revenue estimates and actual revenue received have not been significant.

### **Direct Operating Expenses**

Direct operating expenses are recognized when incurred and consist of lease operating expenses of the Properties. The lease operating expenses include production and ad valorem taxes, lifting costs, well repair expenses, facility maintenance expenses, well workover costs, and other field related expenses. Lease operating expenses also include overhead charged by the operator of the property for non-operated properties and expenses directly associated with support personnel, support services, equipment, and facilities directly related to oil and gas production activities.

## Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and direct operating expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

# **Contingencies**

The activities of the Properties may become subject to potential claims and litigation in the normal course of operations. Alamo Borden County 1, LLC recently resolved claims against its assets via bankruptcy. There are two remaining claims that are currently being litigated.

## 3. Major Customers

During the year ended December 31, 2021, two purchasers accounted for 100% of total revenues attributable to the Properties. Management does not believe that the loss of these customers would have a material adverse effect as alternative customers are readily available.

# NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

# 4. Subsequent Events

Alamo has evaluated subsequent events through June 21, 2022, the date the Statement of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses was available to be issued.

# 5. Supplemental Crude Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudited)

# Results of Operations for Crude Oil and Natural Gas Producing Activities

The following table reflects Alamo's results of operations for crude oil and natural gas producing activities as they relate to revenues and direct operating expenses (in thousands):

		Year Ended December 31, 2021
Crude oil and natural gas sales	\$	6,895
Direct operating expenses		2,520
Results of operations from crude oil and natural gas production activities	\$	4,375

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

# 5. Supplemental Crude Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) - continued

#### Crude Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Proved reserves were estimated in accordance with guidelines established by the SEC, which require that reserve estimates be prepared under existing economic and operating conditions based upon the 12-month unweighted average of the first day of the month spot prices prior to the end of the reporting period. These prices as of December 31, 2021 were \$68.80 per barrel for crude oil and \$3.708 per MMBtu for natural gas. The estimated realized prices used in computing Alamo's reserves as of December 31, 2021 were as follows: (i) \$68.25 per barrel of crude oil and (ii) \$2.890 per Mcf of natural gas. All prices are net of adjustments for regional basis differentials, treating costs, transportation, gas shrinkage, gas heating vale (BTU content) and/or crude quality and gravity adjustments.

The proved reserve estimates as of December 31, 2021 were prepared by Alamo internal reserve engineers. All estimates of proved reserves are determined according to the rules prescribed by the SEC in existence at the time the estimates were made. These rules require that the standard of "reasonable certainty" be applied to proved reserve estimates, which is defined as having a high degree of confidence that the quantities will be recovered. A high degree of confidence exists if the quantity is much more likely to be achieved than not, and, as more technical and economic data becomes available, a positive or upward revision or no revision is much more likely than a negative or downward revision. Estimates are subject to revision based upon a number of factors, including many factors beyond Alamo's control, such as reservoir performance, prices, economic conditions, and government restrictions. In addition, results of drilling, testing, and production subsequent to the date of an estimate may justify revision of that estimate.

Reserve estimates are often different from the quantities of crude oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered. Estimating quantities of proved crude oil and natural gas reserves is a complex process that involves significant interpretations and assumptions and cannot be measured in an exact manner. It requires interpretations and judgment of available technical data, including the evaluation of available geological, geophysical and engineering data. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is highly dependent on the quality of available data, the accuracy of the assumptions on which they are based upon, economic factors, such as crude oil and natural gas prices, production costs, severance and excise taxes, capital expenditures, workover and remedial costs, and the assumed effects of governmental regulation. In addition, due to the lack of substantial, if any, production data, there are greater uncertainties in estimating proved undeveloped reserves, proved developed non-producing reserves and proved developed reserves that are early in their production life. As a result, Alamo's reserve estimates are inherently imprecise.

The meaningfulness of reserve estimates is highly dependent on the accuracy of the assumptions on which they were based. In general, the volume of production from crude oil and natural gas properties declines as reserves are depleted. Except to the extent successful exploration and development activities are conducted, the proved reserves will decline as reserves are produced.

The following table reflects changes in proved reserves during the periods indicated:

	Crude Oil (MBbl)	Natural Gas (MMcf)	Total (MBoe)
Proved Reserves at January 1, 2021	584	841	724
Extensions and discoveries	6,357	5,707	7,308
Revisions of previous estimates	73	6	74
Production	(162)	(108)	(180)
Proved Reserves at December 31, 2021	6,852	6,446	7,926

# NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

# 5. Supplemental Crude Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) - continued

At December 31, 2021, the Alamo Assets had approximately 7,926 MBoe of proved reserves. For the year ended December 31, 2021, extensions and discoveries increased proved reserves by 7,308 MBoe as a result of: (i) drilling 3 gross (2.2 net) exploratory wells that were on production as of December 31, 2021, (ii) 2 gross (1.9 net) exploratory wells that were in the final stages of completion as of December 31, 2021, and (iii) the addition of 10 gross (8.1 net) of proved undeveloped locations. The aforementioned net increase in proved reserves was partially offset by 180 MBoe in production during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The following table sets forth Alamo's estimated quantities of proved developed and proved undeveloped crude oil and natural gas reserves:

	December 31, 2021
Proved Developed Reserves (1)	
Crude oil (MBbl)	2,679
Natural gas (MMcf)	2,691
Total (MBoe)	3,127
Proved Undeveloped Reserves	
Crude oil (MBbl)	4,173
Natural gas (MMcf)	3,755
Total (MBoe)	4,799
Total Proved Reserves	
Crude oil (MBbl)	6,852
Natural gas (MMcf)	6,446
Total (MBoe)	7,926

<sup>(1)</sup> As of December 31, 2021, proved developed reserves includes proved developed non-producing reserves of 988 MBbl of crude oil and 889 MMcf of natural gas.

# NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

# 5. Supplemental Crude Oil and Natural Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) - continued

# Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows

The following table reflects Alamo's standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating from its proved crude oil and natural gas reserves (in thousands):

	December 31, 2021
Future cash inflows	\$ 486,274
Future production costs	(93,085)
Future development costs	(56,882)
Future income tax expense (1)	(2,553)
Future net cash flows	333,754
Discount to present value at 10% annual rate	(160,280)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows	\$ 173,474

(1) Alamo has elected to be treated as a partnership for tax purposes. Accordingly, federal taxable income and losses are reported on the income tax returns of the Partnership's partners. Alamo is subject to Texas Margin Tax, which is reflected as "Future income tax expense".

The following table reflects the principal changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable to Alamo's proved reserves (in thousands):

	Year Ended December 31, 2021		
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, beginning of year	\$	8,488	
Sales of crude oil and natural gas, net of production costs		(4,375)	
Extensions and discoveries, net of future development costs		161,757	
Net changes in prices and production costs		6,163	
Changes in estimated future development costs		(178)	
Revisions of previous quantity estimates		1,688	
Accretion of discount		855	
Net changes in income taxes		(1,336)	
Net changes in timing of production and other		412	
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, end of year	\$	173,474	

CERTAIN OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES OF
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC,
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY II, LLC
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC AND
ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC

# STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS "ALAMO")

Quarters Ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021

With Independent Accountant's Review Report

# CERTAIN OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES OF ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY 1, LLC, ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY III, LLC AND ALAMO BORDEN COUNTY IV, LLC (COLLECTIVELY REFERRED TO AS "ALAMO")

# STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

Quarters Ended March 31, 2022 and March 31, 2021

# **Table of Contents**

Independent Accountant's Review Report	1
Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses	2
Notes to the Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses	3

### Independent Accountant's Review Report

To the Members and Board of Directors of

Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC

Alamo Borden County III, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC

We have reviewed the accompanying statements of revenues and direct operating expenses associated with certain oil and gas properties to be acquired by HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC from Alamo (the Properties) for the quarters ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements. A review includes primarily applying analytical procedures to management's financial data and making inquiries of company management. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the financial statements as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.

# Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements that is free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

# Accountant's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to conduct the review engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA. Those standards require us to perform procedures to obtain limited assurance as a basis for reporting whether we are aware of any material modifications that should be made to the financial statements for it to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We believe that the results of our procedures provide a reasonable basis for our conclusion.

We are required to be independent of Alamo and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements related to our review.

#### Accountant's Conclusion

Based on our review, we are not aware of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying statements of revenues and direct operating expenses in order for it to be in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ WEAVER AND TIDWELL, L.L.P.

Midland, Texas June 21, 2022

# STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(in thousands)

		Quarters Ended			
	March 31, 2021 March 31		31, 2022		
Revenues	\$	1,282	\$	7,827	
Direct operating expenses		419		1,102	
Excess of revenues over direct operating expenses	\$	863	\$	6,725	

See accompanying notes to the Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

#### 1. Basis of Presentation

On February 15, 2022, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, Alamo Borden County III, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC (the "Seller") and HighPeak Energy Assets, LLC (the "Buyer") entered in a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "PSA"), pursuant to which the Buyer purchased certain oil and gas leasehold and other real and personal property interests in Borden County, Texas and assumed certain liabilities from Seller (the interests as burdened by any assumed liabilities, the "Properties"), in exchange for 6,960,000 common shares of HighPeak Energy, Inc. at an initial price per share of \$15.00. This transaction subsequently closed on March 25, 2022, at a price per share of \$22.50, or \$156,600,000, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The transaction had an effective date of January 1, 2022.

Subsequently, on June 3, 2022, Alamo Borden County 1, LLC and Buyer entered into a separate Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "PSA2"), pursuant to which the Buyer will purchase certain oil and gas leasehold and other real and personal property interests in Borden County, Texas and assumed certain liabilities from (the interests as burdened by any assumed liabilities, the "Properties 2"), in exchange for common shares of HighPeak Energy, Inc. at an initial aggregate value of \$11,600,000, subject to adjustment as set forth therein. The price per share will be determined based on the 15-day volume-weighted average price (VWAP) of HighPeak Energy's stock prior to closing less a 10% discount. The transaction has an effective date of January 1, 2022.

The Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses have been derived from the historical financial records of the Properties and Properties 2 (collectively "the Properties") held in Alamo Borden County 1, LLC, Alamo Borden County II, LLC, and Alamo Borden County IV, LLC (collectively, "Alamo"), which represents the interests of Alamo as defined in the PSA's for the respective transactions, in revenues and direct operating expenses associated with the Properties, and were not accounted for as a separate subsidiary or division during the period presented. Accordingly, a complete financial statement prepared under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles ("GAAP") is not available or practicable to obtain for the Properties. The Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses are not intended to be a complete presentation of the results of operations of the Properties and will not be representative of future operations as it does not include depreciation, depletion and amortization, accretion of discount related to asset retirement obligations, general and administrative expenses, interest expense and income taxes and other income and expense items not directly associated with the revenues and direct operating expenses related to the Properties. Furthermore, no balance sheet has been presented for the Properties because they were not accounted for as a separate subsidiary or division of Alamo, and complete financial statements are not available, nor has information about the Properties operating, investing and financing cash flows been provided for similar reasons. The Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses of the Properties is presented in lieu of the full financial statements required under Rule 3-05 of Regulation S-X of the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC").

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of Alamo's significant accounting policies consistently applied in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements follows.

#### Revenue Recognition

Alamo recognizes revenue when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

#### Crude Oil Sales

Sales under the Alamo's crude oil contract are generally considered performed when Alamo sells crude oil production at the wellhead and receives an agreed-upon index price, net of any price differentials. Alamo recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the wellhead based on the net price received.

Natural Gas and Natural Gas Liquids (NGL's)

Sales under Alamo's natural gas contracts are generally considered performed when Alamo sells natural gas production at the wellhead and receives an agreed-upon index price, net of any price differentials. Alamo recognizes revenue when control transfers to the purchaser at the wellhead based on the net price received.

Performance obligations and contract balances

Alamo's commodity sale commitments are long-term in nature. The crude oil sales agreement has a primary term through November 23, 2028. The natural gas sales agreement has a primary term through December 31, 2028. Alamo typically satisfies its performance obligations upon transfer of control as described above and records the related revenue in the month production is delivered to the purchaser. Settlement statements for sales of crude oil, natural gas, and NGL's may not be received for 30 to 60 days after the date the volumes are delivered, and as a result, Alamo may be required to estimate the amount of volumes delivered to the purchaser and the price that will be received for the sale of the product.

Alamo records the differences between estimates and the actual amounts received for product sales in the month that payment is received from the purchaser. Historically, differences between Alamo's revenue estimates and actual revenue received have not been significant.

# **Direct Operating Expenses**

Direct operating expenses are recognized when incurred and consist of lease operating expenses of the Properties. The lease operating expenses include production and ad valorem taxes, lifting costs, well repair expenses, facility maintenance expenses, well workover costs, and other field related expenses. Lease operating expenses also include overhead charged by the operator of the property for non-operated properties and expenses directly associated with support personnel, support services, equipment, and facilities directly related to oil and gas production activities.

### NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF REVENUES AND DIRECT OPERATING EXPENSES

(continued)

# 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued

# Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues and direct operating expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

# Contingencies

The activities of the Properties may become subject to potential claims and litigation in the normal course of operations. Alamo Borden County 1 recently resolved claims against its assets via bankruptcy. There are two remaining claims that are currently being litigated.

# 3. Major Customers

During the quarters ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, two purchasers accounted for 100% of total revenues attributable to the Properties. Management does not believe that the loss of these customers would have a material adverse effect as alternative customers are readily available.

# 4. Subsequent Events

Alamo has evaluated subsequent events through June 21, 2022, the date the Statements of Revenues and Direct Operating Expenses was available to be issued.